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Invisaii lign,gg Align,gg the InvII isalign lgg ogo, ClinCheck, Ikk nvII isalign Agg ssistii , It nvII isalign Tgg eenTT , InvII isalign Fgg irFF strr , It nvII isalign Ggg o, the
Invisaii lign sgg onic logo, Vivera, SmaSS rtFott rce, SmartTraTT ck, SmartStaS ge, SmiSS leView, iw Tero, iTero Element, iTerTT o Lumina, exocad,
Align Dgg igital Platforff m, Smile Architect, it Tero exocad ConneCC ctor and exocad Dental CADCC , among othett rs, are trat demarks akk nd/
or service marksrr of Align Tgg ecTT hnology, Iyy ncII . or one of its subsidiaries or affiliaff ted companim es and may ba e registered in thett
United StaSS tes and/or// othett r countrit es.
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In addition to historical inforff mation, this annual repore t on ForFF m 10-K contains forward-looking statements wtt ithitt n thett
meaning of Section 27A of the SecSS urities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the SecuSS rities ExchEE ange Act of 1o 934. These statementstt
include, among othett r thitt ngs,gg our expectations and intentions regare ding our stratt tegie c objectives and the means to achieve them,
our beliefse and expectations regare ding macroeconomic conditions, including inflan tion, fluctuations in currency ec xchee ange rates,
risiii ng interest rates, marketkk volatility, wyy eakness in general economic conditions and recessions and the impact of eo ffe orff ts by
central banks akk nd federal, state and local governments to combat inflan tion and recession, our expectations and beliefse
regae rding customer and consumer purchasing behavior and changes in consumer spending habits, our expectations regare ding
product mix and product adoption, our expectations regare ding competition and our ability to compete in our target marketkk s,tt
our expectations regare ding the sales growth of our intraoral scanners, clear alignegg rs and othett r products, our expex ctations
regare ding the impact of to hett military conflicff ts in the MidMM dldd e East and Ukrakk ine and our operations and assets in Israel and
Russia, our marketkk ing and effoff rts ttt o build our brand awareness, our estimates regare ding the size and opportunities of to hett
marketkk s wtt e are targeting along with our expectations for grog wth itt n thostt e marketrr s,tt our beliefse regare ding the impact ofo
technological innovation in general, al nd in our solutions and products in particular, or n targer t marketrr s att nd patient care, our
beliefse regare ding digii tal dendd tistry ar nd its potential to impact our business, our intentions regare ding expanding our business,
including its impacm t on our operational flexiee bility att nd responsiveness to customer demdd and, our beliefse regare ding the
imporm tance of oo ur manufacff turing operations on our success, our beliefse regare ding the need for and benefie ts of our
technological devdd elopment on InvII isalign tgg rett atmett nt, tt hett areas of do eveldd opment in which we focus our effoff rts,tt and the advantages
of our intellectual property ptt ortfolio, our beliefse regare ding our business strategy agg nd growth drivers,rr our expex ctations
regare ding the utilizaii tion rates forff our products, including the impact of mo arketrr ing on thostt e rates and causes for periodic
fluctuations of the rates, our expex ctations regare ding the exiee stii ence and impacm t of so easonality, oyy ur expectations regare ding the
productivity impacm t sales repre esentatives will have on our sales and the impact of so pes cialization of to hostt e representatives in
sales channels, our expex ctations regare ding the continued expee ansion of oo ur international marketkk s att nd their grog wth,tt our
expex ctations regare ding staying in complm iance with laws and regule atl ions currently applicable to, or which may become
applpp icable to, our business both itt n thett United StaS tes and internationally, oyy ur beliefse regare ding our culture and commitment and
its impacm t on our financial and operational perforff mance and its imporm tance to our future success, our expex ctations for futff ure
investments in and benefie ts from sales and marketkk ing activities, our preparednedd ss and our customers’rr preparednedd ss to react to
changing circumstances and demand, our expectations for our expenses and capia tal obligations and expenditures in particular,r
our intentions to controt l spes nding and for investments, our intentions regare ding the investment of oo ur international earnings
from operations, our belief re egarding the sufficff iency oc f oo ur cash and investment balances and borrowing capaca ity,tt our
judgments regare ding the estimates used in our revenue recognition and assessment of go oodwill and intangible assets, our
expectations regare ding our tax paa ositions and the judgements wtt e make rkk elated to our tax oaa bligations, our predicted level of
operating expee enses and gross margir ns and othett r facff tors beyoe nd our controt l, as well as othett r statements rtt egarding our future
operations, finff ancial condition and prospes cts att nd business strategies. These statements mtt ay contain words such as “expee ects,”
“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” or othett r words indicating futff ure results. TheTT se forward-looking
statements are subjeb ct to certain riskii s akk nd uncertainties thattt could cll ause actual results to diffei r materially from those refleff cted
in the forff ward-ldd ooking statements. FacFF tors that could cl ause or contritt bute to such differences include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in Part II,II Item 7 “Ma“ nagement’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of Operations,”
and in particular, tr hett riskii s dkk iscussed below in Part I, III teII m 1A “Ri“ skii Factors.rr ” We uWW ndertake nkk o obligation to reviseii or update
these forff ward-ldd ooking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to placl e undue reliance on
such forward-looking statements.tt

PART I

Business.

Our ComCC panm yn

Align Technology, Inc. (“We”, “Our”, “Align”) is a global medical device company primarily engaged in the design,
manufactff urt e and marketing of Invisalign® clear aligners for the treatment of malocclusions, or the misalignment of teeth, by
orthodontists and general dental practitioners (“GPs”), ViveraTM retainers forff retention, iTeroTM intraoral scanners and services
for dentistry,rr and exocadTM computer-aided design and computer-aided manufactff urt ing (“CAD/CAM”) softwff are forff dental
labora atories and dental practitioners. Our vision and strategy is to revolutionize orthodontic and restorative dentistry trr hrough
digital treatment planning and implementation using our Align Digital Platforff mTM, an integrated suite of proprietary
technologies and services designed to deliver a seamless, end-to-end solution forff patients, consumers, orthodontists, GPs and
lab pa artners. We strive to achieve our vision and strategy through key objectives made possible with the proprietaryrr
technologies and services of the Align Digital Platforff m to establish: clear aligners as the principal solution forff the treatment of
malocclusions with the Invisalign system as the treatment solution of choice by orthodontists, GPs and patients globally, our
intraoral scanners as the preferred scanning technology for digital dental scans and our exocad CAD/CAM softwff are as the
dental restorative solution of choice forff dental labsa .

Align’s corporr ate headquarters are located at 410 North Scottsdale Road, Suite 1300, Tempe, Arizona 85288. Our
telephone number is 602-742-2000. Our internet address is www.aligntech.com. Our Americas regional headquarters is located
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in Raleigh, North Carolina, U.S.A.; our European, Middle East and Afriff ca (“EMEA”) regional headquarters is located in
Rotkreuz, Switzerland; and our Asia Pacific (“APAC”) regional headquarters is located in Singapora e.

We have two operating segments: (1) Clear Aligner and (2) Imaging Systems and CAD/CAM Services (“Systems and
Services”). For the year ended December 31, 2023, Clear Aligner net revenues represented approximately 83% of worldwide
net revenues, while Systems and Services net revenues represented the remaining 17%. We sell the majoa rity of our products
directly through a dedicated and specialized sales forff ce to our customers: orthodontists, GPs, including prosthodontists,
periodontists, oral surgeons and dental labora atories. We also sell through sales agents and distributors in certain countries. In
addition, we sell directly to Dental Supporu t Organizations (“DSOs”) who contract with dental practices to provide critical
business management and supporu t including non-clinical operations. We also sell our products to dental labora atories who use
our products to manufacff ture or customize their own products for licensed dentists. We also market and sell doctor and
consumer accessory products complementary trr o our doctor-prescribed principal producd ts under the Invisalign® and other
brands, including retainers, dental supplu ies, clear aligner cases (clamshells), teeth whitening products and cleaning solutions
(collectively “Invisalign Accessory Products”). Depending on the product, our Invisalign Accessory Products are sold through a
variety of channels, including online through large e-commerce websites, our doctor portal and in-store through large retailers
and pharmacy stores.

Our clear aligners are sold under the Invisalign® brand name. Our Invisalign system is intended mainly forff the treatment
of malocclusions and is designed to help dental professionals achieve the clinical outcomes they expect and the results patients
desire. To date, approximately 17 million people worldwide have been treated with the Invisalign system. In order to provide
Invisalign treatment to their patients, orthodontists and GPs must initially complete an Invisalign training course. Our iTero
intraoral scanner is used by dental professionals and/or labsa and service providers for restorative and orthodontic digital
procedurd es as well as Invisalign case submissions. Our exocad CAD/CAM softwff are products provide restorative dentistry,
implantology, guided surgery, and smile design to dental labsa and dental practices through fully integrated workflows, with the
goal to provide cross-disciplinary dentistry irr n labs and at chairside.

Our Products, Services and Technologies

Aligll n Dgg igital PlaPP tforff mrr TM

We strive to be at the forff efroff nt of innovation in digital orthodontics and dentistry,rr helping doctors transforff m their practices
using digital tools and technology to deliver great treatment experiences and outcomes to people worldwide. The Align Digital
Platform is the foundaff tion of our goal to revolutionize the practice of dentistry,rr delivering interconnected, interdisciplinary
workflows and treatment solutions designed to improve all aspects of treatment, froff m initial consultations to final smiles with
our doctor-centered treatment model. The Align Digital Platform is an end-to-end digital platforff m that combines softwff are,
systems and services to seamlessly integrate and connect those critical to successfulff treatment outcomes – doctors, labs,
patients, and consumers. At the center of the Align Digital Platform are Invisalign clear aligners, iTero intraoral scanners, and
exocad CAD/CAM softwff are.

The Align Digital Platforff m utilizes the AlignTM Digital Workfloff w to enabla e an end-to-end treatment experience that
includes the following key components:
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• Connect: The initial stage of the platforff m drives consumer demand and connects potential patients to our websites and
the websites of Invisalign providers. Some of the tools that support this stage are Invisalign.com, the Invisalign
SmileViewTM tool, My Invisalign app, Doctor Locator, Invisalign® Practice App, Invisalign® Doctor Estimate and
Invisalign® Virtuat l Appointment.

• Scan: During this stage, patient data is capta urt ed through intraoral scanning. Doctors and their staffs use intraoral
scanning tools designed to support diagnosis of a patient’s oral conditions and health and support doctors to develop
appropriate treatment pathways. Visualization of their potential smiles helps patients understand the benefitsff of
treatment and increase patient conversion. The tools that support this stage, include, iTero scanners and imaging
systems, Invisalign Outcome Simulator Pro, Invisalign® Photo Uploader, Invisalign SmileViewTM tool, iTero
ElementTM 5D auto upload feaff ture, iTeroTM Scan Report and iTero exocad ConnectorTM.

• Diagnose: Doctors can access and use tools that support diagnosis of a patient’s oral health and develop an appropriate
treatment pathway. The Align Digital Platforff m faciff litates the doctor-patient conversation, through educd ation regarding
clinical needs and setting expectations. Some of the tools that support this stage include AlignTM Oral Health Suite,
iTeroTM NIRI technology (Near Infraff -Red Imaging), iTeroTM TimeLapsa e technology and iTero Occlusogram.

• Plan: Doctors digitally visualize and plan orthodontic and restorative treatments. Orthodontists and GPs can use our
products to design, build and share their vision forff treatment planning and agree on a customized plan with their
patients to reach the desired outcomes. Orthodontists and GPs can use our products to design, build and share their
vision for treatment planning and agree on a customized plan with their patients to reach desired outcomes. Some of
the tools that support this stage are ClinCheck Pro® 6.0, ClinCheck® In-Face Visualization, ClinCheck® Live Update,
Invisalign® Practice App, Invisalign® Personalized Plan, CBCT integration forff ClinCheck® softwff are, Invisalign
Smile ArchitectTM and exocad Dental CADTM software.

• Treat: During this stage, doctors treat their patients with our Invisalign® clear aligners and may offeff r teeth whitening
using the InvisalignTM Profesff sional Whitening System.

• Monitor: Doctors can remotely track their patients’ treatment between visits, and orthodontists and GPs can more
easily track treatment progress and communicate issues, results and recommendations to their patients. Some of the
tools that support this stage include Invisalign® Virtuat l Care app,a My InvisalignTM app, Invisalign Doctor Site,
Invisalign® Practice App, Invisalign Progress Assessment and iTeroTM scanners.

• Retain: Following completion of their orthodontic treatment, patients can retain the finff al position of their teeth using
ViveraTM retainers.

As we further evolve the treatment planning experience for doctors through new technological research and development
innovations, we expect to introduce new technologies, featff urt es and funcff tionality that improve personalization of treatment
planning, predictabia lity, clinical preferff ences, and 2D/3D imaging, including digital tools forff faster and more accurate final tooth
positions. In 2023, we launched several new products and technologies that further enhance the Align Digital Platforff m,
including the enhanced precision wings for Invisalign treatment with mandibular advancement, the Invisalign® Palatal
Expander system, the SmartForce™ attachment-free clear aligner activation featff urt e, the Plan Editor in ClinCheck® treatment
planning software, the Align™ Oral Health Suite, iTero-exocad Connector™, exoplan 3.1 Rijei ka, ChairsideCAD 3.1 Rijei ka,
PartialCAD 3.1 Rijei ka, and Invisalign™ Lens.

Cleall r Aligni er Segme ent

Malocclusion and Traditional Orthodontic Treatment

Malocclusion is one of the most prevalent clinical dental conditions in the world, affecting appa roximately 60% to 75% of
the global population. We estimate that there are approximately 600 million people globally with malocclusion who could
benefit froff m straightening their teeth. However, most people afflicted by malocclusion do not seek orthodontic treatment forff
various reasons, including negative perceptions of metal braces, affoff rdability of treatment, and accessibility to doctors.
Annually, only appra oximately 22 million people globally elect treatment by orthodontists. Today, most orthodontic patients
continue to have their malocclusions treated with the use of traditional corrective methods such as metal arch wires and
brackets, referff red to as braces, augmented with elastics, metal expanders, headgear or functional appla iances, and other ancillary

6



devices as needed. Upon completion of a patient’s treatment, their dental profesff sional may recommend the patient use a retainer
appliance to preserve the benefits of their treatment. Of the 22 million cases started each year, we estimate that almost all can be
treated using our Invisalign system, yet our share of the 22 million case starts through orthodontists is approximately 10%
globally. This represents a significant growth opportunity for us to increase our share of the existing market of orthodontic case
starts, especially among teens, and expand the market forff digital orthodontics, especially among aduld ts. By training more
doctors, including GPs as well as orthodontists, increasing utilization of existing doctors using our products, educating more
consumers abouta the benefitff s of straighter teeth using the Invisalign system and connecting consumers with an Invisalign-
trained doctor of their choice, we are helping drive adoption of digital orthodontics and restorative dentistry grr lobally.

The InvII isalign Sgg ysSS tem

The Invisalign system is a proprietary method for treating malocclusion based on a proprietary computer-simulated virtual
treatment plan and a series of doctor-prescribed, custom manufactff urt ed, clear polymer removabla e aligners. We received 510(k)
clearance from the United States (“U.S.”) Food and Drugr Administration (“FDA”) to market the Invisalign system in 1998. The
Invisalign system offers a range of treatment options, specialized services, and access to proprietary software for treatment
visualization and is comprised of the following phases:

Diagnosis and trat nsmissiii on of treatment datdd a. As part of the Align™ Digital Workfloff w, Align has developed solutions to
enable doctor diagnosis and drive patient conversion – providing tools to support diagnosis of a patients’ oral health and
supporu t to identify aff n appra opriate treatment pathway, facilitating the doctor-patient conversation, educd ation and clinical needs
and expectations. An Invisalign trained dental professional prepares an online prescription forff m on our Invisalign Doctor Site
and securely submu its the patient's records, which include a digital intraoral scan or a polyvinyl-siloxane (“PVS”) impression of
the relevant dental arches, photographs of the patient and, at the dental professional’s election, x-rays of the patient’s dentition.
Intraoral digital scans may be submu itted through Align’s iTero scanner or certain third-party scanners capable of accurately
interfacing with our systems and processes. Globally, more than 91% of Invisalign system prescription orders are now
submu itted via digital scan, increasing the accuracy of treatment plans, reducing the time from when the doctor submits the
prescription to the time the patient receives the clear aligners, and helping to decrease the carbonr footprt int resulting froff m
elimination of the initial or upfu roff nt shipment of the patient’s PVS impressions to the doctors and shipping those PVS
impressions back to us.

Computer-simulated treatment plan. Our ClinCheck® treatment planning software is the cornerstone of the Align Digital
Platform. ClinCheck Pro treatment planning software uses proprietary algorithms based on the insights froff m data fromff our
more than 17 million patients treated worldwide. Using the digital scans or PVS impressions, certain doctor preferences and
digital data provided, we generate a proposed custom, three-dimensional treatment plan, called a ClinCheck® treatment plan,
using proprietary software developed through significant, ongoing research and development investments spanning more than
two decades. A patient’s ClinCheck treatment plan simulates desired tooth movement in stages and details the timing and
placement of any featurt es or attachments to be used durd ing treatment. Attachments are tooth-colored shapea s that are sometimes
used to increase the biomechanical force on a specificff tooth or teeth in order to affeff ct the desired movement(s).

Review and approval of the tret atmett nt plan by an Invisaii lign tgg ratt ined doctor. The patient’s ClinCheck treatment plan is then
made availabla e to the prescribing dental professional via Align’s Invisalign Doctor Site, enabla ing the dental profesff sional to
evaluate projected tooth movement from initial to finff al position and compare multiple treatment plan options. By reviewing,
modifying as needed and appra oving the treatment plan, the dental profesff sional retains control of the patient’s treatment.

Manufacff ture of custom clear alignei rs. Following the dental professional’s appra oval of a ClinCheck treatment plan, we use
the data underlying the simulation as input in which we use stereolithography technology (a form of 3D printing technology) to
construcr t a series of molds. Each mold is a replica of the patient’s teeth at each stage of the simulated course of treatment. From
these molds, clear aligners are fabff ricated by pressure-forming polymeric sheets over each mold. Clear aligners are thin, clear
polymer, removabla e dental appla iances that are custom manufactff urt ed in a series designed to correspond to each stage of the
patient's ClinCheck treatment plan.

Shipmi ent to thett dental profesff sional and patient clear aligni er wear. Once manufactff urt ed, all the clear aligners for a
patient's doctor-appra oved treatment plan are typically shipped directly to the dental professional. The majority of doctors then
dispense all of the clear aligners to the patient. Clear aligners are generally worn for one week or for a short period of time
corresponding to the stages of the patient’s approved ClinCheck treatment plan and their doctor’s discretion. The patient
replaces their current set of clear aligners with the next pair in the series when prescribed, advancing tooth movement through
each stage. At various points in each patient’s treatment, their doctor may place attachments or use other auxiliaries to achieve
desired tooth movements, per the doctor’s original prescription and the appra oved ClinCheck treatment plan. Additionally, forff
patients treated using many of our Invisalign system products, doctors have the option to order additional clear aligners for
refinements.
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Clear Alignegg r Products

We offeff r our Invisalign system in a variety of treatment packages designed to correspond with the case-by-case treatment
needs of our doctors and their patients and also designed on nonclinical needs. The table below provides a general description
of the categories of Invisalign system products offeff red in various regions as they typically correspond to the severity of
malocclusion and length of anticipated treatment.

* T* Thehe numnumbeber or of sf statageges cs canan vavaryry byby prproducoduct at andnd reregigionon.

Most of our Invisalign system products described abovea provide dental professionals with the option to order additional
clear aligners if the patient's treatment deviates from the original treatment plan. The number and timing of additional clear
aligner orders are subju ect to certain requirements noted in our terms and conditions.

Comprehensive Products - InvII isalign Tgg reTT atmett nt Options:p g p

Invisaii lign Cgg omCC prm ehensive Packages. The Invisalign Comprehensive Package is used to treat adults and teens over a wide
spectrum of mild to severe malocclusion and contains a broad variety of featff urt es to address the desired treatment goals. It also
addresses the frequently complex orthodontic needs of teenage or younger patients with advanced featurt es such as mandibular
advancement, compliance indicators and compensation forff tooth eruptu ion. These packages include Invisalign Comprehensive,
Invisalign FirstTM Phase 1 and Invisalign FirstTM Comprehensive Phase 2.

Invisaii lign Fgg irFF strr Phase 1 and Invisaii lign Fgg irFF strr Comprehensive Phase 2 Packages. Invisalign First Phase 1 Package is
designed specifically forff younger patients generally between the ages of six and ten years, who freff quently have a mixture of
primary/baby and permanent teeth. Invisalign First Phase 1 treatment provides early interceptive orthodontic treatment,
traditionally done through arch expansion, or partial metal braces, beforff e all permanent teeth have eruptu ed. Invisalign First
Phase 1 clear aligners are designed specifically to address a wide range of younger patients' malocclusions, including shorter
clinical crowns, management of eruptu ing dentition and predictabla e dental arch expansion. Our Invisalign First Comprehensive
Phase 2 Package complements Invisalign First Phase 1 and is generally consistent with our Invisalign Comprehensive Package.
Afteff r a patient completes Invisalign First Phase 1, doctors have the option to purchase a Comprehensive Phase 2 Package forff
that same patient.

In the firff st quarter of 2023, we launched the Invisalign Comprehensive 3in3 product. The 3in3 configff uration offerff s
doctors Invisalign Comprehensive treatment with a three-year treatment expiration date and three additional clear aligners
included prior to the treatment expiration date, instead of a five-year treatment expiration date with unlimited additional clear
aligner sets prior to the treatment end date. Invisalign Comprehensive 3in3 product is availabla e in North America and in certain
markets in EMEA and APAC, most recently launching in China, Korea, Hong Kong and Taiwan.

Non-Comprehensive Products - InvII isalign Tgg reTT atmett nt Options:p g p

Invisaii lign Ngg on-NN comprehensive Packages. We offeff r a variety of lower priced treatment packages for less complex
orthodontic cases, non-comprehensive relapse cases, or teeth straightening prior to restorative or cosmetic treatments, such as
veneers. These treatment packages include Invisalign Express, Invisalign Lite, and Invisalign® Moderate. These packages may
be offeff red in select countries and/or may diffeff r froff m region to region.
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Invisalign Doctor Subscription Program (“DSP”) is our monthly subscription-based clear aligner program which includes
retainers and low-stage “touch-up” clear aligner treatment. As of September 31, 2023, Invisalign DSP touch-up cases have been
reclassified to non-comprehensive cases and are now reflected in our reported case volumes and metrics. Prior to this quarter,
they were reported in the non-case category.rr DSP is currently availabla e in the U.S., Canada, Iberia, Nordics and, most recently
in the UK.

Invisaii lign Ggg o Packages. In various markets we also offer Invisalign GoTM, Invisalign GoTM Express and Invisalign Go
Plus, streamlined Non-Comprehensive packages designed forff GPs to more easily identify aff nd treat patients with mild
malocclusion. The Invisalign Go and Invisalign Go Plus packages include case assessment support, simplifieff d ClinCheck
treatment plans and a progress assessment featff urt e forff case monitoring.

Non-Case Products:

Clear aligner non-case products include retention products, Invisalign training, adjud sting tools used by dental
profesff sionals during the course of treatment, ancillary Invisalign Accessory Producd ts and other oral health producd ts availabla e in
certain e-commerce and retail channels in the U.S.

Retention. We offer up tu o fourff sets of custom clear aligners called Vivera retainers made with proprietary material strong
enough to maintain tooth position and correct minor relapsa e, if necessary, as well as Invisalign retainers. Retainers are generally
availabla e forff doctors to offeff r to any of their patients, whether they use the Invisalign system or other products, including wires
and brackets. In select markets, we also offeff r single set retainers.

Invisaii lign Pgg rofeo ssional Whitening SysSS tem. Additionally, we offeff r a profesff sional whitening system using Ultradent’s
Opalescence PF whitening system with Vivera retainers.

New Products/Fss eaFF ture Enhancement

Invisaii lign®gg Palatal ExpEE ander. In December 2023, we received 510(k) clearance in the U.S. for the Invisalign Palatal
Expanders.The Invisalign Palatal Expander System is intended forff use in rapid expansion and subsu equent holding of skeletal
and/or dental narrow maxilla (uppeu r jaw) with primary, mixed, or permanent dentition durd ing patient treatment. It provides an
alternative to traditional palatal expanders that require the daily manual turt ning of a screw in the device in the mouth to achieve
expansion. The Invisalign Palatal Expander is our first direct 3D printed orthodontic device. Combined with Invisalign First™
aligners, Invisalign Palatal Expanders provide doctors with a fulff l early intervention treatment solution such as Phase 1 or early
interceptive treatment, traditionally done through arch expanders or partial metal braces, beforff e all permanent teeth have
eruptr ed. The Invisalign Palatal Expander is currently availabla e on a limited basis in Canada and the U.S.

In January 2024, we completed the acquisition of Cubicure GmbH (“Cubicure”), a company that develops, produces and
distributes innovative materials, equipment and processes forff novel 3D printing solutions. Cubicure’s patented Hot Lithography
technology uses a special heating and coating mechanism that enabla es the processing of highly viscous resins to producd e tough
and temperature-resistant polymers. We believe that the acquisition of Cubicure will supporu t our long-term growth strategy by
enabling us to scale our 3D printing operations to eventually direct print millions of custom appliances per day. We expect the
acquisition of Cubicure will ultimately extend and scale our printing, materials and manufactff urt ing capabilities forff our 3D
printed products while concurrently materially reducing the amount of resin used in our manufactff urt ing process.

Smart TechTT nology: SmaSS rtTrackgy TM, SM maSS rtFott rce, TM and SmartStaS geg TM

Smart technology is applied in the development of Invisalign treatments and leads to a more precise control of individual
and multiple tooth movements. We use a forff ce driven system in our Invisalign treatments such that the next clear aligner is
shaped so that when inserted, the clear aligner stretches and appla ies the desired forff ces to the surface of the tooth, resulting in the
desired tooth movement. Smart technology allows us to find the right thickness, the right elasticity, and the right force
application over a period of time. Smart technology includes the use of SmartTrack, SmartForce and SmartStage Technology.

SmartTraTT ck. SmartTrack clear aligner material is a patented, custom-engineered Invisalign clear aligner material that
delivers gentle, more constant forff ce considered ideal forff orthodontic tooth movements. Conventional clear aligner materials
relax and lose a substantial percentage of the force appla ied in the initial days of wear. SmartTrack material maintains more
constant force over time. The fleff xible SmartTrack material also more precisely conforff ms to tooth morpholr ogy, attachments and
interproximal spaces to improve control of tooth movement throughout treatment.

SmartForFF ce. SmartForce attachments are small tooth-colored shapea s that are attached to teeth beforff e or durd ing Invisalign
treatment. Invisalign clear aligners fit smoothly and tightly around the attachments and give the clear aligners something to
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gently push on. SmartForce attachments make complex tooth movements possible without braces by helping clear aligners
apply the right amount of force in the right direction.

SmartStaS ge Technology. SmartStage is an advanced algorithm that determines the optimal path of tooth movement and the
shape of the clear aligner at every stage of an Invisalign treatment. The programming determines tooth movement in a certain
sequence, at the right time to achieve optimal outcomes with greater predictabia lity and fewff er undesirabla e interferences.

Systemtt s and Services Segme ent

Intraoral scanning is a rapidly evolving technology subsu tantially impacting the practice of dentistry.rr By enabling the
dental practitioner to create a 3D image (digital scan) of a patient's teeth using a handheld intraoral scanner, digital scanning is
faster, more efficient, precise and comfortable for patients. Beginning patient care with the early use of our iTero intraoral
scanners and combining the results with digital workfloff ws designed to assist doctors and patients visualize and evaluate various
treatment options with detailed imagery and CAD/CAM solutions is helping patients decide to undergo treatment and improve
treatment outcomes and satisfaction. The accuracy of digitally scanned models subsu tantially reduces the rate of restoration
"remakes," meaning patients are recalled less often and the appointment time for the restoration is shorter because of fewff er
adjud stments, increasing overall patient satisfaction. Digital models also reduce the carbonr footprt int associated with the shipping
of the materials used to create PVS impressions, the shipping of those impressions and their disposal. Moreover, the digital
model fileff can be used for various procedurd es and services including fabra ication of physical dental models for use by labsa to
create restorative units such as veneers, inlays, onlays, crowns, bridges and implant abutments; digital records storage; aid to
caries detection; orthodontic diagnosis; orthodontic retainers and appliances; and Invisalign digital impression submu ission.

iTerTT o ScaSS nner. The iTero Element™ portfolff io of intraoral scanners includes the iTero Element™ 2, the iTero Element™
Flex, iTero Element™ 5D Imaging System, iTero Element™ Plus Series and the iTero Lumina™ which are each availabla e in
select regions and countries. These products build on the existing high precision, full-color imaging and fasff t scan times of the
iTero Element portfolio and are availabla e with software options for orthodontic and restorative procedurd es. The iTero scanner is
interoperabla e with our Invisalign system such that a full arch or full mouth digital scan can be submu itted as part of the
Invisalign system prescription order submu ission process.

Our iTero Element 5D Imaging System is the firff st integrated dental imaging system that simultaneously records 3D,
intraoral color camera images, near infrared imaging (“NIRI”) technology and enabla es comparison over time using the iTero™
TimeLapsa e technology. NIRI technology, included in our iTero Element 5D and 5D Plus Imaging Systems, aids in detection
and monitoring of interproximal caries lesions above the gingiva without using harmfulff radiation. The iTero Element 5D
Imaging System is available in the U.S., Canada, China, and the majority of EMEA and select APAC and LATAM countries
and is pending regulatory arr ppra oval in others. We received 510(k) clearance in the U.S. forff the caries detection feaff ture of the
iTero Element 5D in 2020. The iTero Element Plus Series of intraoral scanners and imaging systems offers restorative and
orthodontic digital workfloff ws that include enhanced visualization forff optimized patient experience, including a fulff ly integrated
3D intraoral camera in certain models, seamless scanning with reduced processing time, artificff ial intelligence-based feaff tures,
and, in certain models, NIRI technology.

Our iTero Element scanners are offered in a number of softwff are configff urations such as Ortho Comprehensive, Restorative
Comprehensive and Restorative Foundation. These softwff are packages are included in the price of the scanner and have a
service period of 1 to 5 years. They enabla e various orthodontic and restorative workfloff ws as well as provide other appla ications,
including Invisalign® Outcome Simulator, Invisalign Case Assessment tool, Invisalign Progress Assessment tool, and iTero
TimeLapsa e technology. Our iTero software is designed forff orthodontists for digital records storage, orthodontic diagnosis, and
for the fabra ication of printed models and retainers. Our Restorative softwff are is designed forff GPs, prosthodontists, periodontists
and oral surgeons and includes restorative workfloff ws providing the abia lity to send digital impressions to the lab of their choice
and communicate seamlessly with external treatment planning, custom implant abutment, chairside milling and labora atoryrr
CAD/CAM systems such as through our iTero-exocad ConnectorTM.

In January 2024, we launched the iTero Lumina intraoral scanner. The iTero Lumina intraoral scanner is designed with
iTero Multi-Direct Capta urt eTM technology that we believe quickly, easily, and accurately capta urt es more data while delivering
exceptional scan quality and photorealistic images that eliminate the need for intraoral photos altogether. iTero Multi-Direct
Capta urt e replaces the confocff al imaging technology in earlier intraoral scanner models. It has a wider field of capture and multi-
angled scanning that enabla es simultaneous capture from multiple angles. Additionally, the iTero Lumina scanner has a capture
distance of up to 25mm, making it easier to scan complex oral regions such as narrow or deep palates, edentulous spaces, and
partially eruptr ed teeth. It has a 50% smaller and 45% lighter wand (as compared to iTero Element™ 5D imaging system wand,
excluding the wand cable), which is expected to be especially beneficial for kids and teen patients. The iTero Lumina scanner
has photorealistic scans which enables high quality clinical decisions the same way intraoral photos do and its advanced
software enables scanning at two times the speed.
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Invisaii lign®gg Outcome Simulator. The Invisalign Outcome Simulator is an exclusive chair-side and cloud-based appla ication
for the iTero scanner that allows doctors to help patients visualize how their teeth may look at the end of Invisalign treatment.
This is achieved through a duad l view layout that shows a prospective patient an image of their own current dentition next to a
simulated finff al position after Invisalign treatment.

Invisaii lign®gg Progress Assessment TooTT l. The Invisalign Progress Assessment tool provides the ability to compare a
patient’s new scan with a specific stage of their ClinCheck® treatment plan, allowing doctors to visually assess and
communicate Invisalign treatment progress with an easy-to-read, color-coded, tooth movement report.

iTerTT oTM TimeLaee psa e TecTT hnology. Our iTeroTM TimeLapsa e technology allows doctors or practitioners to compare a patient’s
historic 3D scans to a present-day scan, enabla ing clinicians to identify aff nd measure orthodontic movement, tooth wear, and
gingival recession. This highlights areas of diagnostic interest to dental professionals and helps foster a proactive conversation
with the patient regarding potential restorative or orthodontic solutions.

Aligngg TM Oral Heatlh Suite. The Align™Oral Health Suite is a digital interface designed to enhance dental consultations. It
offeff rs a modern approach to dental examinations, feaff turing a clinical framework that is designed to empower doctors and their
clinic staff tff o conduct comprehensive oral health assessments via a single scan using patient-friendly terminology, and
providing a highly engaging patient-centric experience. It integrates iTero diagnostic aid and visualization tools, such as iTero
NIRI, iTero Occlusogram, iTero TimeLapsa e and Invisalign Outcome Simulator Pro into a single interface chairside on the iTero
scanner.

CAD/CA// M SerSS vices. Our exocad CAD/CAM softwff are platforff m addresses restorative needs in an end-to-end digital
platform workflow to facilitate ortho-restorative and comprehensive dentistry.rr The platforff m provides doctors and dental labs
with digital clinical solutions that aid GPs and dental labs in planning and delivering restorative dental treatments, adding
restorative funcff tionality to our comprehensive digital platform to deliver digital ortho-restorative workflows and
interdisciplinary drr entistry. Our exocad software is licensed and sold separately.

Other proprietary software mentioned in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, such as software embedded in our iTero
scanners, ClinCheck and ClinCheck Pro softwff are, the Invisalign Doctor Site, Align X-Ray Insights and featurt e enhancements
included as part of the Invisalign system are not sold separately, nor do they contribute as individual items to revenues.

Busineii ss Stratt tegye

Over the past 26 years, Align has helped doctors treat appra oximately 17 million patients with the Invisalign system and is
driving the evolution in digital dentistry trr hrough the Align Digital Platforff m™. Our technology and innovations are designed to
meet the demands of today’s patients with convenient, comforff tabla e, and affordable treatment options, while improving overall
oral health. We strive to help doctors and lab technicians move their businesses forff ward by connecting them with new patients,
providing digital solutions that increase operational speed and efficiency and provide solutions that allow them to deliver
exceptional treatment outcomes and experiences to millions of people around the world. We achieve this by focusing on and
executing our strategic growth drivers:

• International Expansx ion. We continue increasing our presence globally by making our products availabla e in more
countries to more customers. We continue expansion of our sales and marketing by reaching into new countries and
regions, including new areas within Afriff ca and Latin America. As of the end of 2023, we are selling directly or
through authorized distributors in more than 100 countries. As our business continues to grow in both number of new
Invisalign trained doctors and customer utilization, we supporu t that growth through targeted investments such as
clinical supporu t, product improvements, technological innovations, clinical educd ation and advertising. In addition, we
are scaling and expanding our operations and faciff lities to better support the growing numbers of global customers. As
of the end of 2023, we have 13 fabra ication and treatment locations throughout the world. We have a manufactff urt ing
facility in each of our three key regions: Americas (Mexico), APAC (China), and EMEA (Poland). Each of these three
facilities represents a “hub” in our “Regional Hub Model” and together they form the foundaff tion of our manufactff urt ing
strategy, which will continue to evolve to increase fleff xibility and optimize our capacity and cost strucrr ture. We also
perform digital treatment planning and interprr etation forff restorative cases worldwide, including in Costa Rica, China,
Germany, Spain, Poland, and Japan, among others. By establishing and expanding our key operational activities in
locations closer to our customers, we are creating an infraff structurt e that allows us to be responsive to local and regional
needs, while providing global operational fleff xibility and scale needed for variations in global and regional demand.
We expect to continue expanding our business in 2024 by investing in resources, infraff structurt e and initiatives that help
drive Invisalign treatment growth, position our intraoral scanners as the preferred scanning technology for digital
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dental scans, and establish our exocad CAD/CAM softwff are as the solution of choice for dental labs in existing and
new international markets.

• GP Dentist TreTT atmett nt. We want to enabla e GPs, who have the potential to treat the general population, to more easily
identify pff otential cases they can treat with the Invisalign system, monitor patient progress or, if needed, help referff
cases to an orthodontist while providing high-quality restorative, orthodontic and dental hygiene care. We believe
success with GPs can be achieved through doctor training and clinical educd ation, by offeff ring digital tools such as the
iTero scanner and products like Invisalign Go™ treatment that address the distinctive needs of GP patients, all
delivered by sales and marketing personnel specifically focused on the unique needs of this customer category.rr We
encourage GPs to scan every prr atient with intraoral scanners as a means to diagnose and treat patients over time and as
an opportunity to drive futff urt e demand forff their services and the Invisalign system. In October 2021, the finff dings of a
clinical studyt we sponsored were published in the peer-reviewed Journal of Dentistry wrr hich demonstrated that the
NIRI technology of the iTero Element 5D imaging system was 66% more sensitive than bitewing x-ray radiography
for detection of interprrr oximal lesions, without the use of harmful radiation.

• Patient Demand. Our goal is to make the Invisalign brand a highly recognized name brand worldwide by creating
awareness forff Invisalign treatment among consumers and motivating the potential 600 million patients who can benefitff
from treatment of malocclusion to seek treatment using the Invisalign system. We accomplish this through an
integrated consumer marketing strategy that includes television, media, social networking and event marketing and
strategic alliances with profesff sional sports teams, as well as educd ating patients on treatment options and directing them
to high volume Invisalign trained doctors. To furff ther drive consumer awareness, in 2023, we continued to offer
additional dental-related Invisalign Accessory Producd ts under the Invisalign brand name availabla e in certain e-
commerce channels in the U.S.

• Orthodontist UtiUU lizaii tion. We continue to innovate and increase product appla icability and predictabia lity to address a
wide range of cases, froff m simple to complex, thereby enabling doctors to confidff ently diagnose and treat children and
aduld ts with the Invisalign system. This is especially important to treating teenage patients who make up the largest
portion of the 22 million annual orthodontic case starts. We also continue to make improvements to our Invisalign
treatment software, ClinCheck Pro softwff are, designed to deliver an exceptional user experience and increase treatment
control to help doctors achieve their treatment goals. In combination with the new Invisalign system innovations that
are part of the Align Digital Platforff m, we are enhancing the digital treatment planning experience for orthodontics by
providing doctors with greater fleff xibility, consistency of treatment preferff ences and real-time treatment plan access and
modification capabilities.

Manufacff turingii and Supplpp iell rs

We have regional fabff rication faciff lities in our main markets forff clear aligners, which are located in Juarez, Mexico;
Ziyang, China; and Wroclaw, Poland. We have designed this Regional Hub Model to better serve our global customer base by
being closer to our doctor customers and driving effiff ciencies in the business. We produce our handheld intraoral scanner wand,
perform final scanner assembly and repair our scanners at our facilities in Ziyang, China and Petah Tikva, Israel and service and
repair certain scanners in Juarez, Mexico.

We also perform digital treatment planning and interprr etation forff restorative cases based on digital scans generated by our
iTero intraoral scanners. Our digital treatment planning facilities are located worldwide, including in Costa Rica, China,
Germany, Spain, Poland and Japan, among other international locations.

Our quality system is required to be in compliance with the Quality System regulations enforced by the FDA, and similar
regulations enforced by other worldwide regulatory arr uthorities. We are certifieff d to ISO 13485:2016, an internationally
recognized standard for medical device quality. We are routinely audited by third party certificff ation bodies as well as global
health authorities forff our compliance to this quality standard as well as international regulations. We have a formal, documented
quality system by which quality objectives are definff ed, understood and achieved. Systems, processes and procedurd es are
implemented to ensure high levels of product and service quality. We monitor the effeff ctiveness of the quality system based on
internal data and direct customer feedff bad ck and strive to continually improve our systems and processes, taking corrective
action, as needed.

Since the mass-customized treatment planning and manufactff urt ing processes of our products requires substantial and
varied technical expertise, we believe that our manufactff urt ing capacity and capabilities are important to our success. In order to
produce our highly-customized, highly-precise, medical quality products in volume, we have developed a number of proprietaryrr
processes and technologies. These technologies include complex softwff are algorithms and solutions, including artificff ial
intelligence and machine-learning based CAD/CAM softwff are, Vision systems, CT scanning, stereolithography and automated
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custom clear aligner fabff rication equipment. To increase the effiff ciency and yield of our manufactff urt ing processes, we continue to
focus our effoff rts on softwff are development, equipment development and the improvement of rate-limiting processes or
bottlenecks. We continuously upgrade our proprietary, three-dimensional treatment planning software to enhance computer
analysis of treatment data and to reducd e time spent on manual and judgmental tasks for each case, thereby increasing the
effiff ciency of our technicians. Moreover, to improve effiff ciency and increase the scale of our operations, we continue to invest in
the development of automated systems forff the fabff rication and packaging of clear aligners.

In addition, predictabla e and consistent production is essential to our commitment to timely deliver products to our
customers efficiently and profitff ably. Our production can be disruptr ed by such things as supplu y chain issues, production
manufactff urt ing softwff are system issues and production equipment downtime. Accordingly, as we have grown our operations, we
have included fleff xibility and resiliency in our overall manufactff urt ing design to mitigate the risks of production downtime. Our
manufactff urt ing facff ilities include backupk generators and systems and each facility has an emergency response plan that is part of
ongoing employee training and testing through recurring cross funcff tional scenario-based simulation exercises. Likewise, the
Regional Hub Model provides us with greater flexibility and capacity to adjud st and redirect production to one or more of our
production faciff lities as needed.

As part of our manufacff turing resiliency design efforff ts, we have also considered climate change, climate-related risks -
higher average global temperatures, rising sea levels and more frequent and severe wildfires, hurricanes, floff ods, winter storms,
heat waves and other events and natural disasters (collectively, “climate-related risks”). We view climate-related risks to be one
of many operational challenges we face,ff and factff or them into our business continuity planning and strategic risk mitigation
effoff rts.

For instance, our manufacff turing plants and operations may be impacted by extreme temperatures and weather, subju ecting
us to potential brownouts and blackouts, increased energy costs and capital investments needed to maintain ideal operating
temperaturt es. Our manufacff turing facility in Juarez, Mexico is located in an area classified as high-water stress and our
operations could be impacted by water shortages, rationing and droughts. Our Califorff nia, Costa Rica, Mexico and North
Carolina operations are located in areas that have historically been impacted by extreme weather events such as hurricanes,
tornados, wildfires or floff oding.

In part to help mitigate risks to our manufacff turing operations, we have strategically located our clear aligner production
facilities in three facilities on different continents. This allows us to both respond more quickly to customer demand while also
offeff ring redundancy in the event naturt al disasters or climate-related events affect operations at one or more facilities. Moreover,
each of our three key clear aligner manufactff urt ing facff ilities are located at elevations less likely to be impacted by rising sea
levels and at least two hundred miles inland.

Moreover, we are highly dependent on manufactff urt ers of specialized scanning equipment, rapia d prototyping machines,
resin and other advanced materials forff our clear aligners, as well as the optics, electronic and other mechanical components of
our intraoral scanners. We maintain single supplier relationships for many of these machines and materials technologies. In
particular, our CT scanning and stereolithography equipment used in our clear aligner manufactff urt ing and many of the critical
components forff the optics of our intraoral scanners are provided by single or sole source supplu iers. We also currently purchase
our resin and polymer, the primary raw materials used in our manufactff urt ing process forff clear aligners, froff m a single source. A
discussion of the risks of our supplu y and manufacff turing operations, including foreign operations, may be found in Item 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading "Risk Factors."

Sales and Marketintt g

Our sales and marketing efforts are focused on increasing adoption and utilization of the Invisalign system and Vivera
retainers by orthodontists and GPs worldwide and integrating the iTero scanner and services and exocad CAD/CAM products
into dental labsa and practices. The iTero scanner is an important component to the customer experience and is central to a
digital appra oach as well as overall customer utilization of Invisalign clear aligners. In each region, we have direct sales,
marketing and supporu t organizations, which include quota carrying sales representatives, sales management and sales
administration. We also have distribution partners in certain markets. Our sales and marketing personnel are organized
primarily to supporu t orthodontists and GPs separately, allowing highly trained and specialized personnel to serve each customer
channel, thereby increasing our focus and effeff ctiveness on both. We continue to expand in existing markets through targeted
investments in sales resources, professional marketing and education programs. Additionally, our consumer marketing
programs are designed to create awareness and educate consumers on the benefits of Invisalign treatment and Vivera retainers,
including where they can find a trained doctor to provide treatment.
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We provide training, marketing and clinical supporu t to orthodontists and GPs. As of December 31, 2023, we had
approximately 125,800 active Invisalign trained doctors. We definff e doctors as active if they have submu itted at least one
Invisalign case in the prior 12-month period.

Research and Developmo ent

We are committed to investing in world-class digital technology development, which we believe is critical to achieving
our goal of establishing the Invisalign system as the standard method for treating malocclusion, our intraoral scanners as the
preferff red scanning technology for digital dental scans, and our exocad CAD/CAM softwff are as the solution of choice for dental
labsa .

Our research and development activities are directed toward developing digital technology innovations that we believe
will deliver our next generation of products and solutions as part of the Align Digital Platforff m. These activities range from
accelerating product and clinical innovation, to developing manufactff urt ing process improvements, to researching futff urt e
technologies, products and softwff are.

In an effoff rt to demonstrate the broad treatment capabilities of the Invisalign system, more than 200 peer-reviewed
publications and various clinical case studies and articles have been published that highlight the clinical applicability of
Invisalign treatment to malocclusion cases, including addressing malocclusions of severe complexity. Similarly, various studit es
have also been published demonstrating the capabilities of our scanners, including advanced featurt es such as our NIRI
technology. We undertake pre-commercialization trials and testing of our technological improvements to our producd ts and
manufactff urt ing process. We furthermore fundff research in the fieff ld of orthodontics and dentistry trr hrough initiatives such as our
Annual Research Award Program, which was in its 14th year in 2023 and donations to the American Association of
Orthodontists Foundation.

Intellectual ProPP peo rtytt

We believe our intellectuat l property portfolff io represents a substantial business advantage. As of December 31, 2023, we
had 866 active U.S. patents, 954 active foreign patents, and 884 pending global patent appla ications. Our active U.S. patents
expire between 2024 and 2042. When patents expire, we lose the protection and competitive advantages they provided, which
could negatively impact our operating results; however, as we continue to pursue new innovations, we seek intellectuat l property
protection forff new inventions and know-how through U.S. and forff eign patent applications and non-disclosure agreements. We
also seek to protect our software, documentation and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws. We
furthermore have a broad and diverse trademark portfolff io that we use to highlight and protect our universally recognized
brands. Inforff mation regarding risks associated with our proprietary trr echnology and our intellectuat l property rights may be
found in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Risk FacFF tors.”

Seasonal Fluctuatiott ns

General economic conditions impact our business and financial results, and we have historically experienced seasonal
trends within our two operating segments, customer channels and the geographic locations that we serve. Sales of the Invisalign
system are often weaker in Europe, especially southern European countries during the summer months due to our customers
and their patients being on holiday and seasonally higher in China during the third quarter. Similarly, other international
holidays like Lunar New Year can impact our sales in APAC in the first quarter. In North America, summer is typically the
busiest season for orthodontists with practices that have a high percentage of adolescent and teenage patients as many parents
start their children in treatment before the school year begins. Conversely, many GPs are on vacation durd ing this time and
thereforff e tend to start fewer cases. For our Systems and Services segment, capital equipment sales are often stronger in the
fourth calendar quarter. Consequently, these seasonal trends have caused and may continue to cause fluctuations in our
quarterly results, including fluctuations in sequential revenue growth rates. However, our typical seasonal patterns have been
impacted by macroeconomic uncertainty including changes in forff eign exchange rates, military crr onfliff cts, and inflaff tion and other
macroeconomic challenges. It remains unclear when or if our seasonal fluff ctuat tions will return to historical norms.

Competitiott n

Competition in the clear aligner market continues to increase. Our clear aligner products compete directly against
traditional orthodontic treatments that use metal brackets and wires and increasingly against clear aligner products
manufactff urt ed and distributed by various companies, both within and outside the U.S. Although the number of competitors
varies by segment, product, geography and customer, they include new and well-establa ished regional competitors in certain
foreign markets, as well as larger companies, divisions of larger companies or well-capitalized new entrants with subsu tantial
sales, marketing, research and finff ancial capabilities. We also compete with direct-to-consumer (“DTC”) companies that provide
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clear aligners directly to the consumer requiring little or no in-offiff ce care froff m doctors and also froff m doctors themselves who
can manufactff urt e retainers and custom clear aligners using 3D printing technology. In addition, corresponding foreign patents
began expiring in 2018 which has increased competition outside the U.S.

Additionally, we facff e competition in the rapia dly evolving markets for intraoral scanners and softwff are solutions, including
CAD/CAM. The global intraoral scanner market is very drr ynamic with participants spanning from traditional dental
conglomerates to companies dedicated primarily to scanner development and sales with new entrants playing larger roles. The
iTero intraoral scanner also competes with traditional PVS impressions that doctors use forff clear aligner therapya or other dental
procedurd es, as well as other intraoral scanners. It also competes with traditional bite wing 2D dental x-rays for detecting
interproximal caries. Information regarding risks associated with increased competition may be foundff in Item 1A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Riskii Factorsrr .”

We believe we are well positioned to compete in the markets we target. We have thousands of dedicated, highly skilled
sales forff ce employees who are focused on key demographics in our target markets that allow us to uniquely address customer
needs and thereby enhance the customer experience. Our significant historical and ongoing investments in research and
development and design around the movement of teeth, SmartTrack aligner materials and design, intraoral scanning, 3D
manufactff urt ing, global scale of manufacff turing and treatment planning, strong brand name recognition, strong workforce,
diversifieff d and knowledgeable customer base, geographic expansion, reliabla e finff ancial results, leading digital platformff ,
technology and IP, next wave of innovation with direct 3D printing and innovations powered by AI enabling more personalized
care, and regulatory crr learance of our products are among a fewff of our key competitive factff ors that compare favorably with our
competitors’ products and services.

Government Regulatll iott n

Many countries throughout the world have establa ished regulatory frr raff meworks forff commercialization of medical devices.
As a designer, manufacff turer, and marketer of medical devices, we are obligated to comply with the respective fraff meworks of
these countries to obtain and maintain access to these global markets.

The fraff meworks often define requirements forff marketing authorizations which vary brr y country. Failure to obtain
appropriate marketing authorization and to meet all local requirements, including specific quality and safetff y standards and new
software and artificff ial intelligence standards in any country in which we currently market our products, could cause commercial
disruptr ion and/or subju ect us to sanctions and finff es. Delays in receipt of, off r a failure to receive, such marketing authorizations, or
the loss of any previously received authorizations, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

With regards to premarket authorization in the U.S., many of our products are classified as medical devices under the U.S.
Food, Drug,r and Cosmetic Act (“FD&C Act”). The FD&C Act requires these products, when sold in the U.S., to be safe aff nd
effeff ctive forff their intended use and to comply with medical device regulations defined by the FDA. The regulatory frr raff mework
depends on a set of written processes forff ensuring consistent quality called a Quality Management System (“QMS”) coupled
with a product marketing authorization which depends on the risk classificff ation of the product. This regulatory frr raff mework is
comparable to the fraff mework establa ished in the European Union (“EU”). Within the EU, our products are subject to the
requirements definff ed by the Medical Device Regulation EU 2017/745 which replaced the Medical Device Directive 93/42/EEC
with a finff al transition date of May 26, 2021. Similar market access regulations exist in Brazil, China, Japaa n and other countries.
Our QMS is routinely audited by certificff ation bodies as well as country regulators forff compliance with applicable regulations.
We believe we are in compliance with all state, federal, and international regulatory rrr equirements appla icable to our products.

We are also subject to various laws around the world that govern interactions with our customers as healthcare
profesff sionals or government offiff cials. The laws govern differff ent interactions and may include: prohibiting improper influff ence
of or payments to healthcare professionals, other decision makers or purchasers of medical devices and government offiff cials;
setting out rules forff when and how to engage healthcare profesff sionals as our third-party vendors; requiring price reporting
regulations; requiring marketing of our products within the regulatory arr ppra oval (e.g., on labea l) promotion, sale and marketing of
our products and services; the importing and exporting of our products; the operation of our facilities and distribution of our
products; and disclosure of payments to healthcare professionals and entities. As we expand our operations footprt int, countries
to which we sell and invest in new business models, compliance with applicable laws becomes more complex and the general
trend is toward increasingly stringent oversight and enforff cement.

Initiatives sponsored by government agencies, legislative bodies, and the private sector to limit the growth of healthcare
expenses generally are ongoing in markets where we do business. It is not possible to predict at this time the long-term impact
of such cost containment measures on our future business.
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Our customers are healthcare providers that may be reimbursed by state or federal fundeff d programs such as Medicaid, a
foreign national healthcare program, or private pay insurance, each of which may offeff r some degree of oversight. As a medical
device manufactff urt er and seller, we are subject to transparency reporting laws (also known as sunshine laws) that in certain
countries and U.S. states require us to report transfers of value to healthcare professionals that perform services or receive other
items from us (e.g., meals, travel, branded promotional or educational items, or other benefits of value). Many government
agencies, both domestic and foreign, have increased their mining of this data and have used this data to drive enforcement
activities with respect to healthcare providers and companies in recent years. Enforcement actions and associated effortff s to
respond or defend against such actions can be expensive, and any resulting finff dings carry the risk of significant civil and
criminal penalties.

In addition, we must comply with numerous data protection and data governance laws that do or will soon regulate or
restrict cross border data transfers, such as in the EU, Switzerland, U.S. Federal and States, Brazil, China, Vietnam, Japaa n,
Korea, and other countries. In the U.S., we may be required to comply with final regulations implementing amendments to the
Health Insurance Portabia lity and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) and the associated HIPAA Security Rule, and are in
the same position as other companies working to ensure our global privacy program framework incorporate new country and
state laws so that our product innovations comply with these increasingly complex laws.

We also have information security, privacy and cybersecurity policies to protect confidff ential personal informff ation and
confidff ential company information. We have internal monitoring and detection systems to safeguard against cyber attacks. We
have implemented a security awareness and phishing program to educd ate our users abouta the importance of cybersecurity. We
evaluate products to ensure compliance with cybersecurity regulations. We have established a business resiliency program and
perform regular backupsk of our critical information technology (“IT”) systems to protect against business interruptu ion. In
addition, we periodically scan our external environment forff vulnerabia lities, perform annual external penetration tests and
engage an independent third party to assess effeff ctiveness of our security practices for critical IT systems. We also have
cybersecurity and other forms of insurance coverage related to a breach event covering expenses forff notificff ation, credit
monitoring, investigation, crisis management, public relations and legal advice.

Information regarding risks associated with data security and privacy may be foundff in Item 1A of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the heading “Riskii Factorsrr .”

Enviroii nmental Laws and Regue lations

We are subject to numerous international, federal, state and local environmental laws, including provisions that regulate the
purchase, use, distribution, and environmental impact of hazardous subsu tances used in our operations, contained within our
products and the packaging associated with our producd ts. We are also subju ect to environmental laws appa licable to our
manufactff urt ing facff ilities and operations, including environmental health and safetff y regulations. The number and rate at which
these regulations are being proposed and implemented are increasing at the regional, country and local territorial levels,
requiring greater diligence, governance and skills to manage. We may be required to incur significant costs to comply with
existing and new laws and regulations in the futff urt e. Information regarding risks associated with environmental laws and
regulations may be foundff in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Riskii Factorsrr .”

Human CapiCC taii l

We believe our culturt e and commitment to employees provide unique value that benefitsff Align, its stockholders and the
communities and other stakeholders we serve. Every employee, and every job, is important to our success and helps us achieve
our purposr e of transforming smiles and changing lives. Align is committed to building a workforce of diverse culturt al
backgrounds and life eff xperiences. Fostering a culture of dignity, integrity, open dialogue, open-mindedness, compassion,
fairness, recognition, and shared goals allows us to attract and retain the best talent, which has ultimately led to the growth and
success of our company.

As of December 31, 2023, we had appra oximately 21,610 employees, a decrease of approximately 6.7% and 4.1% over
December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively. The number of employees for each of the last five years and our
employees’ roles as of December 31, 2023 are as folff lows:
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We are a global organization with more than 90% of our employees located internationally, primarily in direct-labor roles
in our manufactff urt ing and clinical treatment planning facilities. Set forth in the following paragraphs are some of the most
important elements of our culturt e and commitment to our employees.

Governance. Our commitment to improving the lives of our employees and the communities in which we live and work,
including conducting our business ethically, responsibly and transparently through open and clear disclosures that allow us and
others to hold us accountable, begins with our Board of Directors (“Board”) and management team. They set the tone for our
organization by establishing and clearly communicating our core values of Agility, Customer and Accountability that inform
our culture. Our Global Code of Conduct (“Code”) and quality policies are designed to enabla e us to operate with integrity and
deliver supeu rior treatment outcomes and experiences to patients. We seek to create an environment that values the health, safetff y
and well-being of our teams, and we work to equip them with the knowledge and skills to serve our business and develop their
careers. We believe that by effeff ctively managing our business with these values as the foundation, we will drive long-term
value forff our stockholders and all stakeholders.

As part of our Board’s commitment to our environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) efforts, the Board has delegated
ESG oversight responsibility to our Nominating and Governance Committee. The evolution of our ESG programs was furthered
in 2022 when our Board amended the charter of our Compensation Committee to specifically include oversight responsibilities
of all human capia tal management strategies, programs and policies in addition to its oversight of diversity, equity and inclusion
initiatives. In doing so, the Board deemed it important to rename the committee to the Compensation and Human Capital
Committee in recognition of its additional human capital management oversight responsibilities.

The Compensation and Human Capital Committee regularly reviews and discusses key performance indicators regarding
employee and human capital that allow it to monitor trends on issues such as our total headcount, recruir ting, attrition, career
development, diversity, inclusion and belonging, compensation, benefits, and other measures of employee engagement and
interest to management and the committee.

Diversirr ty. Fostering diversity and encouraging inclusion and belonging in the workplace makes Align a more welcoming
and enjoyabla e place to work. Our products and services are used broadly across age groups, gender identities, races, ethnicities,
and cultures, so we aim to build a workforff ce that optimally reflects this diversity. We believe our success continues to be driven
by our focus on integrating and welcoming employees of all diffeff rent backgrounds, orientations, beliefs, perspectives and
capabilities into our workforce. Our employees bring a positive mix of ethnic and culturally diverse backgrounds to the more
than 40 different countries in which we operate. Our largest population of employees work in our Mexico site followed by
Costa Rica and China. The United States represents appra oximately 10% of our global population.
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Our management team is comprised of diverse individuals from varyirr ng countries and nationalities and who are
committed to promoting and encouraging the health and well-being of our employees at work, at home and in society in
general. We provide employee experiences that encourage inclusion and diversity. We were recognized in Newsweek’s list of
America’s Greatest Workplaces for Diversity in 2024.

Our work culture is designed to create finff ancial, health, career and personal benefitsff for our employees and organization.
We sponsor diverse and cultural recognition events to increase awareness of inclusion and diversity, including its importance in
creating an environment where every err mployee can thrive and feelff they belong.

We also sponsor employee resource groups based on shared characteristics or life eff xperiences which are open to all
employees, including those who do not directly identify wff ith other members but are passionate in supporu ting the group's
members in creating an educated, supportive and inclusive culture.

Talent Recruitment and Engagement. We emplloyy a va irietyy of caree dr dev lelopment, em lpl yoye be benefiitsff , compensatiion a dnd
othher p loliiciies a dnd pr gogram ds desigignedd to attract d, dev lelop, andd ret iain emplloyyees. We focff us on b ibuildldiingg a tallent ipipeliline hthat
nurtures thhose earlyly iin hth ieir careers, encour gages contiinuous llear ini gng and gd growthh, and id incen itiviizes em lpl yoyees to st yay andd
cont iribbute to our success over thhe llo gng term. Our pr gogram is inclludde earlyly recr iuir tment at hihighgh sch lhools a dnd iuniversiitiies, iini iitiatiives
su hch as iintern hshiips, co-ops, appa rentiiceshihips, a dnd tr iai ini gng pr gograms, quarterlyly performance managgement hch keck i-ins focusedd on
iindidi ividdual gl goalls andd com imitment to vallues andd c donduc itingg r geg lular em lpl yoyee surveyys to b ibuildld trusrr t a dnd stre gngthhen r lelatiionshihips.

Our effort hs have res lulted id in numerous awardds for our posiitiive workk e invironment a dnd cullture. Some of thhe cer iftifiicfff atiions,
awardds andd recognigni itions recognignizedd or rec ieived id in 2023 andd 2024 iinclludde:

• Best lPlaces to Work fk forff Wome in in Korea
• Computerwo lrldd Best Pllace to Wo krk iin IT b, bas ded on iits surveyy of o grganiizatiions across thhe U.S. to ididen iftifyy tff hhose thhat

ppr iovidde hth be bes bt benefiitff s a dnd ameni iities forff IT profesff isionalls
• Dun & Br dadstreet Top Techh Compa inies to Wo krk fo ir in Israell
• Great lPlaces to Workk a dnd Best lPlaces to Wo krk bbasedd on our em lpl yoyee-validlidat ded ggreat wo krk lplkkk aces iin hthe f lolff llo iwi gng

count iries, Austr laliia, Bra izill, hChiina, Costa Riica, Germanyy, Indidia, It lalyy, Korea, iSi gngapora e, Taiiwan, Thhaililandd, UK,
iVietnam a dnd Uniit ded States ((R lal ieigh,gh, Northh Car loliin )a)

• Fo brbes Wo lrldd’s Best Emplloyyers
• iLi knkeddIn Top Companiies to Grow Your Career iin Isra lel andd P lolandd
• Mercer Outsta dindi gng Women Care Awa drd iin hChiina
• U.S. News & Worldld Report- Best Companiies to Workk For andd Best Compa inies to Wo krk Fo ir in thhe He lal hth Care

Inddustryyrr

We believe it is imperative to provide a vibrant employee experience and we value our employees’ collective voices.
Accordingly, we conduct employee surveys to collect employee feedff bad ck critical to improving our culture. The process serves
as a wellness check for us as the surveys cover a broad variety of topics including engagement, inclusion, development,
leadership, compliance, alignment and enablement. Our response rates to our annual surveys are consistently high, reflecting
strong engagement by our global employees. In 2023, afteff r years of focusing on an annual census survey where we consistently
had high response rates and high scores in overall engagement, we moved to a continuous employee listening strategy. This
listening strategy includes globally managed pulse surveys, employee lifecyff cle surveys, and a self-service featff urt e to support
listening efforts forff our global employees. We use information learned froff m our surveys to improve the employee experience,
including enhancements to our workplk aces, focff us on employee connections, increased career development opportunities,
supporu t forff relocated employees, and growth in our recognition programs and experiences.

Training and Profesff sional Development. Training is an integral part of developing and retaining our employees and
creating a culture of leadership within the Company.

Training at Align begins with our Code and our strong commitment to ethical business practices in all aspects of our
operations. Every employee and contractor is required to review the Code and confirff m they understand it. We routinely
reference the Code in presentations and as part of everyday operations.

As a furff ther part of our standard onboarding program, we train employees on important environmental health and safetff y
topics to protect them and our environment as we operate our business. As a general practice, employees are trained to perform
their jobs in accordance with all appla icable statutt ory arr nd regulatory rrr equirements and that training is routinely refreff shed and re-
administered.

18



At Align, we believe employees learn best when skill development is driven by the changing and immediate needs of our
employees and by the empowerment of all employees to take action and ownership of their careers. We also believe learning
should be relevant and actionabla e as well as rooted in our purposr e and values. Develop@Align enabla es our global employee
population to access a diverse portfolff io of approximately one thousand self-directed courses in up tu o 80 languages. We also
offeff r a full suite of custom leadership development programs, beginning with aspiring leaders, continuing with managers and
directors, and culminating with executive development opportunities. The ways in which we work, collabora ate, and develop has
transforff med in recent years and will continue to change and evolve rapidly. We recognize that we must provide employees with
the resources to continue to learn, grow, and thrive. We created Voyage as a global initiative to serve this purposrr e. Voyage
offeff rs a set of tools, resources and a new mindset, empowering employees to start thinking differently about career growth by
embracing development opportunities in new and sometimes unexpected ways. Our Voyage Compass helps employees
experience their career through four distinct lenses: Self, Networks, Experience and Skills. Since its launch, over 45% of the
employee population has interacted with Voyage, and there have been over 108,000 visits to the Voyage website. In addition to
our navigation site, we host two Voyage Set Sail weeks annually, where we offeff r experiential learning for individuad ls and
teams utilizing activities that help keep profesff sional development front and center in employees’ minds.

Compensation and Benefie ts. Our commitment to our employees starts with benefit and compensation programs that refleff ct
the value and the contributions our employees make. In addition to competitive base pay, we offer an assortment of benefits that
vary by country, including performance-based variabla e compensation programs, health and welfare benefit plans, retirement
planning services and benefitff s, holiday and leave policies, equity participation programs such as our Incentive Plan and
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and charitabla e and community service opportunities. Besides these, we also offer discounts to
our employees and their dependents when they undergo Invisalign treatment.

We are furff thermore committed to pay equity practices. We exceed minimum pay requirements forff our manufactff urt ing
employees and we regularly review our pay equity practices globally and locally so that we can appropriately address
discrepancies.

Health, WelWW lness and Safetff ytt . Our employees are essential to us as a business and their health and well-being is critical to
our success and their continuing achievements. Our objective is to prevent injun ries and occupau tional diseases by focusing firff st
and forff emost on creating and maintaining environments that are safe.ff We thereforff e offer a wide variety of robust programs and
initiatives designed to promote the overall health and welfare of all our employees and their families. It is our responsibility to
supporu t the health and well-being of our employees. Every year, we have a month dedicated to well-being, called Month of
Wellness, which is a worldwide movement fostering employee health. Throughout the Month of Wellness, employees
participate in a variety of activities such as inforff mational sessions and health fairs and receive usefulff resources aligned to our
wellness pillars - mental resilience, physical well-being and healthy living, social/famff ily connections, and financial wellness.
This provides employees with a variety of meaningfulff ways to embrace wellness and well-being through mindfulff ness,
meditation, nutrition and mental wellness activities, exercise, hikes, yoga, volunteer activities, financial education sessions,
social events and stress management.

We hhave ne vironmental, health, safetff y and sustainabia lity personnel who are responsible for ensuring health and safety
programs and processes are maintained and effective at each of our locations. Major worksites, such as our clear aligner
fabra ication sites, and large offiff ces have dedicated Environmental Health and Safetff y (“EHS”) departments that ensure health and
safety programs are maintained hwhilile contribibutiingg Best Man gagement Practiices ((“BMP”)) a dnd ggeneral il input to corporate- iwidde
ppr gograms. Each EHS department is responsible forff ensuring all employees at their location are properly trained on various EHS
topics and at the appropriate frequencies. A training suite is determined for each employee depending on their responsibilities
and funcff tion modeled off ISO 45001.

Community. We actively encourage employees to supporu t local charitable organizations by providing opportunities for
volunteerism, team building, and donation and matching programs. In 2023, our employees continued to make us proud through
their generosity and dedication, especially during our annual Month of Smiles initiative in October where we encourage our
employees to make a diffeff rence individuad lly and as teams through volunteer activities, charitabla e donations, fundrff aising, and
intentional acts of goodness. In addition, through our Align Foundation, we supporu t organizations whose visions closely align
with our mission to improve smiles, supporu ting and educd ating teens, and empowering our customers through partnerships with
learning institutions and foundaff tions. Below are some of our key community initiatives in 2023:

• We were honored as a “Technology Partner of the Year” by Junior Achievement, an organization that delivers hands
on, immersive learning in work readiness, financial health, entrepreneurship, sustainabia lity, STEM, economics, and
more. In addition, we held several volunteer activities with Junior Achievement including hosting the first artificff ial
intelligence career summit for around 200 high school studet nts in our San Jose, Califorff nia office.
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• Since 2013 we have been a proud supporu ter of Operation Smile, a global medical nonprofitff providing hundreds of
thousands of free surgeries for people born with cleft lips and cleft pff alates in low and middle-income countries. For the
third year, we sponsored Operation Smile’s International Student Leadership Conferff ence, a powerful opportunity for
high schoolers around the world to develop leadership skills and impact their communities. As part of our sponsorship,
we provided scholarships forff 24 participants from 8 different countries, plus an additional 10 scholarships forff studet nts
personally impacted with a cleft condition. As of December 31, 2023, we had donated appra oximately $2.7 million to
Operation Smile.

• For 16 years we have supported America’s ToothFairy, an organization with a mission to ensure underserved children
in the United States have access to dental care and learn abouta oral health by supporu ting nonprofitff clinics and
community partners. As of December 31, 2023, we have provided almost $2 million forff the foundaff tion’s operational
expenses and children’s oral health programs. As a result of our supporu t, more than 1.3 million children living with
restricted access to care in communities across the country received dental care and/or oral health instruction through
America’s ToothFairy programs and the safetff y-net dental clinics they supporu t.

We also provide product donations to the dental community to help patients in need of healthy, beautifulff smiles. For more
information on our charitable and community effoff rts, please referff to the Corporrr ate Social Responsibility portion of our
corporate website located at https://www.aligntgg ech.com/about/ctt orporr ate_social_rl esponss ibilityttp g p p y.

Availaii ble Ill nfII orff marr tion

Our corpor rate website is www.aligntgg ech.comg , and our investor relations website is http://i// nvestor.aligntgg ech.comp g . The
information on or accessible through our websites is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our Annual Report on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, our proxy statement on Scheduld e 14A for our
annual stockholders’ meeting and amendments to such reports are availabla e, free of charge, on our investor relations website as
soon as reasonabla y practicable afteff r we electronically filff e or furff nish such material with the SEC. Further, the SEC maintains an
internet site that contains reports, proxy and inforff mation statements and other inforff mation regarding our filings at http:////p
www.sec.govg .
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Infon rmatiott n about our Executivtt e OffiO cersrr

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th certain inforff mation regarding our executive officers as of February 2rr 8, 2024:

Name Age Position Period
Joseph M. Hogan 66 Presidendd t and Chief Ee xecuEE tive OfficO er of Aligngg

• Chief Executive Officff er of ABB
• Chief Executive Officff er of GE Healthcare

2015-Present
2008-2013
2000-2008

John F. Morici 57 Chief Fe inFF ancial OfficO er and Executive VicVV e President, Gt lobal Finance of Ao ligngg
• Chief Financial Offiff cer and Senior Vice President, Global Finance of Align
• Chief Financial Officer of Align
• Executive Vice President and Managing Director of NBC Universal North America
Home Entertainment

• Chief Financial Officer/Crr hief Operating Officer of NBC Universal North America Home
Entertainment

• Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of NBC Universal North America
Home Entertainment

2022-Present
2018-2022
2016-2018
2014-2016

2011-2014

2007-2011

Julie Coletti 56 Executive VicVV e President, Ct hiCC ef Legale and Regule atory Orr fficO er of Aligngg
• Senior Vice President, Chief Legal and Regulatory Or fficer of Align
• Vice President, Associate General Counsel, Strategic Commercial Affaff irs of Align
• Vice President, Global General Counsel and Chief Compliance Offiff cer of Danaher
• Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Corporrr ate Secretary or f Bayer HealthCare's
MEDRAD/RR Radiology and Interventional Division

2022-Present
2019-2022
2018-2019
2013-2017
2007-2013

Stuat rt Hockridge 52 Executive VicVV e President, Gt lobal Human Resources of Aligngg
• Senior Vice Present, Global Human Resources of Align
• Vice President, Global Human Resources of Align
• Vice President of Talent of Visa

2022-Present
2018-2022
2016-2018
2013-2016

Emory Mr . Wright 54 Executive VicVV e President, Gt lobal Operations of Aligng
• Senior Vice President, Global Operations of Align
• Vice President, Operations of Align
• Various roles at Align including Vice President, Manufactff urt ing

2022-Present
2018-2022
2007-2018
2000-2007

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The ComCC panym ’s business, repute ation, results of operations, finff ancial condition and stock price can be affea cted by a number
of factors,rr whethett r currently known or unknowkk n, including those desdd cribed below. When any one or more of these risks
materialize froff m time to time, the ComCC panym ’s business, repute ation, results of operations, finff ancial condition and stock price can
be materially and adverserr ly affeff cted. Tdd heTT riskii s bkk elow are not the only oll nes we facff e. Because of to hett following factors,rr as well as
othett r facff tors affeff cting thett Company’s results of operations and financial condition, past finff ancial perfor rmance should nl ot be
considerdd ed to be a reliable indicator of fo utff ure perfor rmance, and investors should nll ot use historical tret nds to anticipate results
or trends in future periods. TheTT refoe re, you should rl eview this section carefulff ly, ayy s well as our consolidatdd ed financial statementstt
and notes thereto and othett r inforff mation appea aring in thitt s Aii nnual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K, for important infon rmation regarding
these and othett r risks that may aa ffea ct us. Additionally, yyy ou should cl onsiderdd these risk facff tors in connection with evaluating thett
forward-looking statements ctt ontained in thitt s rii eport.

Macroeconomic and External Risks

Our opeo rations and finff ancial perforff marr nce depdd end on glogg bal and regional economic conditiii ons. Infln atll iott n, fluctuatiott ns
in currency ec xcee hange rates, changes in cii onsumer confin dence and demand, add nd general economic weakness and threats,tt or
actual recessions, have and could in the futff ure matertt ially affeff ct our business, results of operations, as nd finaii ncial conditioii n.

Macroeconomic conditions impact consumer confidff ence and discretionary spending, which can adversely affecff t demand
for our products. Consumer spending habia ts are affected by, among other things, inflaff tion, fluctuations in currency exchange
rates, general economic weakness, threats or actuat l recessions, pandemics, wars and military actions, employment levels,
wages, debt obligations, discretionary income, interest rates, volatility in capital, and consumer confidff ence and perceptions of
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current and futff urt e economic conditions. Macroeconomic conditions can, among other things, reducd e or shift spending away
from elective procedurd es, drive patients to pursue less costly orthodontic treatments, decrease the number of orthodontic case
starts, reducd e patient traffiff c in dentists’ officff es or reduce demand forff dental services generally. Further, decreased demand for
dental services can cause dentists and labs to postpone investments in capital equipment, such as intraoral scanners and CAD/
CAM equipment and software. The declines in, or uncertain economic outlooks for, the U.S., Chinese, European and certain
other international economies have and may continue to adversely affect consumer and dental practice spending. Increases in
the cost of fueff l and energy, food and other essential items as well as higher interest rates have and may continue to reduce
consumers' disposable income, which could cause a decrease in discretionary spending for products like ours. Further, we
cannot predict the impact of efforts by central banks and fedff eral, state and local governments to combat inflaff tion, which could
result in an economic recession or have an adverse impact on consumer spending may forff a prolonged period of time.

Inflation continues to adversely impact spending and trade activities, causing unpredictabla e impacts on global and regional
economies. Higher inflaff tion has also increased domestic and international shipping costs, raw material prices, and labora rates,
which has adversely impacted the costs of producing, procuring and shipping our products. Our ability to recover these cost
increases through price increases may continue to lag, resulting in downward pressure on our operating results. Attempts to
offsff et cost increases with price increases may reducd e sales, increase customer dissatisfaction or otherwise harm our reputation.
Any of these events could materially affect our business and operating results.

We have significant international operations and sales and we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies that have
adversely impacted our business or results of operations. Although the U.S. dollar is our reporting currency, a large portion of
our expenses, net revenues and net income are generated in forff eign currencies. While we utilize forff ward contracts to moderate
the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on certain assets and liabia lities, our hedging strategies may not be successfulff , and
currency exchange rate fluctuations have and may continue to materially adversely effect our operating results and cash floff ws.
In addition, our foreign currency exposure on assets, liabia lities and cash floff ws that we do not hedge have and could in the future
materially impact our financial results in periods when the U.S. dollar significantly fluctuates in relation to forff eign currencies.

Our business could be impacm ted by gb eopolo itll ictt al events,tt trade and other internatiott nal disdd pus tes, war, and tertt rorismii , or
majoa r public healthll crises..

Political events, trade and other international disputes, war and terrorism, or major public health crises have and could in
the futff urt e harm or disruptu international commerce and the global economy and could materially effeff ct our business as well as
our customers, supplu iers, contract manufactff urt ers, distributors, and other business partners. Such risks include supplu y chain and
trade disruptu ions, tariffsff , trade sanctions or restrictions, boycotts, reducd ed consumer spending, government shut downs, or
cyberattacks, energy shortages or power outages, energy rationing that adversely impacts our manufactff urt ing facff ilities, rising
fuel or rising costs of producing, procuring and shipping our products, constraints, volatility or disruptr ion in the financial
markets, deaths or injun ries to our employees, restrictions and shortages of food,ff water, shelter, and medical supplu ies,
telecommunications failures or destruction of property.

Tariffs, such as those on Chinese goods, and responses to the tariffsff may increase the cost of our products and the
components and raw materials used to make them. Increased costs could adversely impact our gross margin and reduce demand
for our products. Countries may also adopt other measures, such as controls on the import or export of goods, technology or
data, that would adversely impact our operations and supply chains or limit our ability to offer products and services. These
measures could require us to take various actions, including changing supplu iers or restructurt ing business relationships.
Complying with new or changed trade restrictions is expensive, time-consuming and disruptr ive to our operations. Such
restrictions can be announced with little or no advance notice and we may be unabla e to effectively mitigate any adverse
impacts.

Political events, trade and other international disputes, war, terrorism, or major public health crises involving key
commercial, development or manufactff urt ing markets such as China, Mexico, Israel, Europe, or other countries have and could
again materially impact our international operations. hTh ie impact to us, our em lpl yoyees andd customers wo luld bd be uncertaiin,
ppartiic lularlyly ifif emerggencyy ciircumstances, arm ded conflilicff ts or an es lcalatiio in in p loli iitic lal iinst babilityility or ivi lolence, or ivirall out b-bre kaks
didisruptr our pr doduc dt dev lelopment, ddata or iinformatiion exchha gnge, p yayrollll or bba kinki gng opera itions, prodduct or materiialls hshiip ipi gng byby
us or our su lpplu iiers. Our iinternatiion opera itions wo luldd alls bo b ie impact ded byby othher unantiiciipat ded bbusiines ds diisruptu iions,
interruptu ions and limitations in telecommunication services or critical systems or appla ications reliant on a stabla e and
uninterruptu ed communications infrastructurt e.

iMililita yry conflilicff ts and gd gllobball pandde imics hhave mate iri lallyly dadvers lely iy impactedd our glgl boball economiies. For example, our
commercial operations in Russia were impacted by the confliff ct in Ukraine and we were affeff cted by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Our iTero operations, headquartered in Israel, are close to areas that have been affeff cted by ongoing violence and military action
in the Middle East and this may impact our employees as well as our iTero business. Some employees and consultants in Israel
have been called forff military service in the current confliff ct in the Middle East and they may be absa ent forff an unknown period of
time. Furthermore, our facility may be damaged or supplu y chains impaired as a result of hostilities which could disruptu ongoing
operations and impact our financial results. The confliff ct in the Middle East may materially impact the timing and cost of
shipping of our products, our ability to operate out of Israel, or lead to sanctions or boycotts which could impact our sales and
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revenues. Additionally, the recent election in Taiwan and China’s territorial confliff cts with other neighboring countries may
impact our operations and sales in China. We cannot predict the progress or outcome of these events or the reactions by
governments, businesses or consumers but they could materially adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our opeo rations may ba e impii acted by nb atural disaii stertt s,rr which may become more frequent or severe as a result of climall te
change, ae nd may aa dverserr ly impacm t our busineii ss and opeo ratingii results as well as those of oo ur customtt ers arr nd supplu iell rs.

Natural disasters can impact our operations as well as those of our customers and supplu iers. Naturt al disasters include
earthquakes, tsunamis, floff ods, droughts, hurricanes, wildfirff es, and extreme weather conditions that cause deaths, injuries, and
critical health crises, power outages, property damage restrictions and shortages of fooff d, water, shelter, and medical supplu ies,
telecommunications failures, materials scarcity, price volatility and other ramificff ations. Climate change is likely to increase the
frequency and severity of natural disasters and, consequently, the risks to our operations and finff ancial results. Our digital dental
modeling and certain of our customer facing operations are primarily processed in our facilities in Costa Rica, our iTero
scanners are primarily manufacff tured in China and Israel, and our aligner molds and finff ished aligners are fabff ricated in China,
Mexico and Poland. These zones are susceptible to natural disasters and their indirect effeff cts. If a naturt al disaster occurs in a
region where one of these facff ilities or those of our customers or suppliers are located, our employees could be impacted,
research lost, and ability to create treatment plans, respond to customer inquiries or manufactff urt e and ship our aligners or
intraoral scanners could be compromised, causing significant product and services delays.

The effects of climate change on regional and global economies could change the supply, demand or availabia lity of sources
of energy or other resources material to our products and operations and affect the availabia lity or cost of natural resources and
goods and services on which we and our supplu iers rely.

Business and Industry Risks

Demand for our products mtt ay not incii rease or may decrease due to rtt esistance to ntt on-tratt ditioii nal trett atmett nt methods,s
which could have a matertt ial impii act on our busineii ss and opeo rating resultsll .

Our products require our customers to change from traditional treatment methods. For example, Invisalign treatment is a
significant change from traditional orthodontic metal wires and brackets, and customers and consumers may not find it cost-
effeff ctive or preferabla e. A number of dental professionals believe Invisalign treatment is only appra opriate for a limited
percentage of patients. Additionally, our clear aligners and iTero products utilize digital technology and some dental
profesff sionals have been and may continue to resist moving to a digital platform. Increased acceptance of our products depends
in part on the recommendations of dental profesff sionals, as well as other factors including effiff cacy, safetff y, ease of use,
reliabia lity, aesthetics and price compared to competing products and treatment methods. If demand forff our products fails to
increase, or decreases, our business, including our financial and operating results, may be harmed.

Our net revenues depdd end primaii rilyii on our InvII isaligll n sgg yss tem and iTerTT o scanners and decdd lines in sales or averagea sellingii
price of to hett se products mtt ay adverserr ly affeff ct net revenues, gross margir n aii nd net incii ome.

Our net revenues remain largely dependent on sales of our Invisalign system of clear aligners and id iTero iintraorall scanners.
Of hthe two, we expect hthe Inviis laligign syystem wililll contiinue to account for thhe majojoa iri yty of our net revenues, makiki gng hthe
widespread acceptance of the Invisalign system by orthodontists, GPs and consumers critical to our success.

The average selling prices of our products, particularly the Invisalign system, are influff enced by numerous factors,
including the type and timing of products sold (particularly the timing of orders forff additional clear aligners for certain
Invisalign products) and foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, we sell a number of products at different list prices which
may diffeff r based on country. Our average selling prices forff our Invisalign system and iTero scanners have been impacted in the
past and may be adversely affected in the futff urt e if:

• we introduce new promotions, change existing promotions, or offer general or volume-based discount programs,
product or services bundles, large account sales or consumer rebate programs;

• participation in promotions or programs unexpectedly increases, decreases or changes demand in material ways;
• our geographic, channel or product mix shiftsff to lower priced products or to products with a higher percentage of

deferred revenue;
• we decrease prices on one or more products or services in response to increasing competitive pricing pressures;
• we introduce new or change existing products or services, or modify how we market or sell any of our new or existing

products or services;
• governments impose pricing regulations such as volume-based procurement regulations in China; or
• estimates used in the calculation of deferff red revenue differ froff m actuat l average selling prices.

To stimulate product and services demand, we have a history of offeff ring volume discounts, price reducd tions and other
promotions to targeted customers and consumers and releasing lower priced products. These promotional campaigns and lower
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priced products have had, and may in the futff urt e have, unexpected and unintended consequences, including reduced gross
margins, profitaff bia lity and average selling prices, net revenues, volume growth, and net income.

Competitiott n in tii hett markets ftt orff our products itt s iii ncii reasing and we expexx ct aggressive competitiott n froff m exiee stii intt g
competitott rs, othett r compam nies that introduce new tectt hnologio es or products itt n tii hett future and customers who alone or withii
othett rs create orthodontic appliall nces and solutiott ns or othett r products ott r services that compete wtt ith us.

The dental industry irr s experiencing immense and rapia d digital transforff mation. While solutions such as our Invisalign
system, iTero scanners and CAD/CAM software facilitate this transition, we face competition froff m companies that also seek to
introduce new technologies and products and companies that remain dedicated to conventional products. We may be unabla e to
compete with these competitors or they may render our technology or products obsolete or economically unattractive.

The number and types of competitors are diverse and growing rapia dly. The Invisalign system competes primarily with
traditional metal wires and brackets and increasingly against clear aligners which are manufactff urt ed and distributed by new and
existing market entrants, including traditional medical device companies, labora atories, startupsu and, in some cases, doctors and
Dental Supporu t Organizations (“DSOs”). Our competitors also include DTC companies that provide clear aligners using a
remote business model requiring little or no in-office care from trained and licensed doctors, and doctors and DSOs who
manufactff urt e custom aligners in their offiff ces using 3D printing technology. Large consumer product companies may also start
supplu ying orthodontic products. Orthodontists, GPs and DSOs have and may continue to sample competitive and alternative
products and take advantage of competitive promotions and sale opportunities.

Our iTero scanners are also faciff ng increased competition. iTero scanners compete with polyvinyl siloxane (“PVS”)
impressions and numerous new or existing intraoral scanners. They also compete with traditional bite wing 2D dental x-rays for
detecting interprrr oximal caries.

If we are unabla e to compete effeff ctively with existing products, existing competitors, new market entrants, or respond
effeff ctively to new technologies, our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition could be materially impacted.

Our success depdd ends on our abilityii to successfulff lyll develop,o introduce, achieve market acceptance of,o and manage new
products att nd services.

Our success depends on our ability to quickly and profitabla y develop, manufactff urt e, market, obtain and maintain regulatoryrr
approval or clearance of new products and services along with improvements to existing products and services. We cannot
assure successfulff development, sales or acceptance of our new or improved products and services. The extent and rate at which
new products or services achieve market acceptance and penetration is a function of many variabla es, including our ability to:

• successf lulff lyly pr dediict, itimelyly iinnovate and dd dev lelop new t hech lnologiogies, a lppla iicatiions andd prodducts preferff red bd byy customers
andd consumers thha ht have feaff tures a dnd func itionalilityy to meet thhe ne deds of patiients;

• successf lulff lyly, a dnd iin ta imely fasff hion, obtain regulatory arr ppra oval or clearance of new and improved products or
services from government agencies such as the FDA and analogous agencies in other countries;

• cost-effectiiv lelyy a dnd effififf icien ltly dy dev lelop, manufactff urt e, qualilityy test, ma krket d, diispose of, andd s lelll new or iimprovedd
ppr doducts andd ser ivices offeff iri gngs i, inclludidi gng llo lcaliiz ded versiions fo ir interna itionall markkets;

• properly forff ecast the amount and timing of new or improved product and services demand;
• lalllocate our resear hch and dd dev lelopment f diundiff gng to pr doducts andd ser ivices iwi hth hihigheghe gr growthh prospects;
• ensure hthe compa ibtibiliili yty of our te hch lnol gyogy, serviices andd syystems iwi hth hthose of our customers;
• an iticiipate a dnd ra ipia dldly iy innovate iin response to new competiitiive prodducts andd ser ivices offeff iri gngs andd t hech lnologiogies;
• didifferentiiate our pr doducts andd ser ivices from our competiitors as wellll as othher prodducts andd ser ivices iin our own portf lolff iio

andd successf lulff lyly ar iticullate hth be benefiitsff to our customers;
• manage the impact of nationalism or initiatives encouraging consumer purchases from domestic vendors;
• qualiflifyy fff orff hthiirdd-partyy r iei bmbursement for pro dcedurd es iin lvol ivi gng our pr doducts or serviices;
• offer attractive and competitive service and subsu cription plans;
• encour gage customers to dadopt new t hech lnologiogies andd pro ividde hthe n deed ded te hch ini lcal, s lales andd markke itingg support to m kake

new prodduct a dnd serviices llaunchhes successf lulff ; andnd
• source and receive quality raw materials or parts from our supplu iers.

If we fail to accurately predict the needs and preferff ences of customers and their patients, or fail to offeff r viabla e producd ts or
services, we may invest heavily in research and development that does not lead to significant revenues. Even if we successfulff ly
innovate and develop new products and product improvements, we may incur subsu tantial costs doing so and our profitabia lity
may suffeff r. Introduction and acceptance of any products and services may take significant time and effort, particularly if they
require doctor education and training to understand their benefitsff or doctors choose to withhold judgment on a product until
patients complete their treatments.
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In addition, we periodically introducd e new business and sales initiatives to meet customers’ needs and demands. In general,
our internal resources support these initiatives without clear indications they will prove successfulff or be without short-term
execution challenges. Should these initiatives fail, our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition could be materially
impacted.

We may ia nvii est in oii r acquireii othett r businesses, products,tt technologio es, os r other assets which may require signigg fii cant
managea ment attett ntiott n, disruii ptu our business, diluii te stoctt kholdell r value and adverserr ly affeff ct our resultsll of operations.

Periodically, we have and may in the future acquire, or make investments in, companies, technologies, or other assets.
Alternatively, we may be unabla e to finff d suitabla e investment or acquisition opportunities or be unabla e to complete investments
or acquisitions on favorable terms. If we make investments or complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our
competitive position or achieve desired synergies, and investments or acquisitions we complete could be viewed negatively by
our customers, securities analysts and investors. Opposition to acquisitions may lead to negative ratings by analysts or
investors, give rise to stockholder objections or result in stockholder activism, any of which could disruptu our operations or
harm our stock price. Moreover, to the extent we make strategic investments, the companies in which we invest may faiff l or we
may ultimately own less than a majoa rity of the outstanding shares of the company and be unabla e to control or have significant
influence over critical issues that could harm the value of our investment.

As an organization we do not have a history of significant acquisitions or integrating their operations and cultures with our
own. As such, we are subju ect to various risks when making a strategic investment or acquisition which could materially impact
our business or results of operations, including that we may:

• faiff l to perform proper dued diligence and inherit unexpected material issues or assets, including intellectuat l property
(“IP”) or other litigation or ongoing investigations, accounting irregularities or compliance liabia lities;

• faiff l to comply with regulations, governmental orders or decrees;
• experience IT security and privacy compliance issues;
• invest in companies that generate net losses or are slow or fail to develop;
• not realize a positive returt n on investment or determine that our investments have declined in value, necessitating we

record impairments such as future impairments of intangible assets and goodwill;
• have to pay cash, incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for an acquisition, adversely affecting our liquidity,

financial condition or the value of our common stock. The sale of equity or issuance of debt to finance any acquisition
could result in dilution to our stockholders. The occurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations
and could also include covenants or other restrictions that impede our ability to manage our operations;

• finff d it diffiff cult to implement and harmonize company-wide financial reporting, forecasting and budgeting, accounting,
billing, IT and other systems dued to inconsistencies in standards, internal controls, procedurd es and policies;

• require significant time and resources to effeff ctuat te the integration;
• faiff l to retain key personnel or harm our existing culture or the culture of an acquired entity;
• not realize material portions of the expected synergies and benefits of the investment or acquisition; or
• unsuccessfulff ly evaluate or utilize the acquired technology or acquired company’s know-how or fail to successfulff ly

integrate the technologies acquired.

Operational Risks

Our opeo rating resultsll have and will cll ontinuii e to ftt luff ctuate in the futff ure, which makes predictintt g thett timing and amount
of customtt er demand, odd ur revenues, costs att nd expexx nditdd ures diffii cult.

Our quarterly and annual operating results have and will continue to fluctuate forff a variety of reasons. Some of the factors
that have historically, and could in the future, cause our operating results to fluctuate include:

• changes in consumer and doctor demand;
• hihighegher manufacff tu iri gng, ddelilive yry and id invento yry costs;
• hthe crediditwor hthiiness, liliq iuididi yty andd s lolvencyy of our customers a dnd hth ieir abibia litylity to itimelyly makke payyments hwhen ddue;
• hchangge is in thhe itimiingg of revenue recognigni ition a dnd our aver gage s lellilingg p irices;
• seasonal fl fllufff ctuat itions;
• improvements to or changes in our producd ts, capabilities or technologies that replace or shorten the life cycles of

legacy products or cause customers to deferff or stop purchasing legacy products until new products become availabla e;
• longer customer payment cycles and greater difficulty in accounts receivabla e collection;
• costs a dnd expe dinditures, iin lcl diudi gng iin connectiion wiithh new treatment lplan ini gng and fd f babfff iricatiion facff ilili iities, hth he hiiriingg a dnd

dde lpl yoyment of personnell a dnd lilitigtigatiion;
• the timing of clear aligner treatment order submission, acceptance, processing and fulff fillment, which can cause

fluctuations in our backlog; and
• i itimi gng and fd fllufff ctuat ition of spendidi gng ar dound ma krketiingg a dnd bbrandd awareness campaigigns and id i dndustryy trr radde hshows.
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If we underestimate product demand, it may exceed our manufactff urt ing capacity or that of one or more of our supplu iers, we
may be understaffed and we may not have sufficient materials for production. Specifically, our manufactff urt ing process relies on
sophisticated computer software and requires new technicians to undergo a long training process, ofteff n 120 days or longer. As a
result, if we fail to accurately predict demand, we may have an insuffiff cient number of trained technicians to timely manufacff ture
and deliver products to meet customers’ expectations, which could damage our relationships with our existing customers or
harm our ability to attract new customers. Specifically, production levels forff our iTero scanners are generally set based on
forecasts and historic product demand and we ofteff n place orders with supplu iers for materials, components and sub-u assemblies
(“materials and components”) as well as finff ished products weeks or more in advance of projeo cted customer orders.

Conversely, if we overestimate customer demand, we may have excessive staffiff ng, materials, components and finished
products, or capacity. If we hire and train too many technicians in anticipation of demand that does not materialize or
materializes slower than anticipated, our costs and expenditures may outpat ce our revenues or revenue growth, harming our
gross margin and financial results. Additionally, to secure supplu ies forff production of products, we periodically enter into non-
cancelable minimum purchase commitments with vendors, which could impact our ability to adjud st inventory frr orff declining
demand. If product demand decreases or increases more than forecast, we may be required to purchase or lease additional or
larger facilities and additional equipment, or we may be unabla e to timely fulfillff customer demand. Responding to unanticipated
changes in demand may take time, lower our gross margin, inhibit sales or harm our reputation.

We may make business decisions that adversely affect our operating results such as modifications to our pricing policies
and payment terms, promotions, development efforts, producd t releases, business strucr ture or operations. Most of our expenses,
such as employee compensation and lease obligations, are relatively fixed in the short term. Moreover, our expense levels are
based, in part, on our expectations for futff urt e revenues. As a result, if our net revenues forff a particular period are below
expectations, we may be unabla e to timely or effeff ctively reducd e spending to offsff et any net revenues shortfalff l.

We are subjeb ct to operatingii riskii s,kk includindd g excee ess or constratt ined capaca ity and opeo rational ineii ffie ciencies, ws hich couldll
adverserr ly affeff ct our resultsll of operations.

We are subject to operating risks, including excess or constrained capacity and pressure on our internal systems, personnel
and suppliers. To manage current and anticipated future operations effeff ctively, we must continually implement and improve our
operational, financial and management information systems, hire, train, motivate, manage and retain employees, and ensure our
supplu iers remain diverse and capable of meeting demand forff the systems, raw materials, parts and components essential to
product manufactff urt ing and delivery.rr We may faiff l to balance near-term efforts to meet existing demand with futurt e demand,
including adding personnel, creating scalable, secure and robust systems and operations, and automating processes forff long
term effiff ciencies. Production of our Invisalign system and iTero scanners could also be limited by capacity constraints dued to a
variety of factff ors, including labora shortages, shipping delays, our dependency on third-party vendors forff key materials, parts,
components and equipment, and limited production yields. Any such faiff lure could materially impact our business, operations
and prospects.

Additionally, we have established treatment planning and manufactff urt ing faciff lities closer to our international customers to
provide better experiences, create efficiencies, and provide redundancy should other facilities become unavailabla e. If a faciff lity
is temporarily, partially or fully shut down, we may be unabla e to timely fulfillff orders, which may negatively impact our
financial results, reputation and overall business.

Our products att nd IT systemtt s are critical to our business. Issues withii product developmll ent or enhancements, Is T syss tem
and softwff are intii egtt ration, implm emll entation, updatestt and upgru ades have previously all nd could all gaia n iii n tii hett future disruii ptu our
operations and have a material impact on our busineii ss, our reputattt iott n and operating resultsll .

We rely on the efficient, uninterruptu ed and secure operation of our complex IT systems and are dependent on key third
party softwff are embedded in our products and IT systems as well as third-party hosted IT systems to supporu t our operations. All
software and IT systems are vulnerabla e to damage, cybersecurity attacks or interruptu ion froff m a variety of sources. To
effeff ctively manage and improve our operations, our IT systems and applications require an ongoing commitment of significant
expenditures and resources to maintain, protect, upgru ade, enhance and restore existing systems and develop new systems to
keep pace with continuing changes in inforff mation processing technology, evolving industry arr nd regulatory srr tandards,
increasingly sophisticated cybersecurity threats, and changing customer preferff ences. Usage of online and hosted technology
platforms by us, our customers and supplu iers, including remote working, teledentistry arr nd new or expanded use of online
service platforff ms, products and solutions such as doctor, consumer and patient apps have increased the demands on and risks to
our IT systems and personnel. Moreover, we continue to transforff m certain business processes, extend establa ished processes to
new subsidiaries and/or implement additional funff ctionality in our enterprise resource planning, product development,
manufactff urt ing, and other software and IT systems which entails certain risks, including disruptr ion of our operations, such as
our abia lity to develop and updau te products that are safe aff nd secure, track orders and timely ship products, manage our supplu y
chain and aggregate finff ancial and operational data. Failure to adequately protect and maintain the integrity of our producd ts and
our IT systems and those of our supplu iers and customers may materially impact our financial position, results of operations and
cash floff ws.
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We have a complex, global iTero scanner installed base of older and newer models. These models are continually updau ted
to add, expand or improve featurt es with new hardware, or to provide repair or replacement parts. We have experienced
hardware issues in the past and may in the future, including issues relating to manufactff urt ing, design, quality, or safetff y, of which
we become aware only after products or changes have been introduced into the market. We also have not been and may
continue to be unabla e to ensure that third party components or changes to them will be compatible with, or will not have a
negative impact on the funcff tionality of, off ur iTero scanners. As a result, there have been and may be widespread failures of our
iTero scanners or we may experience epidemic failures of our iTero scanners to perform as anticipated. Previously, we have not
been and in the future may not be prepared for, or have the infraff structurt e to, timely and adequately remediate or implement
corrective measures for such faiff lures, including due to our dependency on third party providers or supplu iers. Consequently, any
remediation may be time-consuming and difficult to achieve, which may materially impact our customers and business partners,
damage our reputation and result in lost business and revenue opportunities, and could be materially costly.

A significant portion of our clear aligner production is dependent on digital scans froff m our globally dispersed and
decentralized installed base of iTero and third-party intraoral scanners. Failures of all or any portion of our or third-party
software or other components or systems to interoperate with iTero or third-party scanners, termination of interoperability with
third-party scanners, malware or ransomware attacks, producd t or system vulnerabia lities or defectff s, interference or disruptu ions
for us, our customers, labsa or other business partners in the use of our products or the transmission or processing of data needed
for the use or ordering of our products, or a system outage forff any reason have harmed our operations previously and in the
future could materially and adversely affect our ability to accept scans, manufactff urt e clear aligners or restorative procedures or
treatments and services or otherwise service our customers. Any of these events harm our sales, damage our reputation,
adversely impact our strategic partners or result in litigation.

Additionally, we continuously upgrade and issue new releases of software applications upon which customer facff ing
manufactff urt ing and treatment planning operations depend. Software applications and products containing software frequently
contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or released. Additionally, the third-party softwff are integrated into or
interoperabla e with our products and services will routinely reach end of life,ff and as a consequence, certain applications and
models of our iTero scanners may be exposed to additional vulnerabia lities, including increased security risks, errors and
malfuncff tions that may be irreparable or difficult to repair. The discovery of a defectff , error or security vulnerabia lity in our
products, softwff are appla ications or IT systems, incompatibility with customers’ computer operating systems and hardware
configff urations with a new release or upgru aded version or the failure of our products or primary IT systems may cause adverse
consequences, including delay or loss of revenues, significant remediation costs, delay in market acceptance, loss of data,
disclosure of financial, health or other personal inforff mation of our customers or their patients, product recalls, damage to our
reputation, loss of market share or increased service costs, any of which could have a material effect on our business, financial
condition or results of our operations and the operations of our customers or our business partners.

We are highlgg y dll epdd endent on third-par- ty suppu liers,rr some of whom are sole sll ource supplpp iell rs, for certain key me achineii s,
components and matertt ials, as nd our business and operatingii results could bll e harmerr d if si upplpp y ill s rii estricted or ends,dd or if the
price of ro aw materials ull sed in oii ur manufacff turingii process incii reases.

We are highly dependent on our supplu y chain, particularly manufactff urt ers of specialized scanning equipment, rapia d
prototyping machines, resin and other advanced materials, as well as the optics, electronic and other mechanical components of
our iTero scanners. We maintain single supply relationships for many of these machines and materials. By using single
supplu iers in limited locations for materials and manufactff urt ing, we are exposed to multiple supplu y chain vulnerabia lities.

Because of our dependence on our supplu iers, changes in key relationships can materially disruptr our supplu y chain. For
instance, we may be unabla e to quickly establa ish or qualify rff eplacement suppliers creating production interruptu ions, delays and
ineffiff ciencies. Finding subsu titute manufactff urt ers may be expensive, time-consuming or impossible and could result in significant
interruptu ions in the supply of one or more products, product retesting or additional product registration causing us to lose
revenues and damage customer relationships. Technology changes by our service providers, vendors, and other third parties
could disruptu access to required manufactff urt ing capacity or require expensive, time-consuming development efforts to adapta and
integrate new equipment or processes. In the event of technology changes, delivery drr elays, labora stoppages or shortages, or
shortages of, or increases in price for these items, sales may decrease and our business and prospects may be harmed.

We use disdd tributortt s frr orff a portion of to hett importation, marketintt g and sales of oo ur products att nd services, ws hich exposxx es us
to riskii s tkk o ott ur sales, operations and repuee tation, includindd g thett riskii that these disdd tributortt s drr o ndd ot comply withii applicll able lll awll s
or our intii ertt nal procedures.

In addition to our direct sales forff ce, we have and expect to continue to use distributors to import, market, sell, service and
supporu t our products. Our distribution agreements are generally non-exclusive and terminable by either party with customary
notice. If alternative distributors cannot be quickly found and trained in the use, marketing, sales and supporu t of our products
and services, our revenues and ability to sell or service our products in key markets could be adversely affecff ted. These
distributors may also choose to sell alternative or competing products or services. In addition, we may be held responsible for
the actions of these distributors and their employees and agents forff compliance with laws and regulations, including fair
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competition, bribery arr nd corruptu ion, trade compliance, safety, data privacy and marketing and sales activities. The conduct of
these distributors also impacts our reputation and our brand. If our distributors faiff l to satisfy customers, our reputation and
brand loyalty could be harmed. A distributor may also affect our ability to effeff ctively market our products in certain foreff ign
countries or regulatory jrr urisdictions if it holds the regulatory arr uthorization in such countries or within such regions and causes,
by action or inaction, the suspension of such marketing authorization or sanctions for non-compliance or prevents us fromff
taking control of any such authorization. It may be diffiff cult, expensive, and time-consuming forff us to re-establish market access
or regulatory crr ompliance.

A disdd ruptu iott n inii the opeo rations of a primaii ry freighi t carrier, hr ighegg r shippiii ngii costs ott r shippiii ngii delaysa could dll isdd ruptu our
supplu y cll hain and impii act our operatintt g and finaii ncial resultsll .

We are dependent on commercial freight carriers, primarily UPS, to deliver our products. If the operations of carriers are
disruptr ed or we fail to mitigate any disruptr ions, we may be unabla e to timely deliver products to our customers who may choose
alternative products, causing our net revenues and gross margin to decline, possibly materially. Moreover, when fuel costs
increase, our freight costs generally do so as well. In addition, we earn an increasingly larger portion of our total revenues froff m
international sales, which carry higher shipping costs that negatively impact our gross margin and results of operations. If
freight costs materially increase and we are unabla e to successfulff ly pass all or significant portions of the increases along to our
customers, or we cannot otherwise offset such increases, our gross margin and financial results could be materially affeff cted.

Our success depdd ends on our persorr nnel. If we cannot attract, motivate,tt train oii r retaitt n pii ersorr nnel, it may ba e difdd fiff cult to
achieve our strategtt ic prioritiii es, ms atertt ially effeff ctintt g our results of operations.

We are highly dependent on the talent and effoff rts of our personnel. We strive to retain our personnel by providing
competitive compensation and benefits, development opportunities and training, flexible work options, and an inclusive
corporate culture. However, competition forff highly-skilled personnel is intense, particularly technical and digital talent, and our
competitors have and are likely to continue to recruir t our personnel. Our compensation and benefit arrangements may not
successfulff ly attract new employees, retain or mo itivate exiis itingg emplloyyees. In addiddi ition, othhe ir internall a dnd extern lal factors can
iimpact our babilityility to hihire andd ret iain t lalent, iin lcl diudi gng iinsuffiffi icient addvancement or career opportu ini ities a dnd rest irictiive
immigimmigra ition p loliiciie .s The loss of any key personnel, particularly executive management, research and development personnel
or sales personnel, could harm our business and prospects and impede the achievement of our research and development,
operational or strategic objectives.

We provide significant training to our personnel and our business will be harmed if our training fails to properly prepare
them to perform the work required, we are unabla e to successfulff ly instill technical expertise in new and existing personnel or if
our techniques prove unsuccessfulff or are not cost-effecff tive. Moreover, for certain roles, this training and experience can make
key personnel, such as our sales personnel, highly desirable to competitors and lead to increased attrition. It can take up tu o
twelve months or more to train sales representatives to successfulff ly market and sell our products and forff them to establa ish
strong customer relationships. The loss of the services and knowledge of our highly-skilled employees may significantly delay
or prevent the achievement of our development and business objectives.

Additionally, seamless leadership transitions for key positions is critical to sustaining our culture and organizational
success. If our succession planning is ineffeff ctive, it could adversely impact our business. We continue to assess key personnel
we believe essential to our long-term success. Moreover, future organizational changes may cause employee attrition rates to
increase. If we fail to effeff ctively manage any organizational or strategic changes, our financial condition, results of operations,
and reputation, as well as our ability to successfulff ly attract, motivate and retain key employees, may be harmed.

We have adopted a hybrid work schedule in many of our offiff ces, allowing employees to collabora ate and connect with
others several days each week while providing the option to work remotely other days. This hybrid work approach may create
challenges with maintaining our corporate culture, employee satisfaction and hiring, promotion, and retention.

We believe a key to our success has been the culture we have created that emphasizes a shared vision and values focusing
on agility, customer success and accountability. We have experienced and may continue to experience in the futff urt e, difficff ulties
attracting and retaining employees that meet the qualificff ations, experience, compliance mindset and values we expect. If we
cannot attract and retain personnel that meet our selection criteria or relax our standards, our corporate culture, abia lity to
achieve our strategic objectives, and our compliance with obligations under our internal controls and other requirements may be
harmed. hThiis co luld hd have a mate iri lal dadverse effecff t on our resullts of opera itions and our ability to maintain market share.

We have employees represented by works councils in certain countries and others that may be or may become eligible to be
represented by works councils, trade unions and other employee associations. Labor disputes and work stoppages involving our
employees may disruptu our operations and could materially impact our results or operations.

We depeee nd on our markerr ting activtt ities to dtt eepdd en our markerr t penetratt tion and raise awareness of our brands add nd
products,tt which may prove unsuccessfulff or may ba ecome less effeff ctivtt e or more costly to maintain in the lonll g tertt m.rr
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Our marketing efforts and costs are significant and include national and regional campaigns in multiple countries involving
television, print and social media and alliances with profesff sional sports teams, social media influff encers and other strategic
partners. There is no assurance our advertising campaigns will achieve the returt ns on advertising spend desired, increase brand
or product awareness sufficiently or generate goodwill and positive reputational goals. Moreover, should any entity or
individual endorsing us or our products take actions, make or publish statements in support of, or lend supportu to events or
causes which are perceived by a portion of society negatively, our sponsorships or support of these entities or individuals may
be questioned, our products boycotted, and our reputation harmed, any of which could materially effeff ct our financial results and
business overall.

In addition, various countries prohibit certain types of marketing activities. For example, some countries restrict direct to
consumer advertising of medical devices. We have in the past and may again in the future be alleged to violate marketing
restrictions and be ordered to stop certain marketing activities or prevented from selling our products. Moreover, competitors do
not always folff low these restrictions, creating an unfaiff r advantage and making it more difficult and costly to compete.

Additionally, we rely heavily on data generated froff m our campaigns to target specific audiences and evaluate their
effeff ctiveness, particularly data generated froff m internet activities on mobile devices. To obtain this data, we are dependent on
third parties and popular mobile operating systems, networks, technologies, products, and standards we do not control, such as
the Android and iOS operating systems, and mobile browsers. Changes in such systems that degrade or eliminate our ability to
target or measure the results of ads or increase costs to target audiences could adversely affect our campaigns. Operating
systems could also include data privacy settings that limit our ability to interpret, target and measure ads effeff ctively.

We have been incorporatintt gg and contintt ue to work to ffurthett r incii orporrr ate att rt fiftt icff ial intii eltt gligll ence ((“(( AI“AI”II )”) intii o ott ur products,tt
sserviices and id intii ertt nall opeo ra itions. Im lplm emll enta ition ofof AAI andd machihineii llear ini gngii te hchnollogigio es mayy ra es lul it illl ln liii gegll lal andd
reggue llato yry iri kskiii s,kk repuee ta itional hl harm orr hr have o hther dadverserr consequences to ott ur bbu isineii ss.

We have and are continuing to incorporate AI, including machine learning and independent algorithms, in certain of our
products, services and internal operations, which is intended to enhance their operation and effeff ctiveness internally and forff our
customers, supplu iers and consumers. AI innovation presents risks and challenges that could impact our business. Our, or
vendors’, AI algorithms may be flawed. Our datasets or AI training algorithms may be insuffiff cient or contain biased
information. Additionally, many countries and regions, including the EU, have proposed new and evolving regulations related
to the use of AI and machine learning technologies. The regulations may impose onerous obligations and may require us to
unexpectedly rework or reevaluate improvements to be compliant. Use of AI technologies may expose us to an increased risk of
regulatory err nforff cement and litigation. Moreover, some of the AI featff urt es involve the processing of personal data and may be
subju ect to laws, policies, legal obligations, and codes of conduct related to privacy and data protection. AI ddevellopment a dnd
dde lpl yoyment practiices co luldd subjubject us to competi iitiv he harm, regulgulatoryy err nforff cement, iincreas ded ycybbersecu iri yty iri ksks, reputatiionall
hharm and ld l geg lal liliabibia lili yty.

Legal, Regulatory and Compliance Risks

We are subjeb ct to antitrutt st and compem tition regulatll iott ns, ls itill gati iott n and enfon rcement thatt t may result in fineii s, penaltiett s,
restritt ctiott ns on our business practictt es, as nd product or operational changes which could mll atertt ially impact our busineii ss.

We currently are and may in the future be subju ect to antitrust, competition or unfaiff r competition related investigations,
enforcement actions or claims by governmental agencies, competitors, consumers, customers, and others which, even if
unfoundeff d, could cause us to incur substantial costs, enter into settlements, consents, be subjeb ct to judgments, involve negative
publicity, and divert management time and attention, which may materially impact our results of operations. Resolving these
matters may require us to change our business practices in materially adverse ways. Governments and regulators are actively
developing new competition laws and regulations aimed at the technology sector, AI and digital platforff ms and coordinating
activities globally, including in large markets such as the EU, U.S., and China. Government regulatory arr ctions and court
decisions may result in finff es or hinder our ability to provide certain benefits to our consumers, reducing the attractiveness of
our products and the revenue derived froff m them. These actions and decisions may also hinder our ability to pursue certain
mergers, acquisitions, business combinations or other transactions.

We are currently subju ect to two antitrusrr t actions with jury trials scheduled to begin on May 13, 2024, and January 21, 2025.
We believe the plaintiffsff ’ claims are without merit in each of these actions, but we will likely incur costs in connection with
these trials and with our defense, and there is a risk that we will be subject to adverse judgments or negative publicity.

Failure to obtaitt n oii r maintii aitt n aii ppra ovals oll r complm y wll ith regue lations regare dingii our products ott r services or those of oo ur
supplu iell rs could mll atertt ially hll arm orr ur sales, result in substantiatt l penaltiell s and fineii s and cause harm trr o ott ur repuee tation.

We and many of our healthcare provider customers, suppliers and distributors are subju ect to extensive and frequently
changing regulations under numerous federal, state, local and foreign laws, including those regulating:

• the storage, transmission and disclosure of personal, financial, and medical information as well as healthcare records;
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• prohibitions against the offeff r, payment or receipt of remuneration to induce referff rals to entities providing healthcare
services or goods or to induce the order, purchase or recommendation of our products; and

• the design, manufacff ture, marketing and advertising of our products.

The healthcare and technology markets are also highly regulated and subject to changing political, economic and regulatoryrr
influences. Global regulators are expanding and changing regulations and guidance forff products, which can limit the potential
benefits of products and cause protracted review timelines for new products. Our critical third-party vendors and service
providers are similarly subject to various regulations. Our failure or the failure of our supplu iers, customers, advertisers and
influencers to strictly adhere to clearances or approvals in the labeling, marketing and sales of our products and services could
subju ect us to claims or litigation, including allegations of false or misleading advertising or violations of laws or regulations,
which may result in costly investigations, finff es, penalties, as well as material judgments, settlements or decrees. We are also
subju ect to complex, new and changing environmental, health and safetff y regulations. There can be no assurance we will
adequately address the business risks associated with the implementation and compliance with such laws and our internal
processes and procedurd es to comply with such laws or that we will be able to take advantage of any resulting business
opportunit ties.

Furthermore, before we can sell a new medical device or market a new use of, or claim forff , an existing product, we
frequently must obtain clearance or approval to do so. For instance, in the U.S., FDA regulations are wide ranging and govern,
among other things, product design, product materials, development, manufactff urt ing and testing, product labeling and product
storage. It takes significant time, effoff rt and expense to obtain and maintain clearances and appra ovals of products and services,
and there is no guarantee we will timely succeed, if at all, in the countries in which we do business. In other countries, the
requirements, time, effort and expense to obtain and maintain clearances may diffeff r materially from those of the FDA.
Moreover, these laws may change, resulting in additional time, expense or loss of market access. If requirements to market our
products or services are delayed, we may be unabla e to offer them in markets we deem important. Additionally, faiff lure to
comply with applicable regulatory rrr equirements could result in enforff cement actions with sanctions including, among other
things, finff es, civil penalties and criminal prosecution. Delays or failures to obtain or maintain regulatory arr ppra ovals, clearances
or to comply with regulatory rrr equirements may materially harm our domestic or international operations, and adversely impact
our business.

We and certain of our third-party vendors must also comply with and adhere to facility registration and product listing
requirements forff Quality System regulations. The FDA enforff ces its Quality System regulations through periodic unannounced
inspections. Failure to satisfacff torily correct an adverse inspection finff ding or to comply with applicable manufacff turing
regulations can result in enforcement actions, or we may be required to finff d alternative manufactff urt ers, which could be a long
and costly process and may cause reputational harm. Enforcement actions by regulators could have a material effectff on our
business.

We are also subject to anti-corruptu ion and anti-bribery (“ABAC”) laws such as the Foreign Corruptu Practices Act
(“FCPA”) and the U.K. Bribery Arr ct of 2010, which generally prohibit payments to forff eign offiff cials forff the purposr e of obtaining
or maintaining business, securing an advantage and directing business to another. To comply with ABAC laws, regulators
require that we maintain accurate books and records and a system of internal accounting controls. Under the FCPA, we may be
held liable for corruptu ion by directors, offiff cers, employees, agents, or other strategic or local partners or representatives.

In addition, while we have policies requiring compliance with applicable laws and regulations and we provide significant
training to foster compliance, our employees, third parties acting on our behalf and customers may not properly adhere to our
policies or appla icable laws or regulations, including the use of certain electronic communications and maintaining accurate
books and records. If our personnel or the personnel of our agents or supplu iers fail to comply with any laws, regulations,
policies or procedurd es, or we faiff l to audit and enforce compliance, our reputation may be harmed, we may lose customers,
revenues, or face regulatory irr nvestigations, actions and finff es.

Securityii breaches, ds atdd a btt reaches, cyberserr curityii attatt cks,kk othett r cybc erserr curityii incidents ott r thett failure to comply withii
privacy,c securityii and datdd a ptt rotectiott n lawll s could materiallyll impact our operations, ps atiett nt care could sll uffeff r, we could bll e
liable fll orff damages, and our busineii ss, operations and reputattt iott n could be harmed.dd

We retain confidff ential customer personal and financial, patient health and our own proprietary information and data
essential to our business operations. We rely on the effeff ctiveness of our IT systems, our policies and contracts and policies of
our third-party vendors and the IT systems of our service providers and other third parties to safegff uard the information and
data. Additionally, our success depends on our healthcare providers, many of whom are individual or small operations with
limited IT experience and inadequate or untested security protocols, to successfulff ly manage data privacy and security
requirements. It is critical that the faciff lities, infrastructurt e and IT systems on which we depend and the products we develop
remain secure and be perceived by the marketplace and our customers as secure. Despite the implementation of security
featurt es in our products and security measures in our IT systems, we and our service providers, third-party vendors, and other
third parties are targeted by or subju ect to physical break-ins, computer viruses and other malicious code, unauthorized or
fraudulent access, programming errors or other technical malfuncff tions, hacking or phishing attacks, malware, ransomware,
employee error or malfeaff sance, cybersecurity attacks, and other breaches of IT systems or similar disruptu ive actions, including
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by organized groups and nation-state actors. For example, we have experienced, and may again experience in the futff urt e,
cybersecurity incidents and unauthorized internal employee exfilff tration of company information.

Further, the freff quency and sophistication of third-party cybersecurity attacks is increasing. Significant service disruptr ions,
breaches in our infrastructurt e and IT systems or other cybersecurity incidents could expose us to litigation or regulatoryrr
investigations, impair our reputation and competitive position, be distracting to management, and require significant time and
resources to address. Legal or regulatory arr ction against us could prevent us from resolving issues quickly or force us to resolve
them in unanticipated ways, cause us to incur significant expense and damages, or result in orders forcing us to cease operations
or modify our business practices in ways that materially limit or restrict the capabilities of our products and services. Concerns
over our privacy practices could adversely affect others’ perception of us and deter customers and patients froff m using our
products. In addition, patient care could suffeff r, and we could be liabla e if our products or IT systems faiff l to timely deliver
accurate and complete inforff mation. We have cybersecurity and other forms of insurance coverage related to a cyber attacks,
breaches, and other incidents or security problems. However, damages and claims arising froff m specific incidents may not be
covered, may exceed the amount of any coverage, and do not cover the time and effort we incur investigating and responding to
any incidents, which may be material. The costs to eliminate, mitigate or recover froff m security problems and cybersecurity
attacks and incidents could be material and, depending on the naturt e and extent of the problem and the networks or products
impacted, may result in network or systems interruptu ions, decreased product sales, or data loss that may have a material impact
on our operations, net revenues and operating results.

Additionally, our iTero scanners sold to customers globally, strategic business partners or other locations may be
independently or collectively the target of cybersecurity incidents or attacks or subject to viruses, bugs, or other similar negative
intruderr rs. Due to the large and growing number of these decentralized devices, we may be unabla e, or not have the capacity,
knowledge, or infraff structurt e, to respond to or remedy a cybersecurity issue in a timely manner, which may cause loss or
damage to us, our customers, or strategic business partners or may cause further malfunctions in, or damage to, our servers,
databaa ses, systems or products and services, loss or damage of our data, interruptu ion or temporary crr essation of our operations,
or an overall negative impact to our business or reputation.

We are also subject to federal, state and foreign laws and regulations respecting the security and privacy of patient
healthcare inforff mation applicable to healthcare providers and their business associates, such as HIPAA, as well as those
relating to privacy, data security, content regulation, and consumer protection. We are subject to various national and regional
data localization or data residency laws, including U.S. state law, the EU General Data Protection Regulation and analogous
laws in China which generally require certain types of data collected within a country be stored and processed only within that
country or approved countries. Other countries are considering similar data localization or data residency laws. We have and
likely will again in the future be required to implement new or expand existing data storage protocols, build new storage
facilities, and/or devote additional resources to comply with such laws, any of which could be costly. We are also subju ect to
data export restrictions and international transfer laws which prohibit or impose conditions upon the transfer of such data. These
laws and regulations are constantly evolving and may be created, interpreted, applied, or amended in ways that adversely affeff ct
our business.

Our business exposee es us to potentt tial liall bilityii for thett qualityll and safetff y ott f oo ur products att nd services, hs ow we advertise
and markerr t thott se products att nd services and how and to wtt hom we sell tll hett m, and we may incur substantt tial expee enses or be
found liable fll orff substantiatt l damdd ages or penaltiell s if wi e are subject to claill msii or litigatiott n.

Our products and services involve an inherent risk of claims concerning their design, materials, manufactff urt e, safety and
performance, how they are marketed and advertised in a complex framework of highly regulated domestic and international
laws and regulations, how we package, bundle or sell them to individual customers or companies, including hospitals and
clinics, and how we train and supporu t doctors, their staffsff and patients who use our products. Moreover, consumer producd ts and
services are routinely subject to claims of false, deceptive or misleading advertising, consumer fraud and unfaiff r business
practices. Additionally, we may be held liabla e if our producd ts or services cause injun ry or are otherwise found unhealthy. If our
products are safe bff ut they are promoted forff use or used in unintended or unexpected ways or for which we have not obtained
clearance (“off-lff abel” usage), we may be investigated, finff ed or have our products or services enjon ined or approvals rescinded or
we may be required to defenff d ourselves in litigation. Although we maintain insurance forff product liabia lity, business practices
and other types of activities we make or offeff r, coverage may not be availabla e on acceptabla e terms, if at all, and may be
insufficient forff actuat l liabia lities. Any claim for product liabia lity, sales, advertising and business practices, regardless of its merit
or eventual outcome, could result in material legal defense costs and damage our reputation, increase our expenses and divert
management’s attention.

Increased focff us on current and anticipatii edtt enviroii nmental, social and governance (“ESGEE ”) laws and scrutintt y on f oo ur
ESG policll ies and practices may ma atertt ially increase our costs, es xposee e us to ltt iall bilityii , ayy dverserr ly impact our repuee tation,
emplm oyll ee retentiott n, williii ngii negg ss of customtt ers arr nd supplu iell rs to do busineii ss withii us and willingness of io nvii estors to invest in uii s.

Our operations are subject to a variety of existing local, regional and global ESG laws and regulations, and we are and may
be required to comply with new, broader, more complex and more costly ESG laws and regulations. Our compliance
obligations span all aspects of our business and operations, including product design and development, materials sourcing and
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other procurement activities, product packaging, product safetff y, energy and naturt al resources usage, facilities design and
utilization, recycling and collection, transportation, disposal activities and workers’ rights.

Environmental regulations related to greenhouse gases, hazardous materials, sustainabia lity and reducd tion of waste are
expected to have an increasingly larger impact on us or our supplu iers. Many U.S. and foreign regulators have or are considering
enacting new or additional disclosure requirements or limits on the emissions of greenhouse gases, including carbonr dioxide
and methane, froff m power generated using fossil fueff ls. The effeff cts of greenhouse gas emission limits on power generation are
subju ect to significant uncertainties, including the timing of new requirements, levels of emissions reductions and the scope and
types of emissions regulated. Additionally, laws on sustainability and waste reduction are increasing and consumers may
demand our products, packaging and operations be more sustainabla e, affeff ct how we manufactff urt e and package our producd ts,
increase our costs and those of our supplu iers, and which may result in manufactff urt ing, transportation and supplu y chain
disruptr ions if clean energy or sustainabla e alternatives are not readily availabla e in adequate amounts when required. Moreover,
alternative clean energy sources, coupled with reduced investments in traditional energy production and infrastructurt e, may not
provide the predictable, reliabla e, and consistent energy that we, our supplu iers and other businesses require.

Additionally, the sourcing and availabia lity of metals used in the manufactff urt e of, or contained in, our products may be
affeff cted by laws and regulations governing the use of minerals obtained froff m certain regions of the world like the Democratic
Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. Although we do not believe we source minerals froff m this region, our expanding
geographic operations may increase the risk of purchasing “conflicff t minerals” and our effoff rts to identify wff hether any of our
products contain minerals impacted by these laws and regulations may not be adequate or complete. Other restrictions apply to
the substances incorporated into our products, including the chemical compounds in our clear aligners, the electronics in our
iTero scanners, and the packaging in which they are shipped. These laws are proliferff ating and new substances subju ect to
restrictions are regularly being added each year. We may be forced to re-design our products or identify nff ew supplu iers to
maintain our compliance with these laws. Further, these laws and regulations may decrease the number of suppliers capaa bla e of
supplu ying our needs, thereby negatively affecting our ability to manufactff urt e products in sufficient quantities at competitive
prices, leading customers to potentially choose competitive goods and services.

Meeting our obligations under existing ESG laws and regulations is costly for us and our supplu iers, and we expect these
regulations and costs to increase materially. Additionally, regulators may perform investigations, inspections and periodically
audit our compliance with these laws and regulations, and we cannot be sure our effoff rts or operations will be compliant. If we
fail to comply with any requirements, we could be subjeb ct to significant penalties or liabia lities and we may be required to
implement new and materially more costly processes and procedurd es. Even if we successfulff ly comply with these laws and
regulations, our supplu iers may not. We may also sufferff financial and reputational harm if customers require, and we are unabla e
to deliver, certificff ation that our products are complaint. In all of these situat tions, customers may stop purchasing products from
us, and may take legal action against us, which could harm our reputation, revenues and results of operations.

Investor advocacy groups, institutional investors, investment funds, proxy advisory services, stockholders, and customers
are also increasingly focff used on corporate ESG practices. Additionally, public interest and legislative pressure related to
companies’ ESG practices continues to grow. If our ESG practices fail to meet investor or other industry srr takeholders’
frequently evolving expectations and standards, our brand, reputation and employee retention may be harmed, customers and
supplu iers may be unwilling to do business with us and investors may be unwilling to invest in us. If we faiff l to adopt ESG
standards or practices as quickly as stakeholders desire, comply with or timely report on our ESG efforff ts or practices
accurately, or satisfy the disclosure and other expectations of stakeholders, our reputation, business, financial performance,
growth, and stock price may be adversely impacted.

Intellectual Property Risks

Our success depdd ends in part on our proprietary technologyo , ayy nd if we fail to successfulff lyll obtaitt n oii r enforff ce our IP rII ightgg s,tt
our compem titive positiott n may be harmed.dd

Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain existing IP rights and obtain, maintain and enforff ce further IP
protections for our products. Our inability to do so could harm our competitive position.

We rely on our portfolff io of issued and pending patent applications in the U.S. and other countries to protect a large part of
our IP and our competitive position; however, these patents may not prevent third parties froff m producing competing products
similar in design to ours if they are invalidated, held unenforff ceable, circumvented, or otherwise limited in scope. Furthermore,
our foreign patent protections may be more limited in geographic scope than those under U.S. patent and IP laws.

Additionally, any of our patent applications may not result in an issued patent or the scope of the patent ultimately issued
may be narrower than initially sought. We may not be affoff rded the protection of a patent if our currently pending or future
patent filings do not result in the issuance of patents or we faiff l to timely apply forff patent protection. We may not apply forff a
patent if our personnel faiff l to disclose or recognize new patentabla e ideas or innovations. Remote working can decrease
opportunit ties forff our personnel to collabora ate, thereby reducd ing invention disclosures and patent appla ication filiff ngs. We may
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choose not to file a forff eign patent application if the limited protections provided by a foreign patent do not outweigh the costs to
obtain it. Further, third parties may fileff patents or develop IP strategies that prevent or limit the effectiveness of our patents.

We also protect our IP through copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, and confidentiality obligations. We generally enter
into confidff entiality agreements with our employees, consultants and collabora ative partners uponu commencement of a
relationship with us. However, despite the existence of these protections, we have experienced incidents in which our
proprietary information has been misappropriated and believe it will be misappropriated again in the futff urt e. If these agreements
do not provide meaningfulff protection against the unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets or other confidff ential
information, adequate remedies may not exist to prevent unauthorized uses or disclosures.

Enforcement of our IP rights is time-consuming and costly, and could ultimately prove to be unsuccessfulff . In certain
jurisdictions, enforff cement of IP rights is more diffiff cult due to legislation and geopolitical circumstances. As we launch our
products in different regions at different times, our producd ts may be acquired and reverse engineered by potential competitors in
regions where infringement is more difficult to pursue.

Our inabia lity to maintain the proprietary nature of our technology through patents, copyrights or trade secrets would impair
our competitive advantages and could have a material effecff t on our operating results, finff ancial condition and futurt e growth
prospects. In particular, a failure to protect our IP rights might allow competitors to copy our technology or create counterfeit or
pirated versions of our products, which could adversely affect our reputation, pricing and market share.

Litigii atiott n regardingii our IP rII ightgg s,tt righi ts claill meii d by tb hitt rdii parties, or IP litigatiott n by ab ny vendors orr n whose products ott r
services we rely for our products att nd services may ia mpii act our abilityii to grow our business, adverserr ly impact our results ott fo
operations and adverserr ly impacm t our repuee tation.

Extensive litigation over IP rights is common in technologies and industries on which our products and services are based.
Litigation, interferences, oppositions, re-exams, inter partes reviews, post grant reviews or other proceedings have been
necessary and will likely be needed in the future to determine the validity and scope of certain of our IP rights and those
claimed by third parties. These proceedings are used to determine the validity, scope or non-infringement of certain patent
rights pertinent to the manufactff urt e, use or sale of our producd ts and the products of competitors. We have been sued forff
infringement of third parties’ patents in the past and are currently defending patent infringement lawsuits and other legal claims.
In addition, we periodically receive letters from third parties drawing our attention to their IP rights and there may be other
third-party IP rights of which we are presently unaware. As dentistry continues to become more digital, competitors may make
defense of our IP more challenging. Asserting or defenff ding these proceedings can be unpredictabla e, protracted, time-
consuming, expensive and distracting to management and technical personnel. Their outcomes may adversely affect our ability
to manufactff urt e and market our products, require us to seek licenses forff infringing products or technologies or result in the
assessment of significant monetary damages. Unfavorable rulings could include monetary damages, injun nctions prohibiting us
from selling our products, or exclusion orders preventing us from importing our products in one or more countries. Moreover,
independent actions by competitors, customers or others have alleged that our effoff rts to enforff ce our IP rights constitutt e unfaiff r
competition or violations of antitrusrr t laws and investigations and additional litigation based on the same or similar claims may
be brought in the futff urt e. The potential effects on our business operations resulting froff m litigation, whether or not ultimately
determined in our favor or settled by us, are costly and could materially affeff ct our results of operations and reputation.

Financial, Tax and Accounting Risks

If our goodwill,ll intangible or long-lgg ivll ed assets become impaireii d, we may ba e requireii d to rtt ecord a matertt ial charge tott
earnings.

Under GAAP, we review our goodwill at least annually, or more frequently, if we identify eff vents or circumstances that
indicate it is more likely than not that the faiff r value of a reporting unit has been reduced below its carrying value. We review
finite-lived intangible assets and long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value of the asset (asset group) may not be recoverabla e. The qualitative analysis performed by management to identify
indicators of impairment or the quantitative analysis used to determine faiff r value requires management to exercise significant
judgement in determining appra opriate assumptions and estimates, including revenue growth rates, gross and operating margins,
discount rates and future cash flows. Management is responsible for continually assessing qualitative factff ors that could
negatively impact the faiff r value of goodwill and intangible and long-lived assets and if required, assesses the fair value of each
to determine if they have become impaired. Consequently, we may be required to record a material charge to earnings our
financial statements durd ing the period in which any impairment of goodwill, intangible or long-lived asset group is determined.

Changes in,ii or interpretations of,o accountintt g rulesll and regulatll iott ns, cs ould result in unfavff orable all ccountintt g charges.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conforff mity with GAAP. These principles are subjeb ct to interpretation
by the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and create appra opriate accounting policies. A change in these policies or in
the way these policies are interpreted by us or regulators could materially effeff ct our reported results and may even retroactively
affeff ct previously reported finff ancial statements.
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We are requireii d to att nnually all ssess our intii ertt nal control over finaii ncial reporting and any an dverserr resultsll from such
assessment may result in a losll s of io nvii estor confin dence in oii ur finaii ncial reports and adverserr ly affeff ct our stock price.

We are required to furff nish in our Form 10-K a report by our management regarding the effeff ctiveness of our internal control
over finff ancial reporting that includes, among other things, an assessment of the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, including a statement as to whether it is effective. Our internal controls may
become inadequate because of changes in personnel, updates and upgrades to or migration away froff m existing softwff are, failure
to maintain accurate books and records, changes in accounting standards or interprrr etations of existing standards, and, as a
result, the degree of compliance of our internal control over finff ancial reporting with the existing policies or procedurd es may
become ineffeff ctive. Establa ishing, testing and maintaining an effective system of internal control over finff ancial reporting
requires significant resources and time commitments on the part of our management and our finance staff, may require
additional staffing and infraff structurt e investments and increases our costs of doing business. If we are unabla e to assert that our
internal control over finff ancial reporting is effective in any future period (or if our auditors are unabla e to express an opinion on
the effectff iveness of our internal controls or conclude that our internal controls are ineffective), the timely filing of our financial
reports could be delayed or we could be required to restate past reports, and cause us to lose investor confidff ence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial reports, which could have an adverse effect on our stock price.

If we fail to managea our exposee ure to gtt logg bal finaii ncial and securitieii s markerr t risks successfulff lyll , oyy ur operating resultsll and
finaii ncial statements ctt ould be materiallyll impacted.

A majority of our marketable investments are investment grade, liquid, fixed-income securities and money market
instruments denominated in U.S. dollars. If the carrying value of an investment exceeds the fair value, and the decline in faiff r
value is deemed to be other-than-temporary,rr we are required to write down the value of the investment, which could materially
harm our results of operations and finff ancial condition. Moreover, the performance of certain securities in our investment
portfolff io correlates with the credit condition of the U.S. financial sector. In an unstabla e credit or economic environment, it is
necessary to assess the value of our investments more freff quently and we might incur material realized, unrealized or
impairment losses associated with these investments. Additionally, bank faiff lures could cause or continue to cause volatility in
the credit or capital markets, market-wide liquidity issues, bank-runs and general concern across the global finff ancial industry.rr
These conditions could limit our access to capital or impair the value of assets we hold.

Our effee ctivtt e taxtt rate may va ary sr ignigg fii cantlytt from period to period.

We are subject to taxes in the U.S. and forff eign countries. Various internal and external factff ors may affeff ct our future
effeff ctive tax rate. These factors include changes in the global economic environment, our legal entity structurt e or activities
performed within our entities, our business operations, in tax laws, regulations and/or rates, to existing accounting
pronouncements, interprr etations of existing tax laws or regulations, in relative proportions of revenues and income before taxes
in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differff ing statutory tax rates, in overall levels of pretax earnings, as
well as the settlement of income tax audits and non-deductible goodwill impairments. Furthermore, we may continue to
experience variation in our effeff ctive tax rate related to excess tax benefits or tax expense on stock-based compensation,
particularly in the firff st quarter of each year when the majority of our equity awards vest.

New taxtt laws and practictt es, cs hanges to existingii tax laa awll s and practices, os r disdd pus tes regardingii the positions we takett
regare dingii tax laa awll s, could nll egativtt ely all ffea ct our provisiii on for incii ome taxtt es as well as our ongoingii operations.

Compliance with tax laws requires significant judgment concerning our worldwide provision for income taxes. Changes in
tax laws or changes to how those laws are applied to our business could affect the amount of tax which we are subject to and
the manner in which we operate. Specifically, in 2016, the Organization forff Economic Cooperation and Development
(“OECD”) establa ished the Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profitff Shiftinff g (“BEPS”) to among other things, allocate
greater taxing rights to countries where customers are located and establish a global minimum tax rate. After years of evaluating
their respective tax laws, many countries have enacted changes, or are committed to enacting changes, which may increase our
tax expense in futff urt e years. For example, the European Union and other countries have enacted or have committed to enact the
OECD/G20 Framework’s Pillar Two 15% global minimum tax. If more countries adopt these changes based on the BEPS
guidance, our provision for income taxes or operations may be adversely affected.

Moreover, the appla ication of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax (“SUT”), value-added tax (“VAT”), goods and
services tax (“GST”), and other indirect taxes) to our operations is complex and evolving. U.S. states, local and foreff ign taxing
jurisdictions have differing rules and regulations governing diffeff ring types of taxes, and these rulrr es and regulations are subject
to varying interprrr etations and exemptions that may change over time. We collect and remit SUT, VAT, GST and other taxes in
many jurisdictions and we are routinely subject to audits. We are also routinely audited regarding our tax reporting and
remissions by local and national governments, and may also be subju ect to audits in jurisdictions for which we have not accruer d
tax liabia lities. The positions we take regarding taxes as well as the amounts we collect or remit may be challenged and we may
be liabla e forff failing to collect or remit all taxes deemed owed or the taxes could exceed our estimates. One or more U.S. states
or countries may seek to impose incremental or new sales, use, or other tax collection obligations or may determine that such
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taxes should have but have not been paid by us. If we dispute rulr ings or positions taken by tax authorities, we may incur
significant expenses, time and effoff rt to defenff d our positions.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company received a notice and initial assessment froff m His Majea sty’s
Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) for unpaid VAT related to certain clear aligner sales made during various periods beginning
2019 through 2023. While we assert that these sales are exempt froff m VAT, that we have reasonabla y relied uponu statements and
guidance by HMRC and that our interpretation of relevant legislation is appra opriate, and believe that a potential loss related to
unpaid VAT is not probabla e, it is possible that we may be subju ect to a loss in connection with unpaid VAT.

The appla ication of existing and new tax laws, and the results of audits could harm our business. Furthermore, there have
been and will continue to be subsu tantial ongoing costs associated with complying with the various tax requirements and
defending our positions in the numerous markets in which we conduct or will conduct business.

Historically, tyy hett market price forff our common stock has been volatll ilett .ee

hThe markket p irice of our common stock ik is subjubject to ra ipia dd a dnd lla grge p irice flfluctuatiions attribibut bablle to va irious factors, ma yny
of hwhiichh are bbeyondyond our controll. hThe factff or is inclludde:

• quarterlyly va iriatiions iin our resullts of opera itions and ld liiq iuididi yty or hchangge is in our forecasts and gd g iuiddance;
• our babilityility to regain or sustain our historical growth rates;
• hchangge is in recomme dnda itions byby hth ie investment commu ini yty or speculla itio in in thhe press o ir investment comm iuni yty

regga drdiingg estiimates of our net revenues, opera iti gng resullts or othher performance iindidicators;
• announcements byby us or our competiitors or new markket entrants, iin lcl diudi gng strategigic actiions, man gagement chha gnges, andd

mate iri lal transactiions or acq iui isi itions;
• te hch ini lcal factor is in thhe blpubliic tr dadiingg markkets for our stockk thhat m yay pr doduce p irice movement is inconsiistent iwi hth

macro, iinddustryy orr r compa yny-sp iecifific f dundaff ment lals, iin lcl diudi gng hthe sen itiment of retailil iinvestor (s (as iit may by be expressedd
on fifinanciiall tradidi gng andd o hther so ici lal medidia siite )s), thhe amount andd status of shhor it interes it in our secu iri ities, access to
ma grgiin ddebbt, tradidi gng iin optiions andd o hther dde iriva itives on our common sto kck, fraff ctiionall shhare tr dadiingg, andd o hther
te hch ini lcal tr dadiingg facff tors or strategigies;

• announcements regga drdiingg sto kck repur hchases, s lales or pur hchases of our common sto kck byby us, our offififf cers o dr diirectors,
cr dediit gagreements and dd d beb it issuances;

• announcements of te hch lnologiogical il innova itions, new, addiddi itionall or reviis ded pr gograms, bbusiiness m dodells, prodducts or
ppr doduct offe iri gngs byby us, our customers or compe ititors;

• kkey dy d ieci isions iin pe dindi gng lili itigga ition, ne lw liitigigatiion, settllements, jujudgmdgments or ddecrees; a dnd
• ggenerall economiic ma krket co dindi itions i, inclludidi gng iri isi gng iinterest rates, iinflflatiiona yry pressures, reces isions, consumer

sentiiment and dd demandd, glgl boball p loli iitic lal conflilicff t a dnd iinddustryy frr actff ors unr lelat ded to our actuat ll performance.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology and medical device companies, in particular, often
experience extreme price and volume fluff ctuat tions unrelated or disproportionate to corporate operating performance. These
broad market and industry frr acff tors may include market expectations of, off r actuat l changes in, monetary policies that have the
goal of easing or tightening interest rates such as the U.S. fedff eral funds rate and austerity measures of governments intended to
control budget deficff its. Securities litigation, including securities class action lawsuits and securities derivative lawsuits, is ofteff n
brought against an issuer folff lowing periods of volatility in the market price of its securities and we have not been exempt from
such litigation.

We cannot guaranteett that we willii contintt ue to repuee rchase our common stock in the futff ure, and any repuee rchases we may
make may na ot achieve our desdd ired objectivtt es.

We have a history of recurring stock repurchase programs intended to returt n capital to our investors. Future stock
repurchase programs are contingent on a variety of factors, including our financial condition, market conditions, results of
operations, business requirements, and our continuing determination that stock repurchases are in the best interests of our
stockholders and in compliance with all appla icable laws and agreements. There is no assurance that we will continue
repurchasing our common stock in the futff urt e at historical levels or at all, or that our stock repurchase programs will beneficially
impact our stock price. Additionally, effective January 1, 2023, the Inflaff tion Reducd tion Act imposes a 1% excise tax on our
stock repurchases, which will increase our tax liabia lities and the cost to retire stock and may impact if and how much stock we
choose to repurchase in the future.

Future sales of so ignigg fii cant amounts ott f oo ur common stock may da epdd ress our stock price.

A significant percentage of our outstanding common stock is currently owned by a small number of stockholders. These
stockholders have sold in the past, and may sell in the futff urt e, large amounts of our stock over relatively short periods of time.
Sales of substantial amounts of our stock by existing stockholders may adversely affect the market price of our stock by
creating the perception of diffiff culties or problems with our business that may depress our stock price.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

We have implemented a cross-departmental approach to managing cybersecurity risk, which includes seeking input from
our employees, management, third-party vendors, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee”), and
the Board of Directors. We devote significant resources to cybersecurity and risk management processes to adapta to the
changing cybersecurity landscapea and respond to emerging threats in a timely and effective manner. We regularly assess the
threat landscape and take a holistic view of cybersecurity risks, with a layered cybersecurity strategy based on prevention,
detection and response. To more effeff ctively address cybersecurity threats, we have a dedicated Chief Inforff mation Security
Offiff cer (“CISO”) who is responsible forff leading enterprr ise-wide information security strategy, policy, process, and technology.
Our current CISO has 20+ years of inforff mation security and risk management experience and holds a Certifieff d Information
Systems Security Profesff sional (CISSP) certificff ation. Our CISO regularly briefs our Audit Committee on our cybersecurity and
information security program and cybersecurity incidents deemed to pose a risk of a critical business impact or reputational
harm. Our cybersecurity risk management program leverages the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST)
framework, which organizes cybersecurity risks into fivff e categories: identify,ff protect, detect, respond and recover. Our
information security team, comprised of employees with an expertise in cybersecurity and inforff mation technology, regularly
assess the threat landscapea and take a holistic view of cybersecurity risks, with a layered cybersecurity strategy based on
prevention, detection, and response.

Our inforff mation security program includes, among other things, cybersecurity incident response, vulnerabia lity
management, antivirusr and malware protection, technology compliance and risk management, encryption, identity and access
management, appla ication security, and security monitoring. The program also has an inforff mation security awareness program,
which includes annual training regarding our acceptabla e use and inforff mation classification and handling policies, regular
phishing campaigns complemented by additional employee training as appra opriate, and communications and companion
trainings to keep our users inforff med on current events.

The inforff mation security program’s ultimate goal is preventing cybersecurity incidents to the extent feasible, while
simultaneously increasing our system resilience to minimize the business impact should an incident occur. In the event of an
identifieff d cybersecurity incident, we have developed a detailed cybersecurity incident response process, which outlines the
steps to be folff lowed froff m incident detection, analysis, containment, eradication, recovery, and notificff ation, including notifyiff ng
functional areas (e.g. information technology, legal, finance, operations, privacy), as well as senior leadership and the Audit
Committee, as appropriate. For critical cybersecurity incidents, processes have been establa ished forff our legal team to determine
the materiality of each incident.

Our inforff mation security team engages third-party services to conduct evaluations of our security controls, including
penetration testing and independent audits. Annually, an external auditor conducts a System and Organization Controls
(“SOC”) type 2 audit covering the security principle forff systems supporting our products.

Our assessment of risks associated with the use of third-party vendors is part of our overall cybersecurity risk management
framework. If a third-party vendor is unabla e to provide a SOC 1 or SOC 2 report, our information security team takes additional
steps to assess their cybersecurity preparedness and our initiation or continued engagement with them. Additionally, third-party
vendors are required to include security and privacy addendums to our contracts where applicable and are reassessed
periodically as necessary depending on the risk level that has been assigned to the third-party vendor. Our legal team also
requires that our third-party vendors report cybersecurity incidents to us so the impact of the incident on us can be assessed.

Our Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing cybersecurity risks and our cybersecurity program. It oversees and
reviews our cybersecurity and other inforff mation technology risks, controls, policies, and procedurd es. Our information security
team annually perforff ms a cybersecurity enterprise risk assessment and presents the results to management and the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee periodically reports on its review of cybersecurity risks and our cybersecurity program to our
Board of Directors. In 2023, our CISO or his team met with the Audit Committee fourff times to discuss cybersecurity risks and
threats.

We have not identifieff d any risks froff m known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity
incidents, that have materially affeff cted or are reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct us, including our operations, business
strategy, results of operations, or finff ancial condition. Notwithstanding the appra oach we take to cybersecurity, we may not
successfulff ly prevent or mitigate cybersecurity incidents that could have a material adverse effect on us. While we maintain
cybersecurity insurance, the costs related to cybersecurity threats or disruptu ions may not be covered or, if covered, fully insured.
See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” forff a discussion of cybersecurity risks.
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Item 2. Properties.

We occupyu several leased and owned facilities. As of December 31, 2023, the significant facff ilities occupiu ed were as
follows:
Location Lease/Own Primary Use
Tempe, Arizona, U.S.A. Lease Office for corporrr ate headquarters
San Jose, Califorff nia, U.S.A. Own Offiff ce for research & development and administrative personnel
Raleigh, North Carolina, U.S.A. Own Offiff ce for Americas regional headquarters
Belen, Heredia, Costa Rica Own Offiff ce for administrative personnel, treatment personnel, and customer care
La Lima, Cartago, Costa Rica Own Offiff ce for administrative personnel, treatment personnel, and customer care
Wroclaw, Poland Lease and Own Manufactff urt ing and offiff ce for treatment and administrative personnel
Petah Tikva, Israel Lease and Own Manufactff urt ing and offiff ce for research & development and administrative personnel
Rotkreuz, Switzerland Lease Office for EMEA regional headquarters
Juarez, Mexico Own Manufactff urt ing and offiff ce for administrative personnel
Ziyang, China Own Manufactff urt ing and offiff ce for administrative personnel

We believe our existing facilities are in good operating condition and are suitabla e forff the conduct of our business. The
facilities noted above are used mostly by all our reportabla e segments.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

For a discussion of legal proceedings, referff to Note 7 "Le" gale Proceedings" of to hett Notes to ConsCC olidatdd ed Financial
Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not appla icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

Market Infon rmatiott n

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol ALGN. As of Februarr ry 22, 2024, there
were approximately 52 holders of record of our common stock. Because the majoa rity of our shares of outstanding common
stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unabla e to estimate the total number of
stockholders represented by these record holders.

Perforff marr nce GraGG pha

Notwithstanding any statement to thett contrat ry in any of our previous or future filings with the SECSS , tCC hett following
infon rmation relating to thett price perfor rmance of oo ur common stock shall not be deemed “fileff d” with the SECSS or “SolSS iciting
Material” under thett Securities ExchEE ange Act of 1o 934, as amended, or subject to Regule ation 14A or 14C, oCC r to liabilities ofo
Section 18 of to hett Exchange Act excepee t to thett extent we specifically request that such infon rmation be tret ated as soliciting
material or to the extee ent we spes cifici ally incorporate thitt s iii nforff mation by rb eferff ence.

The grapha below matches our cumulative 5-year total stockholder returt n on common stock with the cumulative total
returns of the NASDAQ Composite index, the S&P 500 index and the S&P 1500 Composite Health Care Equipment &
Supplu ies index. The grapha tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and each index (with the
reinvestment of all dividends) froff m December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2023.
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Unregie stii ertt ed Sales of Eo quity Stt ecSS urities

None.

Purchases of Eo quity Stt ecSS uritiett s by tb hett Issuer and AffiA liaii ted Purchasersrr

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the stock repurchase activity forff the three months ended December 31, 2023:

Period

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average Price
Paid per
Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced Programs

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the

Programs(1)

October 1, 2023 through October 31, 2023 1,049,538 $ 190.56 1,049,538 $ 750,000,000
November 1, 2023 through November 30, 2023 283,335 $ 206.89 283,335 $ 691,380,496
December 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023 182,183 $ 227.14 182,183 $ 650,000,000
Total 1,515,056 1,515,056

1 January 2r 023 Repure chase Program. In January 2023, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized a plan to
repurchase up tu o $1,000,000,000 of our common stock. See Note 10 “Common StoSS ck Repure chase Programs” of the NotNN es to
Consolidatdd ed Financial StaSS tementstt for details on the January 2023 Repurchase Program.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The folff lowing discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for fisff cal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022 is
presented under Results of Operations of this Form 10-K. Discussions regarding our financial condition and results of
operations for fisff cal 2022 compared to 2021 have been omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K, but can be found in
"IteII m 7. ManageMM ment's Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K forff the fisff cal year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on February 2rr 7, 2023, which is availabla e without
charge on the SEC's website at www.sec.govg and on our investor relations website at investor.aligntgg ech.comg .

Executive Overview of Results

Trends and UncUU ertainties

Our business strategic priorities focff us on four principal pillars for growth: (i) international expansion; (ii) GP dentist
treatment; (iii) patient demand; and (iv) orthodontic utilization. Our growth strategy depends on our ability to facilitate the
digital transformation of dentistry hrr appening around the world, our continuous focus on innovation, and expansion to meet and
exceed evolving customer expectations as the array of products and services availabla e to them increases.

We strive to deliver on each of our strategic growth drivers through a variety of interrelated enterprr ise-wide effortff s
including:

• Continuing penetration and adoption of Invisalign products, intraoral scanners and CAD/CAM solutions in
international markets by investing in manufactff urt ing operations, research and development, clinical treatment planning,
sales and marketing and building our quality and regulatory crr apabilities in existing and emerging markets globally. For
instance, in 2022, we opened a new aligner fabff rication faciff lity in Wroclaw, Poland as a part of our strategy to bring
operational facff ilities closer to customers to serve them more quickly and respond to their needs more effectively as
well as new treatment planning operations in targeted regional geographies. We have also diversified our research and
development activities throughout Europe, which has created a longer term, more stable environment forff consistent
hiring, retention and innovation in a variety of high technology sectors. We are in over 100 markets and have 13
fabra ication and treatment locations throughout the world.
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• Targeting growth opportunities with international orthodontists and GP customers, particularly with adopters of digital
dentistry prr latforff ms by tailoring our sales and marketing strategies, manufactff urt ing operations and resources around the
unique needs of each customer channel. As we continue growing, we intend to opportunistically expand our research,
development, manufacff turing, treatment planning, and sales and marketing operations to meet local and regional
demand thoughtfully and deliberately. Over the longer-term, we expect international revenues to grow fasff ter than
Americas' revenues as a result of growing international demand, our continued investment in international market
expansion, the size of the market opportunities and our relatively low market penetration in these regions.

• Building confidff ence within the GP and orthodontic communities through training and education efforts to increase
their adoption and utilization of digital dental practice transforff mation and clear aligner treatment. We continue to
expand our clear aligner customer base by educating new doctors on the benefitsff of digital dentistry trr hrough the
Invisalign system. We furthermore demonstrate to GPs and orthodontists how the iTero portfolff io of intraoral scanners
and CAD/CAM restorative services and workfloff ws can increase revenues and profitaff bia lity for their dental practices by
enhancing patient experiences and creating operational practice efficiencies.

• Investing in research and development that allows us to innovate, develop and bring to market products and solutions
that deliver the ever-increasing clinical precision and predictability that doctors expect with the speed and convenience
their patients require.

• Creating demand and enabling patient conversion through targeted investments in advertising and public relations
through social media, influencers and other forff ms of digital communications to encourage treatment by Invisalign
trained doctors. We believe that well-designed, targeted sales and marketing promotions that build on our strong brand
awareness allow us to diffeff rentiate our products and solutions from traditional and emerging competitors. To increase
awareness and educd ate young aduld ts, parents and teens abouta the benefitff s of the Invisalign brand, in 2023 we continued
to invest in and create campaigns across markets in media platforff ms such as TikTok, Instagram, YouTube, SnapCa hat,
WeChat, and Douyin. We expect to make furff ther investments to create additional demand forff Invisalign system
treatment driving more consumers to dental professionals for those treatments.

• Pursuing new product lines that complement our doctor-prescribed principal products currently availabla e in certain e-
commerce and retail channels in the U.S. Similarly, in 2023, we continued our focus on our doctor subscription plan
and grew our underpenetrated share of the retainer business through strategic marketing campaigns focused on driving
adoption and increasing market share in the U.S., Canada, Iberia and the Nordics.

• Increasing global orthodontic utilization rates as doctors’ clinical confidff ence in the efficacy and predictability of the
Invisalign system increases with advancements in products and technology and as patients and doctors demand
treatments that emphasize convenience and safetff y through fewer visits and less invasive and quicker treatments. In
addition, the teenage and younger market makes up about 70% of the appra oximately 22 million total annual global
orthodontic case starts. We continue to emphasize the benefitff s of the Invisalign system forff teenage and younger patient
treatments through educd ation, training and sales and marketing programs. In 2023, we had record shipments to teenage
and younger patients. We expect utilization rates to continue to rise. However, our utilization rates will fluctuate froff m
period to period due to a variety of factors, which may include seasonal trends in our business, consumer demand due
to macroeconomic factors, and adoption rates for new products and featff urt es.

Macroeconomic Challenges and Military Conflicff t in UkrUU aine and the MidMM dldd e East

Our revenues are susceptible to fluff ctuat tions caused by macroeconomic conditions, inflaff tion, changes to currency
exchange rates, rising interest rates, actuat l and threatened wars and military actions, threats of or actuat l recessions, supply chain
challenges, market volatility, and other factors, each of which impacts customer confidff ence, consumer sentiment and demand.
Many of these same facff tors also impact our costs and those of our supplu iers through higher raw material prices, transportation
costs, labora costs, supplu y and distribution operations. In 2023, we believe that sales of our products were primarily harmed by
macroeconomic conditions that ultimately adversely impacted disposable income and consumer demand. In particular, dental
practices and industry rrr esearch firff ms reported deteriorating orthodontic trends for the third and fourth quarters of 2023,
including decreased patient visits and increased patient appointment cancellations, along with fewer case starts overall,
especially among aduld t patients. The impact of declining demand varied by time and region, making operational results
uncertain and diffiff cult to predict.

Additionally, many of our international operations are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. In 2023, the
macroeconomic slowing or contraction resulted in forff eign exchange volatility causing the U.S dollar to strengthen against other
currencies. This negatively impacted our financial condition and results of operation compared to 2022. Foreign exchange
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volatility and the subsequent strengthening or weakening of the U.S dollar against other currencies remains uncertain and
unpredictabla e.

Moreover, military confliff cts increase the unpredictabia lity of the volatile macroeconomic conditions. While the military
conflicff t between Russia and Ukraine did not materially impact our 2023 financial condition and results of operations, we expect
the conflicff t will continue to create market uncertainties and dampen consumer sentiment and demand, particularly in Europe.

Similarly, the recent conflicff t in the Middle East may further exacerbar te general and regional macroeconomic instability,
particularly if fighting is prolonged, it spreads to other locations, creates shipping and logistical challenges or cost increases, or
leads to sanctions or boycotts. Our iTero business is headquartered in Israel and the timing and cost of shipping our products
has been impacted. Additionally, we have employees and consultants in Israel that have been called forff military service and
they may be unavailabla e forff an unknown period of time. The conflicff t may continue to spread to other areas which may further
impact our business. We continue to monitor the potential for violence and military actions that may directly or indirectly
impact our personnel, manufacff turing, supplu y chain, and sales.

Changing Product Prefee rences

As the markets for clear aligners and digital processes and workflows used to transform the practice of dentistry continue
to mature, we anticipate customer and patient expectations and demands will evolve. We expect to meet customer demands
with innovative treatment options that include more choices to address a wider scope of treatment goals and budgets based on
our existing and new products. This may result in larger and unpredictabla e variations in geographic and product mix and selling
prices with uncertain implications on our financial statements and business operations.

We strive to manage the challenges froff m the trends and uncertainties, including the macroeconomic conditions, military
conflicff t and the evolution of our target markets, by focusing on improving our operations, building fleff xibility and efficff iencies in
our processes, adjud sting our business models to changing circumstances and offering products that meet market demand.
Specifically, we are managing cost impacts through pricing actions, implementing cost saving measures and slowing hiring. We
also continue to innovate and introduce new and enhanced products that augment our doctor customer and patient experiences.

For instance, in the firff st quarter of 2023, we successfulff ly launched the Invisalign Comprehensive 3in3 product. The 3in3
configff uration offers doctors Invisalign Comprehensive treatment with a three-year treatment expiration date and three
additional clear aligners included prior to the treatment expiration date. We anticipate adoption of the Invisalign Comprehensive
3in3 producd t will continue to increase in 2024. The 3in3 product allows us to recognize more revenue up front but is offerff ed at
a lower price as compared to our traditional Invisalign comprehensive product that has a fivff e-year treatment expiration date
with unlimited additional clear aligner prior to the treatment end date.

Further discussion of the impact of these challenges on our business may be found in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Risk FacFF tors.”

Key Fe inFF ancial and OpeOO ratingii Metrics

We measure our performance against these strategic priorities by the achievement of key finff ancial and operating metrics.
For the year ended December 31, 2023, our business operations reflect the folff lowing:

◦ Revenues of $3,862.3 million, an increase of 3.4% year-over-year;
◦ Clear Aligner revenues of $3,199.3 million, an increase of 4.1% year-over-year;

▪ Americas Clear Aligner case revenues of $1,463.0 million, a decrease of 0.6% year-over-year;
▪ International Clear Aligner case revenues of $1,449.5 million, an increase of 7.4% year-over-year;
▪ Clear Aligner volume increase of 0.4% year-over-year and Clear Aligner volume increase forff

teenage patients of 7.8% year-over-year;
◦ Imaging Systems and CAD/CAM Services revenues of $662.9 million, an increase of 0.1% year-over-year;
◦ Income from operations of $643.3 million and operating margin of 16.7%;
◦ Effeff ctive tax rate of 30.6%;
◦ Net income of $445.1 million with diluted net income per share of $5.81;
◦ Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $980.8 million as of December 31, 2023;
◦ Operating cash floff w of $785.8 million;
◦ Capia tal expenditures of $177.7 million, predominantly related to purchases of property, plant and equipment;

and
◦ Number of employees was 21,610 as of December 31, 2023, a decrease of 6.7% year-over-year.

Othett r StaSS tistical Data att nd Trends
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• As of December 31, 2023, 17 million people worldwide have been treated with our Invisalign system. Management
measures these results by comparing to the millions of people who can benefit froff m straighter teeth and uses this data
to target opportunities to expand the market forff orthodontics by educating consumers about the benefitsff of straighter
teeth using the Invisalign system.

• For the fourff th quarter of 2023, total Invisalign cases submu itted with a digital scanner in the Americas increased to
95.1%, up fu roff m 92.7%* in the fouff rth quarter of 2022 and international scans increased to 88.1%, up fu roff m 86.8% in the
fourth quarter of 2022. For the fourth quarter of 2023, 98.0% of Invisalign cases submu itted by North American
orthodontists were submu itted digitally.

• The total utilization rate in 2023 was 19.1 cases per doctor compared to 19.3* cases per doctor in 2022 and 20.9* cases
per doctor in 2021. Our utilization rates have declined in 2023 due to the macroeconomic conditions and other factors
as described in the Trends and Uncertainties section abovea . In general, we expect utilization rates to rise over time
although they are likely to fluff ctuat te from period to period.

• North Att merica: The utilization rate among our North American orthodontist customers was 94.5 cases per
doctor in 2023 compared to 94.9* cases per doctor in 2022 and 99.7* cases per doctor in 2021 and the
utilization rate among our North American GP customers was 14.0 cases per doctor in 2023 compared to 13.9
cases per doctor in 2022 and 14.3 cases per doctor in 2021.

• International: International doctor utilization rate was 16.3 cases per doctor in 2023 compared to 16.2 cases
per doctor in 2022 and 17.5 cases per doctor in 2021.
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* Invisalign utilization rates are calculated by the number of cases shipped divided by the number of doctors to whom cases were shipped. Our
International region includes Europe, Middle East and Afriff ca (“EMEA”) and Asia Pacific (“APAC”). Latin America (“LATAM”) is excluded
from the International region based on its immateriality to the year; however is included in the Total utilization.

During the third quarter of 2023, we began including Touch Up case revenues in Americas and/or International net revenues that were previously
included in Non-Case revenues and have recast business metrics for the periods presented abovea accordingly.

Results of Operations

42



Net Revenues by Rb eportable Sll egSS megg nt

We group our operations into two reportabla e segments: Clear Aligner segment and ySystems a dnd Serviices segment.

• Our Clear Aligner segment consists of Comprehensive Products, Non-Comprehensive Products and Non-Case
revenues as defined below:

• Comprehensive Products include, but are not limited to, Invisalign Comprehensive and Invisalign First.

• Non-Comprehensive Products include, but are not limited to, Invisalign Moderate, Lite and Express packages
and Invisalign Go and Invisalign Go Plus.

• We allso offe ir in thhe U.S., Can dada, andd EMEA, a Doctor S bubscriip ition Proggram hwhiich ih is our monthlhlyy
subbsu criip ition-bbasedd cllear laligigner proggram. Thhe pr gogram lalllows ddoctors hthe flleff ixibibilitylity to ordder ret iainers andd
llow-st gage “touchh-up” lclear laligigners iwi hthiin hth ieir s bubscribib ded itier a dnd iis dde isiggned fd forff a s gegment of expe irien dced
In ivisaliglign traiin ded ddoctors hwho are currentlyly not regulgularlyly usiingg our retaiiners o lr low-stagge laligigners. Thhe llow-
st gage aligligners, thhe Touchh up pu rodduct, ar ie inclluddedd as a Non-Comprehhensiive Prodduct.

• NNon-Case pr doducts iin lcl dude b, but are not lili imitedd to, retentiion prodducts iin lcl diudi gng retentiion aliliggners ordderedd
hthroughugh hthe Doctor S bubscriip ition Pr gogram, Inviis laligign traiiniingg, dadjujudd stiingg t lools used bd by dy dentall profe issionalls
dduriingg thhe course of treatment andd Inviis laligign Accesso yry Pr doducd ts hthat are com lplementa yry to our ddoctor-
pprescribib ded priin icipall prodducts su hch as laligigner cases ((cllamshhelllls)), teethh whihite ini gng pr doducts, clleaniingg s lolutiions
((c yryst lals, foam andd o hther mate iri lal)) a dnd othher oral hl h leal hth pr doducd ts av iaillablbla ie in certaiin commerce chhannells iin
sellect ma krkets.

O• ur Systems and Services segment consists of our iTero intraoral scanning systems, which includes a single hardware
platform and restorative or orthodontic software options. Our services include subsu cription softwff are, disposables,
rentals, leases, pay per scan services, as well as exocad’s CAD/CAM softwff are solutions that integrate workfloff ws to
dental labsa and dental practices.

Net revenues forff our Clear Aligner and Systems and Services segments by region for the year ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021 are as folff lows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

Net Revenues 2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Clear Aligner revenues:
Americas $ 1,463.0 $ 1,471.9 $ (9.0) (0.6)% $ 1,471.9 $ 1,548.8 $ (76.9) (5.0)%
International 1,449.5 1,349.0 100.5 7.4 % 1,349.0 1,498.7 (149.7) (10.0)%
Non-case 286.9 251.7 35.2 14.0 % 251.7 199.6 52.1 26.1 %

Total Clear Aligner net
revenues $ 3,199.3 $ 3,072.6 $ 126.7 4.1 % $ 3,072.6 $ 3,247.1 $ (174.5) (5.4)%
Systems and Services net
revenues 662.9 662.1 0.9 0.1 % 662.1 705.5 (43.5) (6.2)%
Total net revenues $ 3,862.3 $ 3,734.6 $ 127.6 3.4 % $ 3,734.6 $ 3,952.6 $ (217.9) (5.5)%

During 2023, we begane including Touch Up cUU ase revenues in Americas and/or// International net revenues. Touch Up cUU ase revenues
were previously recordeddd in Non-case revenues. We have recast the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 to reflee ct this change. Amount
and percentage changes are based on recast amounts.tt Certain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.
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Cleall r Aligni er Case Volume

Case volume data which represents Clear Aligner case shipments for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is
as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Total case volume 2,408.5 2,398.4 10.2 0.4 % 2,398.4 2,559.6 (161.3) (6.3)%

During 2023, we begane including Touch Up cUU ase revenues in Americas and/or// International net revenues. Touch Up cUU ase revenues
were previously recordeddd in Non-case revenues. We have recast the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 to refle ect this cii hange. Amount
and percentage changes are based recast amounts.tt Certain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Total net revenues increased by $127.6 million in 2023 as compared to 2022, primarily due to an increase in Clear Aligner
average selling price (“ASP”), an increase in Clear Aligner non-case revenue and higher Systems and Services services mix,
partially offsff et by a decrease in both scanner volumes and ASP’s.

Clear Alignegg r - Americas

Americas net revenues decreased by $9.0 million in 2023 as compared to 2022, primarily due to a 2.1% decrease in case
volumes, resulting in a reduction of net revenues of $31.4 million, partially offsff et by a $22.4 million increase dued to higher
ASP. Higher ASP includes price increases which increased net revenues by $68.6 million along with higher additional aligners
which increased net revenues by $43.9 million. The increases in ASP were partially offsff et by higher promotional discounts
which decreased net revenues by $44.3 million, a product mix shift tff o lower priced products which reducd ed net revenues by
$37.6 million and higher sales credits which lowered net revenues $11.5 million.

Clear Alignegg r - International

International net revenues increased by $100.5 million in 2023 as compared to 2022 due to a 3.5% increase in case
volumes, resulting in an increase of net revenues by $46.9 million, and higher ASP increasing net revenues by $53.6 million.
Higher ASP was largely due to higher additional aligners increasing net revenues by $100.8 million and price increases on most
products which increased net revenues by $96.9 million. The increases in ASP were partially offsff et by a product mix shift tff o
lower priced products reducing net revenues by $68.2 million, higher promotional discounts which reduced net revenues by
$52.5 million, and unfavff orable foreign exchange rates which decreased net revenues by $27.2 million.

Clear Alignegg r - Non-Case

Non-case net revenues increased by $35.2 million in 2023 compared to 2022 mainly due to increased volume of Vivera
retainers across all regions which includes retention aligners ordered through our Doctor Subsu cription Program.

Systyy ems and Services

Systems and Services net revenues decreased by $0.9 million in 2023 as compared to 2022 primarily dued to a lower
number of scanners sold which lowered net revenues by $26.1 million and lower scanner ASP which reducd ed net revenues by
$23.9 million. The decrease in scanner net revenues was mostly offsff et by higher service revenues of $31.8 million and other
revenues which increased $19.1 million primarily due to revenue from sales of certifieff d pre-owned scanners, CAD/CAM
software, and scanner rentals.
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Cost of net revenues and gross profio t (ii in(( millioii ns):s

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Clear Alignerg
Cost of net revenues $ 911.3 $ 844.4 $ 66.9 $ 844.4 $ 772.7 $ 71.7
% of no et segme ent revenues 28.5 % 27.5 2% 7.5 % 23.8 %
Gross profit $ 2,288.0 $ 2,228.2 $ 59.9 $ 2,228.2 $ 2,474.4 $ (246.2)
Gross margir n % 71.5 % 72.577 7% 2.577 % 76.2 %
Systems and Servicesy
Cost of net revenues $ 244.1 $ 256.4 $ (12.3) $ 256.4 $ 244.5 $ 11.9
% of no et segme ent revenues 36.8 % 38.7 3% 8.7 % 34.7 %
Gross profit $ 418.8 $ 405.6 $ 13.2 $ 405.6 $ 461.0 $ (55.4)
Gross margir n % 63.2 % 61.3 6% 1.3 % 65.3 %
Total cost of net revenues $ 1,155.4 $ 1,100.9 $ 54.5 $ 1,100.9 $ 1,017.2 $ 83.6
% of no et revenues 29.9 % 29.5 2% 9.5 % 25.7 %
Gross profit $ 2,706.9 $ 2,633.8 $ 73.1 $ 2,633.8 $ 2,935.4 $ (301.6)
Gross margir n % 70.1 % 70.5 7% 0.5 % 74.3 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Cost of net revenues includes personnel-related costs including payroll and stock-based compensation forff staff iff nvolved in
the production process, the cost of materials, packaging, freight and shipping related costs, depreciation on capital equipment
and faciff lities used in the production process, amortization of acquired intangible assets and training costs.

Clear Alignegg r

The gross margin percentage decreased in 2023 as compared to 2022 primarily dued to a increased manufacff turing spend
offsff et by higher ASP.

Systyy ems and Services

The gross margin percentage increased in 2023 as compared to 2022 primarily due to lower purchase price variance and
higher service revenue mix, partially offsff et by lower ASP.

Selling, general and administrativtt e (in(( millions):s
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Selling, general and administrative $ 1,703.4 $ 1,674.5 $ 28.9 $ 1,674.5 $ 1,708.6 $ (34.2)
% of no et revenues 44.1 % 44.8 4% 4.8 % 43.2 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Selling, general and administrative expense generally includes personnel-related costs, including payroll, stock-based
compensation and commissions for our sales forff ce, marketing and advertising expenses including media, market research,
marketing materials, clinical educd ation, trade shows and industry err vents, legal and outside service costs, equipment, software
and maintenance costs, depreciation and amortization expense and allocations of corporate overhead expenses including
facilities and Information Technology (“IT”).

Selling, general and administrative expense increased in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily dued to higher employee costs,
including higher salaries expense, fringe benefits, stock-based compensation and bonus, offset by lower advertising and
marketing and outside service provider costs.
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Research and devdd elopmll ent (in(( millioii ns):s
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Research and development $ 346.8 $ 305.3 $ 41.6 $ 305.3 $ 250.3 $ 54.9
% of no et revenues 9.0 % 8.2 8% .2 % 6.3 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Research and development expense generally includes personnel-related costs, including payroll and stock-based
compensation, outside service costs associated with the research and development of new products and enhancements to
existing products, softwff are, equipment, material and maintenance costs, depreciation and amortization expense and allocations
of corporate overhead expenses including facilities and IT.

Research and development expense increased in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily dued to higher employee costs,
including higher salaries expense, fringe benefits, stock-based compensation and bonus as we continue to focus our investments
in innovation and research.

Restrutt cturing and othett r charges (in mii illions):
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Restructurt ing and other charges $ 13.3 $ 11.5 $ 1.9 $ 11.5 $ — $ 11.5
% of no et revenues 0.3 % 0.3 0% .3 % — %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Restructurt ing and other charges incurred durd ing 2023 was primarily related to post employment benefitff s, including
employee severance.

Income from operations (in(( millioii ns):s
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Clear Alignerg
Income from operations $ 1,182.3 $ 1,134.4 $ 47.8 $ 1,134.4 $ 1,325.9 $ (191.4)
Operating margir n % 37.0 3% 6.9 % 36.9 % 40.8 %
Systems and Servicesy
Income from operations $ 191.4 $ 179.8 $ 11.6 $ 179.8 $ 259.1 $ (79.4)
Operating margir n % 28.9 % 27.2 2% 7.2 % 36.7 %
Total income froff m operationsp 1 $ 643.3 $ 642.6 $ 0.7 $ 642.6 $ 976.4 $ (333.8)
Operating margir n % 16.7 1% 7.2 1% 7.2 % 24.7 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

1Refer to Note 15 “SegSS meg nts att nd Geographical InfII orff mation” of to he Notes to ConsCC olidatdd ed Financial StaSS tementstt for details on
unallocated corporate expenses and the reconciliation to Consolidated Income from Operations.

Clear Alignegg r

Operating margin percentage remained relatively flaff t in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily due to a decrease in gross
margin which was offsff et by operating leverage.

Systyy ems and Services

Operating margin percentage increased in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily due to higher gross margin.

Interest income (in mii illioll ns):s
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Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Interest income $ 17.3 $ 5.4 $ 11.9 $ 5.4 $ 3.1 $ 2.3
% of no et revenues 0.4 % 0.1 0% .1 % 0.1 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Interest income generally includes interest earned on cash, cash equivalents and investment balances.

Interest income increased in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily due to higher interest rates during 2023.

Othett r incii ome (ex(( pexx nse), net (in mii illions):s
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Other income (expense), net $ (19.4) $ (48.9) $ 29.5 $ (48.9) $ 32.9 $ (81.8)
% of no et revenues (0.5)% (1.3)(( (% 1.3)(( % 0.8 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

Other income (expense), net, generally includes forff eign exchange gains and losses, gains and losses on forff eign currency
forward contracts, interest expense, gains and losses on equity investments and other miscellaneous charges.

Other income (expense), net decreased in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily due to the favff orable impact of foreign
exchange rates offset slightly by losses in investments in private companies.

Provision forff (benefitff from) im ncii ome taxett s (in(( millill ons):
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 Change 2022 2021 Change

Provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes $ 196.2 $ 237.5 $ (41.3) $ 237.5 $ 240.4 $ (2.9)
Effeff ctive tax rates 30.6 % 39.6 % 39.6 2% 3.7 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. CerCC tain tables may na ot sum or recalculate duedd to rounding.

The decrease in our effeff ctive tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 is
primarily attributable to the appla ication of newly issued tax guidance, including IRS Notice 2023-55 and a change in our
jurisdictional mix of income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and Trends

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had the following cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term
marketable securities (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 937,438 $ 942,050
Marketable securities, short-term 35,304 57,534
Marketable securities, long-term 8,022 41,978
Total $ 980,764 $ 1,041,562

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, approximately $784.7 million and $653.7 million, respectively, of cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities were held by our foreign subsidiaries. We intend to reinvest our foreign subsidiary
earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S. and do not expect to incur significant additional costs upon repatriation of these foreign
earnings. We generate suffiff cient domestic operating cash flow and have access to $300.0 million under our revolving line of
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credit. We believe that our current cash balances and the borrowing capacity under our credit facility, if necessary, will be
sufficient to fundff our business forff at least the next 12 months.

Our material cash requirements as of December 31, 2023 are as below:

• Our purchase commitments consist primarily of open purchase orders forff goods and services, including manufacff turing
inventory,rr supplu ies and services, sales and marketing, research and development services and technological services,
issued in the normal course of business. Our purchase commitments totaled $1,234.5 million. We anticipate a majority,
an estimated $861.5 million, will be payabla e within the next 12 months. These purchase commitments exclude capia tal
expenditures.

• We expect our investments in capital expenditures to be appra oximately $100.0 million for the next 12 months. Capital
expenditures primarily relate to building construcr tion and improvements as well as additional manufactff urt ing capacity
due to international expansion. Despite the challenging market conditions, we intend to expand our investments in
research and development, manufactff urt ing, treatment planning, sales and marketing operations to meet actual and
anticipated local and regional demands.

• We have futff urt e operating lease payments of $153.5 million, which includes $13.3 million forff leases that have not yet
commenced as of December 31, 2023. Referff to Note 4 “Le“ ases” of the NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tementstt for
details on the lease payments.

• We have approximately $650.0 million available for repurchases of our common stock under the stock repurchase
program authorized by our Board of Directors in January 2023 (“January 2023 Repurchase Program”). Our stock
repurchase program is subju ect to periodic ev lalua itions to ddetermiine whhen a dnd ifif repur hchases ar ie in thhe bbest iinterests of
our stockh lkholdders, t kakiing ig into account prev iailili gng ma krket co dindi itions R. eferff to Note 10 “Common StoS ck Repurchase
Programs” of the NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tementstt for details on our stock repurchase programs. Beginning
in fiscal year 2023 our stock repurchases, net of certain issuances, were subject to a 1% excise tax. This excise tax is
not expected to have a material impact on our liquidity or capital resources.

• On January 2, 2024 we completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in privately held Cubiu cure GmbH for total
purchase consideration of appra oximately $87 million. We paid approximately $79 million in cash, which represents the
total purchase consideration less credit forff our previously owned interest.

• As of December 31, 2023, we had no material off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonabla y likely to
have, a current or future material impact on our liquidity or capital resources.

Sources and Use of Co asCC h

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows forff the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 785,776 $ 568,732 $ 1,172,544
Investing activities (195,943) (213,316) (563,430)
Financing activities (598,340) (501,686) (458,332)
Effeff cts of forff eign exchange rate changes on cash, cash
equivalents, and restricted cash 4,671 (11,514) (12,117)

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash $ (3,836) $ (157,784) $ 138,665

Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, cash floff ws from operations of $785.8 million resulted primarily from our net
income of approximately $445.1 million as well as the following:

Signii fici ant adjustments to net income

• Stock-based compensation of $154.0 million related to equity awards granted to employees and directors; and
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• Depreciation and amortization of $142.4 million related to our investments in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

Signii fici ant changes in workirr ng capia tal

• Infloff w of $46.3 million, net froff m accruerr d and other long-term liabilities primarily dued to higher incentive accruarr ls for
2023, as well as timing of payments of other activities;

• Infloff w of $86.7 million, net froff m deferff red revenues dued to the deferff ral of revenue on shipments;
• Infloff w of $30.2 million, net froff m inventories primarily due to lower purchases of materials used in manufactff urt ing; and
• Outflow of $104.6 million, net froff m accounts receivable due to timing of collections and increased revenues.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, cash floff ws from operations of $568.7 million resulted primarily from our net
income of approximately $361.6 million as well as the following:

Signii fici ant adjustments to net income

• Stock-based compensation of $133.4 million related to equity awards granted to employees and directors;
• Depreciation and amortization of $125.8 million related to our investments in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets; and

Signii fici ant changes in workirr ng capia tal

• Infloff w of $241.9 million, net froff m deferff red revenues dued to the deferff ral of revenue on shipments over the period as
well as timing of revenue recognition;

• Outflow of $130.1 million, net froff m inventories primarily due to lower shipment volumes over the period in addition
to our effoff rts to manage stock at appropriate levels as required; and

• Outflow of $121.9 million, net froff m accrued and other long-term liabilities primarily due to the payment of our 2021
corporate bonus as well as timing payment of other activities.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $195.9 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 which primarily consisted
of purchases of property, plant and equipment of $177.7 million which included a building acquisition forff $24.5 million, an
investment in the equity of a privately held company of $77.0 million and purchases of marketable securities of $2.9 million,
partially offsff et by sales and maturities of marketabla e securities of $61.4 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $213.3 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022 which primarily consisted
of purchases of property, plant and equipment of $291.9 million, purchases of marketable securities of $28.0 million and $12.3
million cash paid relating to a business acquisition. These outflows were partially offsff et by sales and maturities of marketabla e
securities of $121.1 million.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in finff ancing activities was $598.3 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 which consisted of
payments to repurchase shares of our common stock of $602.4 million and payroll taxes paid for equity awards through share
withholdings of $22.6 million, which were partially offsff et by $26.6 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock.

Net cash used in finff ancing activities was $501.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022 which consisted of
payments to repurchase shares of our common stock of $475.0 million and payroll taxes paid for equity awards through share
withholdings of $52.8 million, which were partially offsff et by $26.1 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based uponu our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The preparation of finff ancial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affeff ct
the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities, revenues and expenses and disclosures at the date of the financial statements. We
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evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis and use authoritative pronouncements, historical experience and other assumptions
as the basis for making the estimates. Actual results could diffeff r froff m those estimates.

We believe the folff lowing critical accounting estimates affecff t our more significant judgments used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements. For furff ther information on all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 1
“Summary of Signii fii cant Accounting Policies” of the NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tementstt .

Revenue Recogno itiott n

Our revenues are derived primarily from the sale of aligners, scanners, and services from our Clear Aligner and Systems
and Services segments. We enter into sales contracts that may consist of multiple distinct performance obligations where certain
performance obligations of the sales contract are not delivered in one reporting period. We measure and allocate revenues
according to ASC 606-10, “Revenues froff m ContCC rat cts wtt ith Ctt usCC tomers.”

Determining the standalone selling price (“SSP”) in order to allocate consideration froff m the contract to the individual
performance obligations is the result of various factors, such as historical prices, changing trends and market conditions, costs,
and gross margins. While changes in the allocation of the SSP between performance obligations will not affeff ct the amount of
total revenues recognized for a particular contract, any material changes could impact the timing of revenue recognition, which
would have a material effeff ct on our financial position and result of operations. This is because the contract consideration is
allocated to each performance obligation, delivered or undelivered, at the inception of the contract based on the SSP of each
distinct performance obligation.

We allocate consideration forff each clear aligner treatment plan based on each unit’s SSP. Management considers a variety
of factors such as same or similar product historical sales, costs, and gross margin, which may vary orr ver time depending upon
the unique facts and circumstances related to each performance obligation in making these estimates. In addition to historical
data, we take into consideration changing trends and market conditions. For treatment plans with multiple options, we also
consider usage rates, which is the number of times a customer is expected to order more aligners afteff r the initial shipment. Our
process forff estimating usage rates requires significant judgment and evaluation of inputs, including historical usage data by
region, country and channel.

We estimate the SSP of each element in a scanner system and services sale taking into consideration same or similar
product historical prices as well as our discounting strategies. For CAD/CAM services, we estimate the SSP of each element,
including the initial softwff are license and maintenance and support, using data such as historical prices.

Unfun lfilled Perfor rmance Obligations for Clear Alignegg rs and Scanners

Our unfulff filled performance obligations, including deferred revenues and backlog, and the estimated revenues expected to
be recognized in the future related to these perforff mance obligations are $1,578.3 million and $1,515.4 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This includes performance obligations from the Clear Aligner reportabla e segment,
primarily the shipment of additional aligners, which are fulff filled over six months to five years. This also includes performance
obligations from our Systems and Services reportabla e segment, primarily services and support, which are fulfilleff d over one to
five years, and contracted deliveries of additional scanners. The estimate includes both product and service unfulff filled
performance obligations and the time range reflects our best estimate of when we will transferff control to the customer and may
change based on customer usage patterns, timing of shipments, readiness of customers' faciff lities forff installation, and
manufactff urt ing availabia lity.

Impaim rmii ent of Go oodwGG ill all nd Finiii teii -Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill

We evaluate goodwill for impairment at least annually on November 30th or more freff quently if indicators of impairment
are identifieff d between annual testing dates. Goodwill is tested forff impairment between annual testing dates when events or
circumstances indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit has been reduced below its carrying value. When an indicator of
impairment is identifieff d we perform a quantitative impairment assessment in which we determine the fair value of a reporting
unit and compare it to the carrying value of the respective reporting unit. We generally determine the fair value of a reporting
unit via a discounted cash floff w analysis and allocate the net assets of the Company to each reporting unit to determine carrying
value. We will record an impairment charge when our quantitative impairment analysis indicates that the carrying value of a
reporting unit exceeds its faiff r value. Both the determination of faiff r value and carrying value of a reporting unit require
management to exercise significant judgement related to operating assumptions and estimates and allocation methodologies.
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Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed forff impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an asset (asset group) may not be recoverabla e. When an impairment indicator is identifieff d, we perform a recoverabia lity test, in
which the estimated, undiscounted future cash floff ws expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset (asset
group) are compared to the carrying value of the asset (asset group). When our recoverabia lity test results in undiscounted cash
flows more than carrying value, no impairment is recorded. However, when our recoverabia lity test results in undiscounted cash
flows that are less than carrying value, we determine the faiff r value of the asset (asset group) and reducd e the carrying amount of
the asset (asset group), through an impairment charge, to its fair value. The process of identifyiff ng impairment indicators,
preparing an undiscounted cash floff w and determining the fair value of the asset (asset group) require management to exercise
significant judgement related to various assumptions and estimates.

If we were to have impairments to goodwill or finite-lived intangible assets, it could adversely affect our operating results.
During the years ended 2023 and 2022, we did not have any impairment charges related to our goodwill or finite-lived
intangible assets.

Accountintt g forff Income Taxeaa s

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. The evaluation of our uncertain tax
positions involves significant judgment in the interpretation and application of U.S. GAAP and complex domestic and
international tax laws related to the allocation of international taxation rights between countries. We are also required to
evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets on an ongoing basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires the
assessment of both of our historical and futff urt e performance as well as other relevant factff ors. Realization of our deferred tax
assets is dependent on our ability to generate future taxabla e income which is determined based on assumptions such as
estimated growth rates in revenues, gross margins, futff urt e cash floff ws and discount rates. The accuracy of these estimates could
be affeff cted by unforff eseen events or actuat l results, and the sustainability of our future tax benefitsff is dependent upon the
acceptance of these valuation estimates and assumptions by the taxing authorities.

Accountintt g forff Legale Proceedingii s agg nd Litigii atiott n

Estimates of probabla e losses resulting froff m litigation are inherently difficult to make, particularly when the matters are in
early procedurd al stages with incomplete facts and information. The finff al outcome of legal proceedings is dependent on many
variables diffiff cult to predict and, therefore, the ultimate cost to entirely resolve such matters may be materially different than
the amount of current estimates. Consequently, new information or changes in judgments and estimates could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations or cash floff ws.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 “Summary of Signii fici ant Accounting Policies” of the NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tementstt for a
discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects, if any, on
results of operations and finff ancial condition, which is incorporr ated herein.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to interest rate, forff eign currency exchange and inflaff tion risks that could
impact our financial position and results of operations. In addition, we are subject to the broad market risk that is created by the
global market disruptu ions and uncertainties resulting froff m macroeconomic challenges, various military conflicff ts and consumer
confidff ence. Furthhe dr diiscu ission on hthese riiskks may by be f doundff iin ItI em 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading
“Risk FacFF tors”.

Interest Rate Riskii

Changes in interest rates could impact our anticipated interest income on our cash and cash equivalents and investments in
marketable securities. Our investments are fixed-rate short-term and long-term securities. Fixed-rate securities may have their
fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, and, as a result, our future investment income may falff l short
of expectations or we may suffeff r losses in principal if forced to sell securities which have declined in market value dued . As of
December 31, 2023, we had appra oximately $43.3 million invested in availabla e-for-sale marketabla e securities. An immediate
10% change in interest rates would not have a material adverse impact on our future operating results and cash floff ws.
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We do not enter into investments forff trading or speculative purposrr es and have not used any derivative finff ancial
instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. As of December 31, 2023, we are not subju ect to risks fromff immediate
interest rate increases on our unsecured revolving line of credit faciff lity.

Currency Rc ate Rtt isk

As a result of our international business activities, our financial results have been affeff cted by factors such as changes in
foreign currency exchange rates as well as economic conditions in foreign markets, and there is no assurance that exchange rate
fluctuations will not harm our business in the future. We generally sell our products in the local currency of the respective
countries. This provides some naturt al hedging because most of the subsidiaries’ operating expenses are generally denominated
in their local currencies.

We enter into forff eign currency forff ward contracts forff currencies where we have exposures, primarily the Euro, British
Pound, Chinese Yuan, Polish Zloty and Canadian Dollar, to minimize the short-term impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations on cash and certain trade and intercompany receivables and payabla es. These forward contracts are not designated as
hedging instruments and are generally one month in original maturt ity and are marked to market through earnings every prr eriod.
The gains and losses on these forward contracts are intended to offset the gains and losses in the underlying foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabia lities being economically hedged. We do not enter into forff eign currency forwff ard
contracts forff trading or speculative purposrr es. As our international operations grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to
managing the risks relating to fluctuations in currency rates. It is diffiff cult to predict the impact forward contracts could have on
our results of operations.

Although we will continue to monitor our exposure to currency fluff ctuat tions, and, where appra opriate, may use forwff ard
contracts to minimize the effeff ct of these fluff ctuat tions, the impact of an aggregate change of 10% in foreign currency exchange
rates relative to the U.S. dollar on our results of operations and finff ancial position could be material.

Infln atll iott n Risk

The economy has been impacted by certain macroeconomic challenges which have contributed to a rising inflaff tionary
trend that have impacted both our revenues and costs globally, and which we expect will continue into the forff eseeable futurt e. If
our costs become subju ect to significant inflaff tionary pressures, we may not be able to fully offsff et such higher costs through price
increases. There can be no assurance that our results of operations and finff ancial condition will not be materially impacted by
inflation in the future.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Align is responsible forff establa ishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finff ancial reporting as
defined in RulRR es 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over finff ancial
reporting is designed by, or under supervision of, our CEO and CFO, and effecff ted by the board of directors, management and
other personnel to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial
statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over finff ancial
reporting includes those policies and procedurd es that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of Align;

• provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finff ancial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of Align are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of Align; and

• provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition
of Align’s assets that could have a material effeff ct on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futff urt e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth in Internal Controt l-Integre ated Framework (rr 2013)(( issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

Based on our assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over finff ancial
reporting was effeff ctive based on criteria in Internal Controt l - Integre ated Framework (rr 2013)(( issued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firff m, as stated in their report which is included
herein.

/S/ JOSEPH M. HOGAN
Joseph M. Hogan
Presidendd t and Chief Ee xeEE cutive OffiO cer

Februarr ry 28, 2024

/S/ JOHN F. MORICI
John F. Morici
Chief Fe inFF ancial Offiff cer and ExeEE cutive VicVV e PrePP sident, Gtt loGG bal Finaii nce

Februarr ry 28, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Align Technology, Inc.

Opinions on the FinFF ancial Stattt emtt ents and IntII ertt nal ConCC trol over Finaii ncial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Align Technology, Inc. and its subsu idiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income, of
stockholders’ equity and of cash flows forff each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related
notes and finff ancial statement scheduld e listed in the index appea aring under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referff red to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting as of
December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Contrott l - Integre ated Frameworkrr (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referff red to abovea present faiff rly, in all material respects, the finff ancial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash floff ws for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in conforff mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Controt l - Integre ated Frameworkrr (2013)
issued by the COSO.

Basis fii orff Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effeff ctive internal
control over finff ancial reporting, and forff its assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting, included
in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonabla e assurance aboa ut whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether dued to error or fraff ud, and whether effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether dued to error or fraff ud, and performing procedurd es that respond to those risks.
Such procedurd es included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over finff ancial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedurd es as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our opinions.

Defie niii tioii n and Limitaii tions of Internal Contrott l over FinFF ancial Reporee ting

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effeff ct on the finff ancial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futff urt e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Mii atMM tett rs

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising froff m the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subju ective, or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition – Determination of So taSS ndalone Selling Price of Do istinct Perforff mance Obligations in Clear Alignegg r
Contrat ctstt

As described in Notes 1 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognized net revenues of $3.2 billion
from its Clear Aligner segment for the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company enters into contracts (“treatment plans”)
that involve multiple future performance obligations. Management identifieff s a performance obligation as distinct if both of the
following criteria are met: the customer can benefit froff m the good or service either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily availabla e to the customer and the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately
identifiaff bla e froff m other promises in the contract. Management allocates revenues forff each treatment plan based on each unit’s
standalone selling price. Management considers a variety of factff ors such as same or similar product historical sales, costs, and
gross margin, which may vary over time depending upon the unique facts and circumstances related to each performff ance
obligation in making these estimates. In addition to historical data, they take into consideration changing trends and market
conditions. Management also considers usage rates, which is the number of times a customer is expected to order additional
aligners. Management’s process for estimating usage rates requires significant judgment and evaluation of inputs, including
historical usage data by region, country and channel.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures related to revenue recognition and the
determination of standalone selling price of distinct perforff mance obligations in Clear Aligner contracts is a critical audit matter
are the significant judgment by management in determining the estimate of standalone selling price, which includes significant
assumptions related to usage rates forff each distinct performance obligation. This in turn led to significant auditor judgment,
subju ectivity, and efforff t in performing procedures to evaluate management’s determination of the estimates of standalone selling
price and usage rates for each distinct performance obligation.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall
opinion on the consolidated finff ancial statements. These procedurd es included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to
revenue recognition, including controls over the determination of standalone selling price for each distinct performff ance
obligation in the Company’s Clear Aligner contracts. These procedurd es also included, among others, (i) testing management’s
process forff determining the estimate of standalone selling price, which included testing the completeness and accuracy of inputs
used and evaluating the reasonabla eness of factff ors considered by management related to same or similar product historical sales
and usage rates, and (ii) testing management’s process forff estimating usage rates, which included evaluating the reasonabla eness
of inputs evaluated by management related to historical usage data by region, country and channel.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, Califorff nia
Februar ry 28, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1997.
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATRR IONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net revenues $ 3,862,260 $ 3,734,635 $ 3,952,584
Cost of net revenues 1,155,397 1,100,860 1,017,229
Gross profitff 2,706,863 2,633,775 2,935,355
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative 1,703,379 1,674,469 1,708,640
Research and development 346,830 305,258 250,315
Restructurt ing and other charges 13,316 11,453 —

Total operating expenses 2,063,525 1,991,180 1,958,955
Income from operations 643,338 642,595 976,400
Interest income and other income (expense), net:

Interest income 17,258 5,367 3,103
Other income (expense), net (19,392) (48,905) 32,920

Total interest income and other income
(expense), net (2,134) (43,538) 36,023

Net income beforff e provision for income taxes
641,204 599,057 1,012,423

Provision for income taxes 196,151 237,484 240,403
Net income $ 445,053 $ 361,573 $ 772,020

Net income per share:
Basic $ 5.82 $ 4.62 $ 9.78
Diluted $ 5.81 $ 4.61 $ 9.69

Shares used in computing net income per share:
Basic 76,426 78,190 78,917
Diluted 76,568 78,420 79,670

The accompanym ing notes are an integrag l part of to hett se consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net income $ 445,053 $ 361,573 $ 772,020
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in foreign currency translation adjud stment, net of tax 28,419 (11,480) (38,680)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax 3,033 (3,130) (495)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 31,452 (14,610) (39,175)
Comprehensive income $ 476,505 $ 346,963 $ 732,845

The accompanym ing notes are an integrag l part of to hett se consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,
2023 2022

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 937,438 $ 942,050
Marketable securities, short-term 35,304 57,534
Accounts receivabla e, net of allowance forff doubtful accounts of $14,893 and
$10,343, respectively 903,424 859,685
Inventories 296,902 338,752
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 273,550 226,370

Total current assets 2,446,618 2,424,391
Marketable securities, long-term 8,022 41,978
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,290,863 1,231,855
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 117,999 118,880
Goodwill 419,530 407,551
Intangible assets, net 82,118 95,720
Deferred tax assets 1,590,045 1,571,746
Other assets 128,682 55,826

Total assets $ 6,083,877 $ 5,947,947

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabia lities:

Accounts payable $ 113,125 $ 127,870
Accruer d liabia lities 525,780 454,374
Deferred revenues 1,427,706 1,343,643

Total current liabilities 2,066,611 1,925,887
Income tax payable 116,744 124,393
Operating lease liabia lities 96,968 100,334
Other long-term liabia lities 173,065 195,975

Total liabia lities 2,453,388 2,346,589
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7 and 8)
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferff red stock, $0.0001 par value (5,000 shares authorized; none issued) — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value (200,000 shares authorized; 75,075 and 77,267
issued and outstanding, respectively) 7 8
Additional paid-in capital 1,162,140 1,044,946
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net 21,168 (10,284)
Retained earnings 2,447,174 2,566,688

Total stockholders’ equity 3,630,489 3,601,358
Total liabia lities and stockholders’ equity $ 6,083,877 $ 5,947,947

The accompanym ing notes are an integrag l part of to hett se consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
p

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Retained

g lS Capital Net Earnings Tota

Balance as of December 31, 2020 78,860 8 974,556 43,501 2,215,800 3,233,865
Net income — — — — 772,020 772,020
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) from
investments — — — (495) — (495)
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjud stment — — — (38,680) — (38,680)
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans 1 442 — 25,623 — — 25,623
Tax withholdings related to net share
settlements of equity awards — — (108,917) — — (108,917)
Common stock repurchased and retired (592) — (6,592) — (368,446) (375,038)
Stock-based compensation — — 114,336 — — 114,336
Balance as of December 31, 2021 78,710 8 999,006 4,326 2,619,374 3,622,714
Net income — — — — 361,573 361,573
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) from
investments — — — (3,130) — (3,130)
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjud stment — — — (11,480) — (11,480)
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans 1 305 — 26,149 — — 26,149
Tax withholdings related to net share
settlements of equity awards — — (52,799) — — (52,799)
Common stock repurchased and retired (1,748) — (20,777) — (414,259) (435,036)
Equity forward contract related to accelerated
stock repurchase — — (40,000) — — (40,000)
Stock-based compensation — — 133,367 — — 133,367
Balance as of December 31, 2022 77,267 8 1,044,946 (10,284) 2,566,688 3,601,358
Net income — — — — 445,053 $ 445,053
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) from
investments — — — 3,033 — $ 3,033
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjud stment — — — 28,419 — $ 28,419
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans 335 — 26,595 — — $ 26,595
Tax withholdings related to net share
settlements of equity awards (70) — (22,575) — — $ (22,575)
Common stock repurchased and retired (2,457) (1) (30,852) — (564,567) $ (595,420)
Equity forward contract related to accelerated
stock repurchase — — (10,000) — — $ (10,000)
Stock-based compensation — — 154,026 — — $ 154,026
Balance as of December 31, 2023 75,075 $ 7 $1,162,140 $ 21,168 $2,447,174 $ 3,630,489
1 Includes tax withholding shares related to net share settlements of equity awards.

The accompanym ing notes are an integrag l part of to hett se consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATRR ING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 445,053 $ 361,573 $ 772,020
Adjud stments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Deferred taxes (18,642) (39,495) 15,455
Depreciation and amortization 142,401 125,793 108,729
Stock-based compensation 154,026 133,367 114,336
Non-cash operating lease cost 33,107 30,520 26,807
Impairments on equity investments 4,990 — —
Arbir tration award gain — — (43,403)
Other non-cash operating activities 32,733 41,288 24,363

Changes in assets and liabia lities, net of effeff cts of acquisitions:
Accounts receivabla e (104,614) 21,549 (262,066)
Inventories 30,169 (130,097) (112,450)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (51,013) (65,514) (124,626)
Accounts payable (7,703) (36,523) 19,747
Accruerr d and other long-term liabia lities 46,327 (121,942) 158,543
Long-term income tax payable (7,772) 6,327 12,449
Deferred revenues 86,714 241,886 462,640
Net cash provided by operating activities 785,776 568,732 1,172,544

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (12,304) (8,002)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (177,716) (291,900) (401,098)
Purchase of marketable securities (2,910) (28,002) (200,928)
Proceeds froff m maturt ities of marketabla e securities 55,170 23,785 498
Proceeds froff m sales of marketable securities 6,234 97,316 3,114
Repayment on unsecured promissory note — — 4,594
Proceeds froff m arbitration award — — 43,403
Purchase of equity investments (76,999) — —
Other investing activities 278 (2,211) (5,011)

Net cash used in investing activities (195,943) (213,316) (563,430)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds froff m issuance of common stock 26,595 26,149 25,623
Common stock repurchases (592,360) (435,036) (375,038)
Activity forff equity forward contracts related to accelerated stock repurchase
agreements, net (10,000) (40,000) —
Payroll taxes paid upon the vesting of equity awards (22,575) (52,799) (108,917)

Net cash used in finff ancing activities (598,340) (501,686) (458,332)
Effeff ct of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash 4,671 (11,514) (12,117)

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (3,836) (157,784) 138,665
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year 942,355 1,100,139 961,474
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year $ 938,519 $ 942,355 $1,100,139

The accompanym ing notes are an integrag l part of to hett se consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

Busineii ss Descriptii iott n

Align Technology, Inc. (“We”, “Our”, “Align”) is a global medical device company primarily engaged in the design,
manufactff urt e and marketing of Invisalign® clear aligners for the treatment of malocclusions, or the misalignment of teeth, by
orthodontists and general dental practitioners (“GPs”), ViveraTM retainers forff retention, iTeroTM intraoral scanners and services
for dentistry,rr and exocadTM computer-aided design and computer-aided manufactff urt ing (“CAD/CAM”) software for dental
labora atories and dental practitioners. Our vision and strategy is to revolutionize orthodontic and restorative dentistry through
digital treatment planning and implementation using our Align Digital PlatformTM, an integrated suite of proprietary
technologies and services designed to deliver a seamless, end-to-end solution forff patients, consumers, orthodontists, GPs and
lab pa artners. We strive to achieve our vision and strategy through key objectives made possible with the proprietaryrr
technologies and services of the Align Digital Platforff m to establish: clear aligners as the principal solution forff the treatment of
malocclusions with the Invisalign system as the treatment solution of choice by orthodontists, GPs and patients globally, our
intraoral scanners as the preferred scanning technology for digital dental scans and our exocad CAD/CAM software as the
dental restorative solution of choice for dental labs. Our corporrr ate headquarters is located in Tempe, Arizona and we have
offiff ces worldwide. Our Americas regional headquarters is located in Raleigh, North Carolina; our European, Middle East and
Afriff ca (“EMEA”) regional headquarters is located in Rotkreuz, Switzerland; and our Asia Pacific (“APAC”) regional
headquarters is located in Singapora e. We have two operating segments: (1) Clear Aligner, known as the Invisalign system, and
(2) Imaging Systems and CAD/CAM services (“Systems and Services”), known as the iTero intraoral scanner and CAD/CAM
services.

Basis oii f Po rePP sentattt iott n and Preparatiott n

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of Align and our wholly-owned
subsu idiaries afteff r elimination of intercompany transactions and balances.

Use of Eo stEE imatt tes

The preparation of finff ancial statements in conforff mity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actuat l results
could diffeff r materially froff m those estimates. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue
recognition, usefulff lives of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, goodwill, income taxes, contingent liabia lities,
deferred revenues, the faiff r values of finff ancial instruments, stock-based compensation and the valuation of investments in
privately held companies among others. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
are believed to be reasonabla e, the results of which forff m the basis forff making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabia lities.

In September 2023, we completed an assessment of the useful lives of certain manufactff urt ing equipment used in cutting,
forming, assembling and scanning. We adjud sted the estimated usefulff life fff roff m ten (10) years to thirteen (13) years. This change
in accounting estimate was effective beginning September 2023. These updau ted useful lives were applied to appa licable assets in
service as of the date of change and will be applied prospectively as assets are placed in service. Based on the carrying amount
of the assets recorded in our property, plant and equipment, net balance prior to the change, the effeff ct of this change in estimate
for fisff cal year 2023 was a reduction in depreciation expense of approximately $5.4 million and an increase in net income of
$3.7 million, or $0.05 per share basic and diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Fair Value of Fo inFF ancial Instrutt mentstt

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received froff m selling an asset or paid to transfer a
liabia lity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We use the GAAP fair value hierarchy
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure faiff r value. This hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the
use of observabla e inputs and minimize the use of unobservabla e inputs when measuring faiff r value. The three levels of inputs that
may be used to measure faiff r value:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets forff identical assets or liabia lities.
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Level 2 - Observabla e inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabia lities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabia lities in markets that are not active, or other
inputs that are observabla e or can be corroborated by observabla e market data forff subsu tantially the fulff l term of the asset or
liabia lity. We obtain faiff r values forff our Level 2 investments. Our custody bank and asset managers independently use
profesff sional pricing services to gather pricing data which may include quoted market prices for identical or comparable
financial instrumr ents, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observabla e either directly or indirectly. We are ultimately
responsible for these underlying estimates.

Level 3 - Unobservabla e inputs to the valuation methodology that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabia lities. Level 3 assets and liabia lities include those whose fair
value measurements are determined using pricing models, discounted cash floff w methodologies or similar valuation techniques,
as well as significant management judgment or estimation.

Cash and CasCC h Equivalenll ts

We consider cash on hand, demand deposits, time deposits, and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of
three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are held in various
financial institutions in the U.S. and internationally.

Restritt ctedtt Cash

Restricted cash primarily consists of funds reserved for legal requirements. Restricted cash balances are primarily
included in other assets within our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Marketabltt e Sll ecSS uritiett s

Our marketabla e securities balance consists of marketable debt securities which are classifieff d as availabla e-for-sale and are
carried at fair value. Our fixff ed-income securities investment portfolff io allows for investments with a maximum effecff tive
maturity of up to 40 months on any individual security. Marketabla e securities classified as current assets have maturities within
one year from the balance sheet date. Unrealized gains or losses on such securities are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), net (“AOCI”) in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses froff m sales and maturt ities of
marketable securities are reported in earnings and computed using the specific identificff ation cost method.

All of our marketable securities are subju ect to a periodic impairment review. We evaluate if an allowance forff credit loss is
necessary by considering available information relevant to the collectability of the security and inforff mation abouta credit rating
changes, past events, current conditions, and reasonabla e and supporu tabla e forff ecasts. Any allowance forff credit loss is recorded as
a charge to other income (expense), net, in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. If we have an intent to sell, or if it is
more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security in an unrealized loss position beforff e recovery of its amortized
cost basis, we will write down the security to its fair value and record the corresponding charge as a component of other income
(expense), net in our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Variable Ill ntII ertt est Entities

We evaluate whether an entity in which we have made an investment is considered a variabla e interest entity (“VIE”). If
we determine we are the primary beneficiary orr f a VIE, we would consolidate the VIE into our financial statements. In
determining if we are the primary beneficiary,rr we evaluate whether we have the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and the obligation to absa orb lr osses or the right to receive benefits of the
VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Our evaluation includes identificff ation of significant activities and an
assessment of our ability to direct those activities based on governance provisions and arrangements to provide or receive
product and process technology, product supply, operations services, equity funding, financing, and other applicable
agreements and circumstances. Our assessment of whether we are the primary beneficiary orr f a VIE require management to
exercise significant judgement and utilize assumptions. We have concluded that we are not the primary beneficiary orr f our VIE
investments; thereforff e, we do not consolidate their results into our consolidated financial statements.

Investments itt n Pii riPP vately Held Companies

Our investments in privately held companies in which we cannot exercise significant influff ence and do not own a majoa rity
equity interest or otherwise control are accounted for as an investment in equity securities. We have elected to account for all
investments in equity securities in accordance with the measurement alternative. Under the measurement alternative, we record
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the value of our investments in equity securities at cost, minus impairment, if any. Additionally, we adjust the carrying value of
our investments equity securities to faiff r value for observabla e transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer.

On April 24, 2023, we entered into a Subsu cription Agreement (the "Subsu cription Agreement") with Heartland Dental
Holding Corporr ation (“Heartland”) who is an affiff liate of KKR Core Holding Company LLC, which is an investment vehicle
managed or advised by, or otherwise affiliated with, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. Heartland is a dental support
organization (“DSO”) that provides nonclinical administrative and support services to supporu ted dental professional
corporations (“PCs”). Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement we acquired less than a 5% equity interest through the purchase
of Class A Common Stock for $75 million. In connection with the Subsu cription Agreement, we entered into a Stockholders’
Agreement, by and among us, Heartland Dental Topco, LLC (“Topco”) and funds and accounts managed by affiff liates of KKR
& Co. Inc. (“KKR”), and a Side Letter, by and among us, Heartland, Topco and KKR (the "Side Letter"). Subju ect to certain
restrictions set forff th in the Side Letter, we agreed to provisions applicable to Heartland’s stockholders, including certain drag-
along and voting obligations. We are not the primary beneficiary orr f nor are we abla e to exercise significant influff ence over
Heartland. As such, we are accounting forff our investment in Heartland as an investment in equity securities.

Similar to our other investments in equity securities, Heartland is accounted for under the measurement alternative. Based
on review of our investment in Heartland, we determined that no adjud stments to the carrying value were necessary; therefore, it
is properly refleff cted on our Consolidated Balance Sheet in other assets at $75 million.

Investments in equity securities are reported on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as other assets. We record any change in
carrying value of our equity securities, in other income (expense), net in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. The
carrying value of our investments in equity securities, exclusive of Heartland, were not material as of December 31, 2023 or
2022 and the associated adjud stments to the carrying values of the investments were not material during the year ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Our investments in privately held companies in which we can exercise significant influff ence are accounted for as equity
method investments. We have elected to account for our equity method investments under the fair value option. The carrying
value of our equity method investments are reported on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as other assets and are not material as
of December 31, 2023 or 2022.

On September 6, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire privately held Cubicure GmbH (“Cubicure”).
The purchase price for the transaction will be appra oximately $87 million subject to customary crr losing adjud stments and
adjud stments forff Align’s existing ownership of capital stock of Cubiu cure. The acquisition closed on January 2, 2024. Refer to
Note 17 “SubsSS equent Events" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff further details.

Derivative FinFF ancial Instrutt mentstt

We enter into forff eign currency forff ward contracts to minimize the short-term impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations associated with certain assets and liabia lities. These forward contracts are not designated as hedging instruments.
The gains and losses on these forward contracts are intended to offset the gains and losses in the underlying foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabia lities being economically hedged. We do not enter into forff eign currency forwff ard
contracts forff trading or speculative purposr es. The net gain or loss froff m the settlement of these foreign currency forff ward
contracts is recorded in other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Foreign Cgg urCC rencyc

For our international subsidiaries, we analyze on an annual basis or more ofteff n, if necessary, if a significant change in
facts and circumstances indicate that the funcff tional currency of the subsu idiary has changed. For international subsidiaries where
the local currency is the functional currency, adjud stments froff m translating finff ancial statements from the local currency to the
U.S. dollar reporting currency are recorded to change in foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax in our Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income. This foreign currency translation adjustment reflects the translation of the balance sheet
at period end exchange rates, and the income statement at the transaction date or average exchange rate in effeff ct during the
period. Foreign currency remeasurement gains and losses that are derived froff m monetary assets and liabia lities stated in a
currency other than the international subsu idiaries functional currency are included in other income (expense), net. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we had forff eign currency translation net gains (losses) of $(7.0) million, $(43.8)
million and $(13.3) million, respectively.

Certaitt n Rii isks and UncUU ertainties
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We are subject to risks including, but not limited to, global and regional economic market conditions, inflaff tion,
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, changes in consumer confidff ence and demand, increased competition,
dependence on key personnel, protection and litigation of proprietary technology, shiftsff in taxabla e income between tax
jurisdictions and compliance with regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and similar international
agencies. Further, our operations globally, particularly in prior years, have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our cash and investments are held primarily by five financial institutions. Financial instruments which potentially expose
us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents and marketable securities. We invest excess cash
primarily in money market fundff s, corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, municipal and U.S. government agency bonds and
treasury brr onds and periodically evaluate them forff credit losses. Such credit losses have not been material to our financial
statements.

We purchase certain inventory frr roff m sole suppliers. Additionally, we rely on a limited number of hardware
manufactff urt ers. The inabia lity of any supplier or manufactff urt er to fulfillff our supplu y requirements could materially and adversely
impact our future operating results.

Accounts Rtt eceivable,ll net

Trade accounts receivabla e are recorded at the invoiced amount. Accounts receivabla e, net includes allowances for doubtful
accounts forff any potentially uncollectible amounts. We periodically assess the adequacy of the allowance forff doubtful accounts
by reviewing the accounts receivabla e on a collective basis and giving consideration to various factors including the aging of the
receivabla es and a customers’ expected ability to pay. For specific customer accounts receivabla e balances, we consider known
disputes and past collectability issues. In determining the amount of the allowance forff doubtful accounts, we also evaluate the
creditworthiness of customers, current market conditions and forff ecasts of future economic conditions to make any adjustments.
Actual write-offs have not materially differed froff m the estimated allowances. No individual customer accounted for 10% or
more of our accounts receivabla e, net balance at December 31, 2023 or 2022 nor net revenues forff the year ended December 31,
2023, 2022 or 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we entered into factff oring transactions on a non-recourse basis with
financial institutions to sell certain of our non-U.S. accounts receivabla e. We account for these transactions as sales of finff ancial
assets and include the cash proceeds as a part of our cash floff ws from operations in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
Total accounts receivabla e sold under factff oring arrangements was $51.2 million and $37.0 million during the year ended
December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Factoring feesff incurred on the sales of accounts receivabla e were recorded in other
income (expense), net in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and were not material.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost computed using standard cost which
approximates actuat l cost on a first-in-first-out basis. Excess and obsolete inventories are determined primarily based on futff urt e
demand forecasts, and write-downs of excess and obsolete inventories are recorded as a component of cost of net revenues.

Property,tt Planll t and Equipmii ent, net

Property, plant and equipment, net are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated usefulff lives of the assets. Construcrr tion in progress is related to the
construcr tion or development of property (including land) and equipment that are not ready forff their intended use and have not
yet been placed in service. Upon sale or retirement, the asset’s cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed froff m the
balance sheet and any related gains or losses are reflected in income froff m operations. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. Refer to Note 3 “Ba“ lance SheSS et Components"tt of the NotNN es of Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tementstt for details on
estimated useful lives.

Leases - Lessee

We determine if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not
recorded on the balance sheet. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent our right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term and
lease liabia lities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising froff m the lease. A ROU asset and lease liabia lity is
recognized on the lease commencement date. The lease liabia lity is determined based on the present value of lease payments
over the lease term. We use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information availabla e at commencement date in
determining the present value of lease payments as the rate implicit in our leases is not readily determinable. The ROU asset
consists of the initial lease liabia lity adjud sted for lease incentives received and any initial direct costs incurred. The lease term
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represents the noncancellable period of the lease and may include options to extend the lease when it is reasonabla y certain that
we will exercise that option. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components which are accounted for as a
single lease component. Payments under our lease arrangements are primarily fixed; however, certain lease agreements contain
variable payments which are expensed as incurred and not included in the ROU asset and lease liabia lity balances. The short-
term portion of our lease liabia lities is recorded in accrued liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Busineii ss Combinatiott ns

We allocate the fair value of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabia lities assumed based on their
estimated faiff r values at the acquisition date. When determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabia lities assumed,
management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to determining the fair value of
intangible assets. The estimates and assumptions used in valuing intangible assets include, but are not limited to, the amount
and timing of projeo cted future cash floff ws including forecasted revenues, the discount rate used to determine the present value of
these cash floff ws, and the determination of the assets’ life cff ycle. Amounts recorded in a business combination may change
during the measurement period, which is a period not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, as additional informff ation
about conditions existing at the acquisition date becomes availabla e.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of tangible and identifiaff bla e intangible net
assets acquired in a business combination and is allocated to the respective reporting units based on relative synergies
generated.

Finiii teii -Lived Intangible Assets

Our intangible assets primarily consist of intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination. These assets are
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated usefulff lives ranging from eight to ten years refleff cting the period in
which the economic benefits of the assets are expected to be realized.

Impaim rmii ent of Go oodwGG ill all nd Long-Lgg ived Assets and FinFF ite-tt Li- ved IntII antt gibli e All ssets

Goodwill

We evaluate goodwill for impairment at least annually on November 30th or more freff quently if indicators of impairment
are identifieff d between annual testing dates.

We perform an initial assessment of qualitative facff tors to determine whether the existence of events and circumstances
leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the faiff r value of a reporting unit has been reduced below its carryirr ng
amount. In performing this qualitative assessment, we identify and consider the significance of relevant key factff ors, events, and
circumstances that affeff ct the faiff r value of our reporting units. These factors include external factors such as macroeconomic,
industry,rr and market conditions, as well as entity-specific factff ors, such as our actuat l and planned finff ancial performance. We
also give consideration to the difference between the reporting unit faiff r value and carrying value as of the most recent date a fair
value measurement was performed. If, afteff r assessing the totality of relevant events and circumstances, we determine that it is
not more likely than not that the faiff r value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, no furff ther testing is performed;
however, if we conclude otherwise, then we will perform a quantitative impairment test which compares the estimated faiff r
value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, an impairment loss would be recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the amount of the excess.
Management is required to exercise significant judgement when identifyiff ng the relevant assumptions and estimates used in
determining the fair value and carrying value of our reporting units.

Long-Lived Assets and Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

We evaluate long-lived assets (including ROU assets) and finff ite-lived intangible assets, forff impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset (asset group) may not be recoverabla e. Factors we
consider important which could trigger a quantitative impairment test include but are not limited to significant negative industryrr
or economic trends, significant adverse changes in our competitive environment and a significant loss of customers. If an
impairment indicator is identified, we perform a quantitative impairment analysis in which we compare the carrying value of an
asset (asset group) to the futff urt e undiscounted cash floff ws the asset (asset group) is expected to generate. An asset (asset group)
is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash floff ws. If an asset (asset group) is deemed to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset (asset group)
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exceeds its fair value. Our estimates of futff urt e cash floff ws attributable to our assets (asset groups) require significant judgment
based on our historical and anticipated results and are subju ect to many assumptions.

Developmll ent CosCC ts for IntII ertt nal UseUU Softo watt re

Internally developed softwff are includes enterprr ise-level business softwff are that we customize to meet our specific
operational needs. Such capia talized costs include external direct costs utilized in developing or obtaining the appla ications and
payroll and payroll-related costs for employees, who are directly associated with the development of the applications.
Capia talized internally developed softwff are costs were not material as of December 31, 2023 or 2022.

Developmll ent CosCC ts for SofSS twff are to btt e MarMM kerr ted

The costs to develop softwff are that is marketed externally have not been capia talized as we believe our current software
development process is essentially completed concurrent with the establa ishment of technological feasibility. As such, all related
software development costs are expensed as incurred and included in research and development expense in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

Product Warrantytt

We offeff r assurance warranties on our products which provide the customer assurance that the product will funff ction as
intended because it complies with agreed-uponu specificff ations; therefore, our warranties are not treated as a separate revenue
performance obligation in accordance with the revenue standard but rather are accounted for as guarantees.

Clear Alignegg r

We warrant our Invisalign products against material defecff ts until the treatment plan is complete except in the case of
retainers, which are warranted up to three months from expected first use. We accrue forff warranty costs, which are primarily
based on historical product faiff lure rates as well as current information on replacement cost.

Systyy ems and Services

We warrant our intraoral scanners forff a period of one year, which includes materials and labor. We accrue forff these
warranty costs based on average historical repair costs. An extended warranty may be purchased for an additional fee.ff Sales of
extended warranties are accounted for as a separate performance obligation and recorded as revenue.

We warrant our CAD/CAM softwff are forff a one year period to perform in accordance with agreed product specifications.
As we have not historically incurred any material warranty costs, we do not accruer for these software warranties.

Warranty costs are recorded in cost of net revenues uponu shipment of products. We regularly review our warranty liabia lity
and updu ate these balances based on historical warranty cost trends. Actuat l warranty costs incurred have not materially differff ed
from those accruerr d; however future actuat l warranty costs could diffeff r froff m the estimated amounts.

Revenue Recogno itiott n

Our revenues are derived primarily from the sale of aligners, scanners, and services from our Clear Aligner and Systems
and Services reportabla e segments. We enter into sales contracts that may consist of multiple distinct performance obligations
where certain performance obligations of the sales contract are not delivered in one reporting period. We measure and allocate
revenues according to ASC 606-10, “Revenues froff m ConCC tracts with Customers.rr ”

We identify aff performance obligation as distinct if both of the following criteria are met: the customer can benefit fromff
the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily availabla e to the customer and the entity’s
promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiaff bla e froff m other promises in the contract.
Determining the standalone selling price (“SSP”) in order to allocate consideration froff m the contract to the individual
performance obligations is the result of various factors, such as historical prices, changing trends and market conditions, costs,
and gross margins. While changes in the allocation of the SSP between performance obligations will not affeff ct the amount of
total revenues recognized for a particular contract, any material changes could impact the timing of revenue recognition, which
would have a material effect on our financial position and result of operations. This is because the contract consideration is
allocated to each performance obligation, delivered or undelivered, at the inception of the contract based on the SSP of each
distinct performance obligation.
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Clear Alignegg r

We enter into contracts (“treatment plan(s)”) that involve multiple future performance obligations. Invisalign
Comprehensive, Invisalign First Phase 1, Invisalign First Comprehensive Phase 2, Invisalign Adult, Invisalign Standard,
Invisalign Moderate, Invisalign Go, Invisalign Go Plus, and Lite and Express Packages include optional additional aligners at
no charge for a certain period of time ranging from six months to five years after initial shipment.

Our treatment plans comprise the following performance obligations that also represent distinct deliverables: initial
aligners, the option of additional aligners. We take the practical expedient to consider shipping and handling costs as activities
to fulfillff the performance obligation. Where processing fees are charged, the consideration received froff m the fees are included
in the total consideration. We allocate consideration forff each treatment plan based on each unit’s standalone selling price.
Management considers a variety of factff ors such as same or similar product historical sales, costs, and gross margin, which may
vary over time depending upon the unique facts and circumstances related to each performance obligation in making these
estimates. In addition to historical data, we take into consideration changing trends and market conditions. For treatment plans
with multiple future options, we also consider usage rates, which is the number of times a customer is expected to order
additional aligners. Our process forff estimating usage rates requires significant judgment and evaluation of inputs, including
historical usage data by region, country and channel. We recognize the revenues uponu shipment, as the customers obtain
physical possession and we have enforff ceable rights to payment. As we collect most consideration upfu roff nt, we consider whether
a significant finff ancing component exists; however, as the delivery orr f the performance obligations are at the customer’s
discretion, we conclude that no significant finff ancing component exists.

Systyy ems and Services

We sell intraoral scanners and CAD/CAM services through both our direct sales forff ce and distribution partners. The
intraoral scanner sales price includes one year of warranty and unlimited scanning services. The customer may also select, forff
additional feesff , extended warranty and unlimited scanning services for periods beyond the initial year. When intraoral scanners
are sold with an unlimited scanning service agreement and/or extended warranty, we allocate revenues based on the respective
SSP of the scanner and the subscription service. We estimate the SSP of each element, taking into account factors such as same
or similar historical prices and discounting strategies. Revenues are then recognized over time as the monthly services are
rendered and upon shipment of the scanner, as that is when we deem the customer to have obtained control. We also have a
rental program, where scanners are leased to customers. The contracts forff the program are treated as operating leases, and the
revenue is recognized ratabla y over the lease term.

CAD/CAM services, where sold separately, include the initial software license and maintenance and support. We allocate
revenues based upon the respective SSPs of the softwff are license and the maintenance and supporu t. We estimate the SSP of each
element using data such as historical prices. Revenues related to the softwff are license are recognized upfroff nt and revenues
related to the maintenance and supporu t are recognized over time. For both scanner and service sales, most consideration is
collected upfroff nt and in cases where there are payment plans, consideration is collected within one year and, thereforff e, there are
no significant financing components.

Volume Discii ountstt

In certain situations, we offer promotions in which the discount will increase depending upon the volume purchased over
time. We concluded that in these situations, the promotions can represent either variable consideration or options, depending
upon the specifics of the promotion. In the event the promotion contains an option, the option is considered a material right and,
thereforff e, included in the accounting forff the initial arrangement. We estimate the average anticipated discount over the lifetff ime
of the promotion or contract, and appla y that discount to each unit as it is sold. On a quarterly basis, we review our estimates
and, if needed, updau tes are made and changes are applied prospectively.

Accrued SalSS es Return Reserve

We provide a reserve for sales returns based on historical sales returt ns as a percentage of revenues.

CosCC ts to Obtain a ContCC ratt ct

We offeff r a variety of commission plans to our salesforff ce; each plan has multiple components. To match the costs to obtain
a contract to the associated revenues, we evaluate the individual components and capitalize the eligible components,
recognizing the costs over the treatment period. The capitalized costs to obtain contracts were $25.1 million and $27.4 million
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We
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recognized amortization on our costs to obtain a contract of $12.5 million, $20.8 million, and $17.0 million durd ing the year
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, which is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Unfun lfilled Perfor rmance Obligations for Clear Alignegg rs and Scanners

Our unfulff filled performance obligations, including deferred revenues and backlog, and the estimated revenues expected to
be recognized in the future related to these perforff mance obligations are $1,578.3 million and $1,515.4 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This includes performance obligations from the Clear Aligner reportabla e segment,
primarily the shipment of additional aligners, which are fulff filled over six months to five years. This also includes performance
obligations from our Systems and Services reportabla e segment, primarily services and support, which are fulfilleff d over one to
five years, and contracted deliveries of additional scanners. The estimate includes both product and service unfulff filled
performance obligations and the time range reflects our best estimate of when we will transferff control to the customer and may
change based on customer usage patterns, timing of shipments, readiness of customers' faciff lities forff installation, and
manufactff urt ing availabia lity.

Contrat ct Balances

The timing of revenue recognition results in deferred revenues being recognized on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. For
both aligners and scanners, we usually collect the total consideration owed prior to all performance obligations being satisfied
with payment terms generally varyirr ng from net 30 to net 180 days. Contract liabia lities are recorded as deferred revenue, which
is generated based upon the timing of invoices and recognition patterns, not payments. If the revenue recognition exceeds the
billing, the excess amount is considered an unbilled receivable or a contract asset. Conversely, if the billing occurs prior to the
revenue recognition, the amount is considered deferred revenue and a contract liabia lity.

Shippipp ng and Handling CosCC ts

Shipping and handling charges to customers as well as processing fees are included in net revenues, and the associated
costs incurred are recorded in cost of net revenues.

Legale Proceedindd gs and Litigtt atiott n

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongoing basis. If we believe that a loss arising from such matters is probabla e
and can be reasonably estimated, we accruer the estimated loss in our consolidated financial statements. If only a range of
estimated losses can be determined, we accruer an amount within the range that, in our judgment, reflects the most likely
outcome; if none of the estimates within that range is a better estimate than any other amount, we accruer the low end of the
range.

Investment in SmileDll irectCluCC b, LLC (“SD“ C”)”

Afteff r tendering of our SDC equity interest in 2019, on July 3, 2019, we filed a demand for arbitration regarding SDC’s
calculation of the “capital account” balance. On March 12, 2021, the arbitrator ruled in our favor and against SDC and issued an
award of $43.4 million along with interest. The gain of $43.4 million was recognized as a part of our other income (expense),
net in our Consolidated Statement of Operation durd ing the year ended December 31, 2021.

Research and Developmo ent

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and include costs associated with the research and development
of new products and enhancements to existing products. These costs primarily include personnel-related costs, including payroll
and stock-based compensation, equipment, material and maintenance costs, outside consulting expenses, depreciation and
amortization expense and allocations of corporate overhead expenses including facilities and information technology (“IT”).

Adverdd tising CosCC ts

The cost of advertising and media is expensed as incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we
incurred advertising costs of $201.2 million, $222.0 million and $325.6 million, respectively.

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n
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We recognize stock-based compensation cost forff shares expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period of the award, net of estimated forff feitures. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of
employee stock purchase plan shares. We use a Monte Carlo simulation model to estimate the faiff r value of market based
restricted stock units which requires the input of assumptions, including expected term, stock price volatility and the risk-free
rate of return. For restricted stock units which vest based on perforff mance conditions, we use the stock price on the grant date to
estimate the faiff r value and stock-based compensation cost is recorded based on expected attainment of performance targets.
Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if
actuat l forff feitures diffeff r froff m those estimates.

Income Taxeaa s

We make certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense forff financial statement purposrr es. These
estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabia lities, which arise from diffeff rences in the timing
of recognition of revenues and expenses for tax and finff ancial statement purposr es.

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in
each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves us estimating our current tax exposure under the applicable
tax laws and assessing temporary drr iffeff rences resulting from diffeff ring treatment of items for tax and accounting purposr es. These
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabia lities which are included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes pursuant to authoritative guidance based on a two-step appra oach to recognize
and measure uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax returt n. The firff st step is to determine if the weight of
availabla e evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on audit based on its technical
merits, including resolution of any related appea als or litigation processes. The second step is to measure the tax benefitff as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement. We adjust reserves forff our uncertain tax
positions due to changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit or refinff ement of estimates dued to new
information. To the extent that the final outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such diffeff rences will
impact our tax provision in our Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which such determination is made.

We assess the likelihood that we will be able to realize our deferred tax assets. Should there be a change in our ability to
realize our deferred tax assets, our tax provision would increase in the period in which we determine that it is more likely than
not that we cannot realize our deferred tax assets. We consider all availabla e evidence, both positive and negative, including
historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of futff urt e taxable income and ongoing pruder nt and
feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need forff a valuation allowance. If it is more likely than not that we will not
realize our deferred tax assets, we will increase our provision for taxes by recording a valuation allowance against the deferff red
tax assets that we estimate will not ultimately be realizable.

Common StoSS ck Repuee rchase

We repurchase our own common stock from time to time under stock repurchase programs appra oved by our Board of
Directors. We account for these repurchases under the accounting guidance forff equity where we allocate the total repurchase
value that is in excess of par value between additional paid-in capital and retained earnings. All shares repurchased are retired.

Recent Accountintt g ProPP nouncements

(i) Ni ewNN Accounting UpdatUU es Recently Adoptdd ed

In October 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 2021-08,
“Business Combinations (Topic 805) Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,”
which requires contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured in
accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers as if the acquirer had originated the contracts. The updated
guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2022 on a prospective
basis and early adoption is permitted. We early adopted this standard during 2022 which did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

(ii) Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not YetYY Effeff ctive

On November 27, 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The
amendments in this update improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about
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significant segment expenses. For public business entities, the provisions of ASU 2023-07 are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption
is permitted. Companies must apply the guidance retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The
Company is evaluating the effect of this pronouncement on its annual consolidated financial statements.

On December 14, 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.” The amendments in
this ASU require a public entity to disclose in tabular format, using both percentages and reporting currency amounts, specific
categories in the rate reconciliation and to provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative
threshold. The amendments in this ASU also require taxes paid (net of refunds received) to be disaggregated by federal, state,
and foreign taxes and further disaggregated for specific jurisdictions to the extent the related amounts exceed a quantitative
threshold. For public business entities, the provisions of ASU 2023-09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the effect of this pronouncement on its annual consolidated
financial statements.

Note 2. Financial Instruments

Cash, CasCC h Equivalenll ts and MarMM kerr table Sll ecSS urities

The folff lowing tabla es summarize our cash and cash equivalents, and marketabla e securities recorded in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Reported as:

December 31, 2023
Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses Fair Value

Cash and
cash

equivalents

Marketable
securities,
short-term

Marketable
securities,
long-term

Cash $ 887,682 $ — $ — $ 887,682 $ 887,682 $ — $ —
Money market funff ds 49,756 — — 49,756 49,756 — —
Corporate bonds 31,943 5 (676) 31,272 — 28,704 2,568
U.S. government treasury bonds 4,855 — (99) 4,756 — — 4,756
Asset-backed securities 1,416 2 (1) 1,417 — 719 698
Municipal bonds 702 — (2) 700 — 700 —
U.S. government agency bonds 5,215 — (34) 5,181 — 5,181 —
Total $ 981,569 $ 7 $ (812) $ 980,764 $ 937,438 $ 35,304 $ 8,022

Reported as:

December 31, 2022
Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses Fair Value

Cash and
cash

equivalents

Marketable
securities,
short-term

Marketable
securities,
long-term

Cash $ 712,921 $ — $ — $ 712,921 $ 712,921 $ — $ —
Money market funff ds 229,129 — — 229,129 229,129 — —
Corporate bonds 69,390 — (2,915) 66,475 — 36,510 29,965
U.S. government treasury bonds 20,559 — (549) 20,010 — 15,404 4,606
Asset-backed securities 4,514 1 (37) 4,478 — 2,909 1,569
Municipal bonds 3,447 — (61) 3,386 — 2,711 675
U.S. government agency bonds 5,231 1 (69) 5,163 — — 5,163
Total $1,045,191 $ 2 $ (3,631) $1,041,562 $ 942,050 $ 57,534 $ 41,978

The folff lowing tabla es summarizes the faiff r value of our availabla e-for-sale marketabla e securities classified by contractuat l
maturity as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022

Due in 1 year or less $ 34,617 $ 51,037
Due in 1 year through 5 years 8,709 48,475
Total $ 43,326 $ 99,512
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The securities that we invest in are generally deemed to be low risk based on their credit ratings from the majoa r rating
agencies. The longer the duration of these securities, the more susceptible they are to changes in market interest rates and bond
yields. As interest rates increase, those securities purchased at a lower yield show a mark-to-market unrealized loss. Our
unrealized losses as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are primarily due to changes in interest rates and credit spreads.

The folff lowing tabla es summarize the gross unrealized losses as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, aggregated by investment
category arr nd length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2023
Less than 12 months 12 Months or Greater Total

December 31, 2023 Fair Value
Unrealized
Loss Fair Value

Unrealized
Loss Fair Value

Unrealized
Loss

Corporate bonds $ — $ — $ 27,939 $ (676) $ 27,939 $ (676)
U.S. government treasury bonds 2,044 (11) 2,712 (88) 4,756 (99)
Asset-backed securities 1,018 (1) 83 — 1,101 (1)
Municipal bonds — — 700 (2) 700 (2)
U.S. government agency bonds 4,003 (11) 1,178 (23) 5,181 (34)
Total $ 7,065 $ (23) $ 32,612 $ (789) $ 39,677 $ (812)

of December 31, 2022
Less than 12 months 12 Months or Greater Total

December 31, 2022 Fair Value
Unrealized
Loss Fair Value

Unrealized
Loss Fair Value

Unrealized
Loss

Corporate bonds $ 10,639 $ (440) $ 54,634 $ (2,475) $ 65,273 $ (2,915)
U.S. government treasury bonds 5,262 (177) 14,748 (372) 20,010 (549)
Asset-backed securities 2,636 (17) 1,275 (20) 3,911 (37)
Municipal bonds — — 2,412 (61) 2,412 (61)
U.S. government agency bonds 3,017 (5) 1,136 (64) 4,153 (69)
Total $ 21,554 $ (639) $ 74,205 $ (2,992) $ 95,759 $ (3,631)

Fair Value MeaMM surementstt

The folff lowing tabla es summarize our financial assets measured at fair value and categorized by fair value hierarchy as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Description
Balance as of

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2

Cash equivalents:
Money market fundsff $ 49,756 $ 49,756 $ —

Short-term investments:
Corporate bonds 28,704 — 28,704
Municipal bonds 700 — 700
U.S. government agency bonds 5,181 — 5,181
Asset-backed securities 719 — 719

Long-term investments:
U.S. government treasury bonds 4,756 — 4,756
Corporrr ate bonds 2,568 — 2,568
Asset-backed securities 698 — 698

$ 93,082 $ 49,756 $ 43,326
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Description
Balance as of

December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2

Cash equivalents:
Money market fundsff $ 229,129 $ 229,129 $ —

Short-term investments:
U.S. government treasury bonds 15,404 15,404 —
Corporate bonds 36,510 — 36,510
Municipal bonds 2,711 — 2,711
Asset-backed securities 2,909 — 2,909

Long-term investments:
U.S. government treasury bonds 4,606 4,606 —
Corporate bonds 29,965 — 29,965
Municipal bonds 675 — 675
U.S. government agency bonds 5,163 — 5,163
Asset-backed securities 1,569 — 1,569

$ 328,641 $ 249,139 $ 79,502

We had no finff ancial assets that were categorized as level 3 in the faiff r value hierarchy forff the year ended December 31,
2023 or 2022.

Derivatives Not Designagg ted as HedHH gidd ngii Instrutt mentstt

Recurring foreign cgg urrency fc orff ward contrat ctstt

We enter into forff eign currency forff ward contracts to minimize the short-term impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations on certain assets and liabia lities. These forff ward contracts are classified within Level 2 of the faiff r value hierarchy. As
a result of the settlement of forff eign currency forff ward contracts, we recognized a net loss of $15.9 million durd ing the year ended
December 31, 2023. The net gain recognized during the year ended 2022 was not material and we recognized a net gain of
$18.8 million durd ing the year ended December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the faiff r value of foreign exchange
forward contracts outstanding was not material.
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The folff lowing tabla es present the gross notional value of all our foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Local Currency
Amount

Notional
Contract

Amount (USD)

Euro €337,780 $ 373,705
Canadian Dollar C$108,900 82,166
Polish Zloty PLN276,900 70,393
British Pound £45,590 58,005
Chinese Yuan ¥244,500 34,361
Swiss Franc CHF28,600 34,132
Japaa nese Yen ¥3,577,000 25,347
Israeli Shekel ILS78,700 21,800
Brazilian Real R$80,500 16,563
Mexican Peso M$230,000 13,593
New Zealand Dollar NZ$6,600 4,161
Australian Dollar A$4,300 2,921
New Taiwan Dollar NT$89,000 2,919
Czech Koruna Kč60,200 2,687
Korean Won ₩2,200,000 1,709

$ 744,462

December 31, 2022

Local Currency
Amount

Notional
Contract

Amount (USD)

Euro €186,900 $ 200,010
Polish Zloty PLN365,988 83,307
Canadian Dollar C$109,000 80,514
Chinese Yuan ¥471,000 68,223
British Pound £41,200 49,677
Japaa nese Yen ¥6,200,000 47,196
Israeli Shekel ILS110,030 31,383
Swiss Franc CHF25,000 27,165
Brazilian Real R$141,200 26,839
Mexican Peso M$230,000 11,746
New Zealand Dollar NZ$6,000 3,806
Australian Dollar A$4,000 2,721
Czech Korunr a Kč56,000 2,469
New Taiwan Dollar NT$60,000 1,959

$ 637,015
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Note 3. Balance Sheet Components

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

Raw materials $ 145,492 $ 172,758
Work in progress 91,259 96,558
Finished goods 60,151 69,436
Total inventories $ 296,902 $ 338,752

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

Value added tax receivables $ 143,728 $ 140,484
Prepaid expenses 52,487 69,124
Other current assets 77,335 16,762
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 273,550 $ 226,370

Property, plant and equipment, net consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Generally Used
Estimated Useful Lif 2eff 023 2022

Clinical and manufacff turing equipment Up to 13 years $ 703,805 $ 583,776
Building 20 years 517,554 466,003
Leasehold improvements Lease term 1 62,216 64,238
Computer software and hardware 3 years 125,633 120,544
Land 6— 3,875 58,885
Furniture, fixff tures and other 2-5 years 122,820 102,933
Construcr tion in progress 2— 45,722 285,202
Total 1,841,625 1,681,581
Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment charges (550,762) (449,726)
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,290,863 $ 1,231,855

1 Shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets

Depreciation was $126.0 million, $109.8 million and $92.1 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Accruer d liabia lities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

Accruer d payroll and benefitff s $ 220,862 $ 149,508
Accruer d expenses 71,109 64,341
Accruer d income taxes 38,103 74,323
Accruer d sales and marketing expenses 34,035 36,407
Current operating lease liabilities 29,651 26,574
Accruer d property, plant and equipment 23,618 19,922
Other accruerr d liabia lities 108,402 83,299
Total accruerr d liabia lities $ 525,780 $ 454,374
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Accruer d warranty as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, which is included in the “Other accruerr d liabia lities” category irr n the
accruer d liabia lities table above, consists of the folff lowing activity (in thousands):

Accruer d warranty as of December 31, 2021 $ 16,169
Charged to cost of net revenues 16,429
Actual warranty expenditures (14,725)

Accruer d warranty as of December 31, 2022 17,873
Charged to cost of net revenues 18,248
Actual warranty expenditures (13,695)

Accruer d warranty as of December 31, 2023 $ 22,426

Deferred revenues consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

Deferred revenues - current $ 1,427,706 $ 1,343,643
Deferred revenues - long-term 1 138,000 160,662

1 Included in Other long-term liabia lities within our Consolidated Balance Sheets

During the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recognized $3,862.3 million and $3,734.6 million of net
revenues, respectively, of which $732.4 million and $635.3 million was included in the deferred revenues balance at
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

Note 4. Leases

Lessee InfII orff marr tion

We have operating leases for our digital treatment planning and office facilities, retail spaces, vehicles and offiff ce
equipment. The components of lease expenses consist of folff lowing (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Lease Cost 2023 2022 2021

Operating lease cost 1 $ 44,614 $ 37,919 $ 33,241
Variable lease cost 2 16,013 22,084 11,134

Total lease cost $ 60,627 $ 60,003 $ 44,375
1 Includes expense associated with short term leases of less than 12 months which is not material
2 Includes payments related to agreements with embedded leases that are not otherwise refleff cted on the balance sheet. These costs are

primarily associated with our manufactff urt ing supply arrangements and fluctuate based on factory orr utputt and material price changes.

The folff lowing tabla e provides a summary of our operating lease terms and discount rates:
December 31,

Remaining Lease Term and Discount Rate 2023 2022

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 6.2 7.2
Weighted average discount rate 3.7 % 3.5 %
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As of December 31, 2023, the future payments related to our operating lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, Operating Leases

2024 $ 33,838
2025 28,381
2026 22,449
2027 16,933
2028 12,746
Thereafteff r 25,901
Total lease payments 140,248
Less: Imputed interest (13,629)
Total lease liabia lities $ 126,619

As of December 31, 2023, we had additional leases that have not yet commenced with future lease payments of $13.3
million. These leases will commence durd ing 2024 with non-cancelable lease terms of two to fivff e years.

Lessor InfII orff marr tion

We lease iTero intraoral scanners to customers which are classified as operating leases. Our portfolff io of leased iTero
scanners included in Property, plant and equipment, net are as follows:

December 31,
2023 2022

Scanners under operating leases, gross $ 27,145 $ 22,914
Less: accumulated depreciation (9,815) (3,919)
Scanners under operating leases, net $ 17,330 $ 18,995

As of December 31, 2023, the future lease payments dued to us are as folff lows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, Operating Leases

2024 $ 22,737
2025 18,170
2026 8,908
Total lease payments $ 49,815

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, operating lease income was $16.6 million and $12.3 million, respectively
and forff the year ended December 31, 2021, operating lease income was not material. Operating lease income is recorded in net
revenues in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we completed an immaterial business combination which increased goodwill
and existing technology intangible assets.

Goodwill

The change in the carrying value of goodwill forff the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, categorized by reportabla e
segment, is as follows (in thousands):

Clear Aligner
Systems and
Services Total

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 112,208 $ 306,339 $ 418,547
Additions from acquisition — 8,729 8,729
Foreign currency translation adjud stments (2,728) (16,997) (19,725)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 109,480 298,071 407,551
Foreign currency translation adjud stments 1,606 10,373 11,979

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 111,086 $ 308,444 $ 419,530

We completed our annual goodwill impairment assessments in 2023 and 2022 and determined there were no impairments.

Finiii teii -Lived Intangible Assets

Acquired finff ite lived intangible assets were as follows, excluding intangible assets that were fully amortized (in
thousands):

Weighted Average
Amortization
Period (in years)

Gross Carrying
Amount as of

December 31, 2023
Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
Impairment

Loss

Net Carrying
Value as of

December 31, 2023

Existing technology 10 $ 112,051 $ (45,331) $ (4,328) $ 62,392
Customer relationships 10 21,500 (8,063) — 13,437
Trademarks and tradenames 10 16,600 (7,605) (4,122) 4,873
Patents 8 6,511 (6,082) — 429

$ 156,662 $ (67,081) $ (8,450) 81,131
Foreign currency translation adjud stments 987
Total intangible assets, net 1 $ 82,118

1 Also includes $34.3 million of fulff ly amortized intangible assets related to customer relationships.

Weighted Average
Amortization
Period (in years)

Gross Carrying
Amount as of

December 31, 2022
Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
Impairment

Loss

Net Carrying
Value as of

December 31, 2022

Existing technology 10 $ 112,051 $ (33,537) $ (4,328) $ 74,186
Customer relationships 10 21,500 (5,913) — 15,587
Trademarks and tradenames 10 17,200 (6,442) (4,122) 6,636
Patents 8 6,511 (5,288) — 1,223

$ 157,262 $ (51,180) $ (8,450) 97,632
Foreign currency translation adjud stments (1,912)
Total intangible assets, net 1 $ 95,720

1 Also includes $33.5 million of fulff ly amortized intangible assets related to customer relationships.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we did not identify aff ny impairment triggering events that would indicate
that the carrying value of our finite-lived intangible assets was not recoverabla e.
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The total estimated annual futff urt e amortization expense forff these acquired intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 is as
follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Amortization

2024 $ 15,335
2025 14,959
2026 14,353
2027 11,992
2028 10,890
Thereafteff r 13,602
Total $ 81,131

Amortization expense was $16.4 million, $16.0 million and $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

Note 6. Credit Facility

We have a credit facff ility that provides forff a $300.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit, along with a $50.0 million
letter of credit. On December 23, 2022, we amended certain provisions in our credit facility which included extending the
maturity date on the facff ility to December 23, 2027 and replacing the interest rate froff m the existing LIBOR with SOFR (“2022
Credit Facility”). The 2022 Credit Facility requires us to comply with specific finff ancial conditions and performance
requirements. Loans under the 2022 Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at either a rate based on the SOFR forff the
applicable interest period or a base rate, in each case plus a margin. As of December 31, 2023, we had no outstanding
borrowings under the 2022 Credit Facility and were in compliance with the conditions and performance requirements in all
material respects.

Note 7. Legal Proceedings

2019 Shareholdel r Derivative Lawsuww it

In January 2019, three derivative lawsuits were fileff d in the U.S. District Court forff the Northern District of Califorff nia
which were later consolidated, purporr tedly on our behalf, nff aming as defenff dants the then current members of our Board of
Directors along with certain of our executive officers. The complaints assert various state law causes of action, including for
breaches of fiduciary duty, insider trading, and unjust enrichment. The complaints seek unspecified monetary damages on our
behalf, wff hich is named solely as a nominal defendant against whom no recovery is sought, as well as disgorgement and the
costs and expenses associated with the litigation, including attorneys’ fees. The consolidated action is currently stayed.
Defendants have not yet responded to the complaints.

On April 12, 2019, a derivative lawsuit was also fileff d in Califorff nia Superior Court forff Santa Clara County, purporr tedly on
our behalf, nff aming as defenff dants the members of our Board of Directors along with certain of our executive officers. The
allegations in the complaint are similar to those in the derivative suits described abovea . The matter is currently stayed.
Defendants have not yet responded to the complaint.

We believe these claims are without merit. We are currently unabla e to predict the outcome of these lawsuits and therefore
cannot determine the likelihood of loss nor estimate a range of possible loss.

Antitrust Class Actions

On June 5, 2020, a dental practice named Simon and Simon, PC doing business as City Smiles brought an antitrust action
in the U.S. District Court forff the Northern District of Califorff nia on behalf of itself and a putative class of similarly situat ted
practices seeking treble monetary damages, interest, costs, attorneys’ fees, and injun nctive relief relating to our alleged market
activities in alleged clear aligner and intraoral scanner markets. Plaintiff fff ileff d an amended complaint and added VIP Dental
Spas as a plaintiff off n August 14, 2020. On December 18, 2023, the court certifieff d a class of persons or entities that purchased
Invisalign directly from Align between January 1, 2019 and March 31, 2022. We filed a petition with the Ninth Circuit seeking
to appeal the certification rulr ing. The court denied Plaintiffsff ’ motion to certify aff class of purchasers of scanners. On February
21, 2024, the court granted Align’s motion forff summary judgment on all claims brought by the plaintiffsff .
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On May 3, 2021, an individual named Misty Snow brought an antitrusr t action in the U.S. District Court forff the Northern
District of Califorff nia on behalf of herself and a putative class of similarly situated individuals seeking treble monetary damages,
interest, costs, attorneys’ fees, and injun nctive relief relating to our alleged market activities in alleged clear aligner and intraoral
scanner markets based on Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Plaintiffs have filed several amended complaints adding new plaintiffs,
various state law claims, and allegations based on Section 1 of the Sherman Act. On November 29, 2023, the court certifieff d a
class of indirect purchasers of Invisalign between July 1, 2018 and December 31, 2023 and a class of indirect purchasers of
Invisalign seeking injun nctive relief. We filed a petition with the Ninth Circuit seeking to appeal this ruling under RulRR e 23(f) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedurd e. On Februar ry 21, 2024, the court granted Align’s motion forff summary judgment on the
claims related to Section 2 allegations. A jury trial is scheduld ed to begin in this matter on January 21, 2025 for issues related to
Section 1 allegations. We believe the plaintiffsff ’ claims are without merit and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves.

We are currently unabla e to predict the outcome of these lawsuits and thereforff e we cannot determine the likelihood of loss,
if any, nor estimate a range of possible loss.

SDC Disputs e

On August 27, 2020, we initiated a confidff ential arbitration proceeding against SmileDirectClub LLC (“SDC”) beforff e the
American Arbir tration Association in San Jose, Califorff nia. This arbir tration relates to the Strategic Supplu y Agreement (“Supply
Agreement”) entered into between the parties in 2016. The complaint alleges that SDC breached the Supply Agreement’s terms,
causing damages to us in an amount to be determined. On January 19, 2021, SDC fileff d a counterclaim alleging that we
breached the Supply Agreement. On May 3, 2022, SDC filff ed an additional counterclaim alleging that we breached the Supply
Agreement. We denied SDC's allegations in the counterclaims.

On October 27, 2022, the arbitrator issued an interim award on our claims and SDC’s first counterclaim finff ding that SDC
breached the Supply Agreement, we did not breach the Supply Agreement, and SDC caused harm to us. Based on these
findings, the arbir trator awarded us an interim award of $63 million in damages.

On May 18, 2023, the arbitrator issued a finff al award on SDC s’ second counterclaim, finding that Align did not breach the
Supplu y Agreement. The finff al award subsumed the interim award on our claims and SDC s’ first counterclaim and concluded the
Supplu y Agreement arbitration proceedings.

On March 6, 2023, Align filff ed a petition to confirm the arbitrator s’ interim award in the Superior Court forff Santa Clara
County.

On May 30, 2023, Align filff ed a petition to confirff m the final award in the Superior Court of Santa Clara County. On
August 21, 2023, the Superior Court issued an order confirff ming the Interim and Final Awards. On September 8, 2023, the
Supeu rior Court entered judgment in Align’s favor for $$63 imilllliion iin ddamagge .s

On September 29, 2023, SDC and certain affiff liates filed bankruptr cy petitions under chapta er 11 of title 11 of the United
States Code in the United States Bankruptr cy Court forff the Southern District of Texas. On January 26, 2024, SDC’s bankruptr cy
cases were converted from cases under chapta er 11 of the Bankruptr cy Code to cases under chapta er 7 of the Bankruptr cy Code. In
conjunction therewith, Allison D. Byman was appa ointed as the chapta er 7 trustee in SDC’s bankruptr cy cases. The extent to
which Align will be able to collect any or all of its $63 million judgment through SDC’s bba knkruptr ycy proc deediinggs iis kunknown.

In addition to the above, in the ordinary course of our operations, we are involved in a variety of claims, suits,
investigations, and proceedings, including actions with respect to intellectuat l property claims, patent infriff ngement claims,
government investigations, labor and employment claims, breach of contract claims, tax, and other matters. Regardless of the
outcome, these proceedings can have an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources,
and other factors. Although the results of complex legal proceedings are diffiff cult to predict and our view of these matters may
change in the futff urt e as litigation and events related thereto unfolff d; we currently do not believe that these matters, individually
or in the aggregate, will materially affeff ct our financial position, results of operations or cash floff ws.

Note 8. Commitments and Contingencies

Tax Maa atMM tett rr

During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company received a notice and initial assessment, in the amount of
approximately $27 million, from His Majea sty’s Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) for unpaid value added tax (“VAT”) related
to certain clear aligner sales made during the period of June 2022 through May 2023. We are required to pay this initial
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assessment prior to contesting or litigating the assessment in administrative and judicial proceedings. The Company has
historically asserted and continues to assert that doctor prescribed clear aligners sold by dentists for the orthodontic treatment of
patient malocclusions are exempt froff m VAT, that the Company has reasonabla y relied uponu statements and guidance by HMRC
and that the Company’s interprrr etation of United Kingdom legislation is appra opriate. However, it is not possible at this stage to
accurately evaluate the likelihood of an unfavff orable outcome of any legal challenges brought by the Company against HMRC
disputing this initial assessment and any assessments for other past periods, if any. Accordingly, the Company has determined
that a potential loss related to unpaid VAT is not probable. As such, we have not recorded a contingent loss for the initial
assessment in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company
acknowledges that this matter poses risks of litigation and the ultimate resolution of this matter could result in an unfavff orable
ruling, which consequently could lead to a significant loss to the Company. As of December 31, 2023, if an unfavff orable ruling
is issued, we estimate a potential exposure up tu o appra oximately $100 million, excluding interest and penalties.

Indemnificff atiott n ProPP visiii ons

In the normal course of business to faciff litate transactions in our services and products, we indemnify cff ertain parties:
customers, vendors, lessors, and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, services to be
provided by us and intellectuat l property infriff ngement claims made by third parties. In addition, we have entered into
indemnificff ation agreements with our directors and our executive officers that will require us, among other things, to indemnifyff
them against certain liabia lities that may arise by reason of their statust or service as directors or officff ers. Several of these
agreements limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim.

It is not possible to make a reasonabla e estimate of the maximum potential amount under these indemnificff ation agreements
due to the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Additionally, we have a limited history orr f
prior indemnificff ation claims and the payments we have made under such agreements have not had a material adverse effecff t on
our results of operations, cash floff ws or financial position. However, to the extent that valid indemnificff ation claims arise in the
future, futff urt e payments by us could be significant and could have a material adverse effeff ct on our results of operations or cash
flows in a particular period. As of December 31, 2023, we did not have any material indemnificff ation claims that were probable
or reasonabla y possible.

Note 9. Stockholders’ Equity

Common StoSS ck

The holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends whenever funds are legally availabla e and when and if
declared by the Company’s Board of Directors. We have not historically declared or paid dividends on our common stock.

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n PlaPP ns

Our 2005 Incentive Plan, as amended, provides forff the granting of incentive stock options, non-statutt ory srr tock options,
restricted stock, stock appa reciation rights, performance units and performance shares to employees, non-employee directors and
consultants. Shares granted on or after May 16, 2013 as an award of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares
or performance units (“full value awards”) are counted against the authorized share reserve as one and nine-tenths (1 9/10) shares
for every one (1) share subju ect to the award, and any shares canceled that were counted as one and nine-tenths against the plan
reserve will be returt ned at the same ratio.

As of December 31, 2023, the 2005 Incentive Plan, as amended, has a total reserve of 32,168,895 shares for issuance of
which 4,796,559 shares are available for issuance. We issue new shares from our pool of authorized but unissued shares to
satisfy the exercise and vesting obligations of our stock-based compensation plans.

Summary of Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n ExpeEE nse

Stock-based compensation related to our stock-based awards and employee stock purchase plan forff the year ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cost of net revenues $ 7,462 $ 6,438 $ 5,633
Selling, general and administrative 115,992 103,134 90,659
Research and development 30,572 23,795 18,044
Total stock-based compensation $ 154,026 $ 133,367 $ 114,336

The income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation was $17.1 million, $14.9 million and $13.8 million forff the
year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k UniUU tsii (“RS“ Us”)

The faiff r value of RSUs is based on our closing stock price on the date of grant. RSUs granted generally vest over a period
of four years. A summary for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Number of Shares
Underlying RSUs
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Unvested as of December 31, 2022 489 $ 427.23
Granted 509 316.16
Vested and released (201) 376.41
Forfeited (61) 386.66

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 736 $ 367.63 1.4 $ 201,789

The aggregate intrinsic value in the tabla e abovea represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (calculated by multiplying our
closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal year 2023 by the number of unvested RSUs) that would have been received
by the unit holders had all RSUs been vested and released as of the last trading day of fiscal year 2023. This amount will
fluctuate based on the faiff r market value of our stock. During 2023, of the 201,358 shares vested and released, 61,267 shares
were withheld for employee statutory tax obligations, resulting in a net issuance of 140,091 shares.

The total fair value of RSUs vested as of their respective vesting dates during 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $63.0 million,
$93.7 million and $158.8 million, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value of RSUs granted during 2023, 2022
and 2021 was $316.16, $469.12 and $600.10, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we expect to recognize $174.3 million of
total unamortized compensation costs, net of estimated forff feitures, related to RSUs over a weighted average period of 2.6 years.

Market Based Restricted StoSS ck Units (tt “MSUMM s”UU )”

We grant MSUs to members of senior management. Each MSU represents the right to one share of our common stock.
The actuat l number of MSUs which will be eligible to vest will be based on the performance of our stock price relative to the
performance of a stock market index over the vesting period. MSUs vest over a period of three years and the maximum number
eligible to vest in the futff urt e is 250% of the MSUs initially granted.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes MSU activity forff the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of Shares
Underlying MSUs
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Unvested as of December 31, 2022 144 $ 725.73
Granted 82 629.53
Vested and released (25) 392.67
Forfeited (43) 423.87

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 158 $ 811.06 1.4 $ 43,197

The aggregate intrinsic value in the tabla e abovea represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (calculated by multiplying our
closing stock price on the last trading day of 2023 by the number of unvested MSUs) that would have been received by the unit
holders had all MSUs been vested and released as of the last trading day of 2023. This amount will fluctuate based on the faiff r
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market value of our stock. During 2023, of the 24,578 shares vested and released, 10,480 shares were withheld for employee
statutt ory trr ax obligations, resulting in a net issuance of 14,098 shares.

The total fair value of MSUs vested as of their respective vesting dates during 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $7.8 million,
$64.0 million and $135.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we expect to recognize $47.5 million of total
unamortized compensation costs, net of estimated forff feitures, related to MSUs over a weighted average period of 1.4 years.

The faiff r value of MSUs is estimated at the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation that includes factff ors forff market
conditions. The weighted average assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Expected term (in years) 3.0 3.0 3.0
Expected volatility 59.1 % 53.8 % 56.3 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.3 % 1.7 % 0.2 %
Expected dividends — — —
Weighted average faiff r value per share at grant date $ 629.53 $ 915.22 $ 1,102.09

Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k UniUU tsii withii Perforff marr nce ConCC ditioii ns (“PS“ Us”)

In the fourff th quarter of 2022, we granted PSUs to certain employees which are eligible to vest based on the achievement
of project-based milestones over a term of 2.2 years. Total PSUs granted were 4,728 and the weighted average grant date fair
value forff the PSUs was $201.63.

Emplm oyll ee Stoctt k Purchase PlaPP n (“(( ES“ PPSS ”PP )”

In May 2010, our stockholders approved the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2010 Purchase Plan”) which
consists of consecutive overlapping twenty-four month offering periods with four six-month purchase periods in each offeff ring
period. Employees purchase shares at 85% of the lower of the faiff r market value of the common stock at either the beginning of
the offerff ing period (grant date) or the end of the purchase period. The 2010 Purchase Plan will continue until terminated by
either the Board of Directors or its administrator. The 2010 Purchase Plan also allows for purchase rights to employees outside
the U.S. and Canada with six-month offering periods and purchase periods. In May 2021, the 2010 Purchase Plan was amended
and restated to increase the maximum number of shares availabla e forff purchase to 4,400,000 shares.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the ESPP shares issued:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Number of shares issued (in thousands) 114 86 131
Weighted average price $ 234.19 $ 305.24 $ 195.44

As of December 31, 2023, 1,995,453 shares remain availabla e forff future issuance.

The faiff r value of the option component of the 2010 Purchase Plan shares was estimated at the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Expected term (in years) 1.2 1.5 1.1
Expected volatility 56.4 % 50.2 % 52.7 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.9 % 1.8 % 0.1 %
Expected dividends — — —
Weighted average faiff r value at grant date $ 132.94 $ 159.44 $ 246.84

We recognized stock-based compensation related to our employee stock purchase plan of $20.5 million, $23.5 million and
$12.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we expect to
recognize $6.8 million of total unamortized compensation costs related to futff urt e employee stock purchases over a weighted
average period of 0.6 years.
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Note 10. Common Stock Repurchase Programs

In May 2021, our Board of Directors authorized a plan to repurchase up tu o $1.0 billion of our common stock (“May 2021
Repurchase Program”). As of December 31, 2023, the authorization under the May 2021 Repurchase program was completed.
In January 2023, our Board of Directors authorized a new plan to repurchase to $1.0 billion of our common stock (“January
2023 Repurchase Program”). As of December 31, 2023, we have $650.0 million availabla e forff repurchases under the January
2023 Repurchase Program.

Accelerated ShaSS re Repuee rchase Agreements (“(( AS“ RsSS ”)”

We entered into ASRs providing for the repurchase of our common stock based on the volume-weighted average price
during the term of the agreement, less an agreed upon discount. Under the terms of each ASR, the finff ancial institution may be
required to deliver additional shares of common stock at final settlement or, under certain circumstances, we may be required at
our election, to either deliver shares or make a cash payment to the finff ancial institution. The ASRs limit the number of shares
we would be required to deliver.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the information regarding repurchases of our common stock under ASRs forff the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Agreement
Date

Repurchase
Program

Amount Paid
(in millions)

Completion
Date

Total Shares
Received

Average Price per
Share

Q2 2022 May 2021 $ 200.0 Q2 2022 756,502 $ 264.37
Q4 2022 May 2021 $ 200.0 Q1 2023 984,714 $ 203.10
Q1 2023 May 2021 $ 250.0 Q1 2023 805,908 $ 310.21
Q4 2023 January 2023 $ 250.0 N/A1 1,049,538 $ 190.56

1 As of December 31, 2023, this ASR contract was open. Approximately 20% or $50 million of the Amount Paid was recorded as an
equity forward contract within “Additional paid-in capital” in our Statement of Stockholders Equity. The Average price per share in
the table is based on $200 million and 1.05 million shares initially delivered. On January 30, 2024 this ASR contract was settled and
an additional 36,796 shares were delivered and retired. The average purchase price per share for the completed contract was
$230.13 per share.

Open Market Common StoSS ck Repuee rchases

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased on the open market appra oximately 0.5 million shares of our
common stock at an average price of $214.81 per share, including commissions and feesff , forff an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $100.0 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased on the open market appra oximately 0.1 million shares of our
common stock at an average price of $522.61 per share, including commissions and feesff , forff an aggregate purchase price of
$75.0 million.

Note 11. Employee Benefitff Plans

We have defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for our U.S. employees
which covers subsu tantially all U.S. employees who meet minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to
defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. We match 50% of our employee’s salary drr eferff ral contributions
up to 6% of the employee’s eligible compensation. We contributed approximately $9.5 million, $10.0 million and $8.5 million
to the 401(k) plan during the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We also have definff ed contribution
retirement plans outside of the U.S. to which we contributed $55.1 million, $54.5 million and $42.3 million during the year
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 12. Income Taxes

Net income beforff e provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes consists of the folff lowing (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Domestic $ 315,643 $ 268,097 $ 378,478
Foreign 325,561 330,960 633,945
Net income beforff e provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes $ 641,204 $ 599,057 $ 1,012,423

The provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes consists of the folff lowing (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Federal
Current $ 134,332 $ 188,050 $ 157,383
Deferred (16,805) (55,579) (25,598)

117,527 132,471 131,785
State

Current 28,535 34,621 28,365
Deferred (3,157) (12,265) (5,860)

25,378 22,356 22,505
Foreign

Current 51,306 56,537 42,681
Deferred 1,940 26,120 43,432

53,246 82,657 86,113
Provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes $ 196,151 $ 237,484 $ 240,403

The diffeff rences between income taxes using the fedff eral statutt ory irr ncome tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021 and our effeff ctive tax rates are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 2.9 3.7 2.2
U.S. tax on forff eign earnings 3.7 5.6 2.5
Impact of differences in foreign tax rates 1.4 3.3 (2.0)
Stock-based compensation 3.0 2.1 (0.3)
Settlement on audits 0.1 1.9 —
Change in valuation allowance (1.3) 1.7 1.1
Other items not individually material (0.2) 0.3 (0.8)
Effeff ctive tax rate 30.6 % 39.6 % 23.7 %

We intend to reinvest our foreign subsidiary earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S. and do not expect to incur significant
additional costs upon repatriation of these foreign earnings.
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabia lities are (in
thousands):

cember 31,

2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and capia tal loss carryforwards $ 1,389 $ 15,380
Reserves and accruals 62,891 32,759
Stock-based compensation 25,054 19,469
Deferred revenue 142,082 117,039
Capia talized research & development 41,505 54,293
Amortizable tax basis in intangibles 1,325,236 1,350,434
Other 13,228 16,645

Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 1,611,385 1,606,019
Valuation allowance (14,991) (23,286)

Total deferff red tax assets 1,596,394 1,582,733

Deferred tax liabia lities:
Depreciation and amortization 7,814 11,407
Acquisition-related intangibles 25,097 26,008
Other 3,570 3,438

Total deferff red tax liabia lities 36,481 40,853
Net deferff red tax assets 1,559,913 1,541,880

The availabla e positive evidence at December 31, 2023 included historical operating profits and a projection of futff urt e
income sufficient to realize most of our remaining deferff red tax assets. As of December 31, 2023, it was considered more likely
than not that our deferred tax assets would be realized with the exception of certain interest expense carryovers, capital loss
carryovers and unrealized translation losses as we are unabla e to forff ecast suffiff cient futff urt e profits to realize these deferred tax
assets. The total valuation allowance as of December 31, 2023 was $15.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
the valuation allowance decreased by $8.3 million primarily due to the deferff red tax assets on certain interest expense, net
operating loss carryovers, and unrealized translation losses froff m our German subsu idiaries.

As of December 31, 2023, we have foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $3.7 million, attributed
mainly to losses in China, RusRR sia, and Germany. The losses in Germany can be carried forward indefinitely. The operating loss
carryforwards in China and Russia, if not utilized, will expire beginning 2028 and 2033, respectively.

The changes in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits, which exclude interest and penalties, for the year ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, are as folff lows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, $ 141,560 $ 63,295 $ 46,320
Increases related to tax positions taken durd ing the current year 8,616 84,249 27,710
Increases related to tax positions taken durd ing a prior year 5,647 15,411 5,471
Decreases related to tax positions taken durd ing a prior year (533) (2,647) (5,804)
Decreases related to expiration of statutt e of limitations (3,654) (4,582) (8,986)
Decreases related to settlement with tax authorities (2,464) (14,166) (1,416)
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, $ 149,172 $ 141,560 $ 63,295

The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefitff s as of December 31, 2023 was $149.2 million, of which $140.0
million would impact our effeff ctive tax rate if recognized.

We file U.S. federal, U.S. state, and non-U.S. income tax returt ns. Our majoa r tax jurisdictions include U.S. federal, the
State of Califorff nia and Switzerland. For U.S. fedff eral and state tax returt ns, we are no longer subject to tax examinations for
years beforff e 2017 and 2019, respectively. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to examination by other foreign tax
authorities forff years beforff e 2016.
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We have elected to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitsff as a component of income taxes.
Interest and penalties included in tax expense forff the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 as well as accruerr d as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 were not material. While we defend income tax audits in various jurisdictions and the results of
such audits may diffeff r materially from the amounts accruer d forff each year, we cannot currently ascertain the bases on which any
given audit will be ultimately resolved. Accordingly, we are unabla e to estimate the range of possible adjustments to our balance
of gross unrecognized tax benefits in the next 12 months.

Note 13. Net Income per Share

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock,
adjud sted for any dilutive effeff ct of potential common stock. Potential common stock, computed using the treasury srr tock method,
includes RSUs, MSUs, PSUs and our ESPP.

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the computation of basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stock (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Numerator:
Net income $ 445,053 $ 361,573 $ 772,020

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 76,426 78,190 78,917
Dilutive effectff of potential common stock 142 230 753

Total shares, diluted 76,568 78,420 79,670

Net income per share, basic $ 5.82 $ 4.62 $ 9.78
Net income per share, diluted $ 5.81 $ 4.61 $ 9.69

Anti-dilutive potential common shares 1 293 320 1

1 Represents stock-based awards not included in the calculation of diluted net income per share as the effect would have been anti-
dilutive.

Note 14. Supplemental Cash Flow Inforff mation

The supplemental cash floff w inforff mation consists of the folff lowing (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Taxes paid $ 294,569 $ 231,884 $ 203,309
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment in accounts
payabla e and accruer d liabia lities $ 32,280 $ 35,767 $ 64,135
Final settlement of prior year stock repurchase forff ward
contract $ 40,000 $ — $ —

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabia lities:

Operating cash floff ws from operating leases $ 33,714 $ 31,015 $ 29,769
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:

Operating leases $ 27,901 $ 34,144 $ 68,463

Note 15. Segments and Geographical Inforff mation

Segme ent InfII orff marr tion

We report segment information based on the management appra oach. The management approach designates the internal
reporting used by our Chief Operating Decision Maker for decision making and performance assessment as the basis forff
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determining our reportabla e segments. The performance measures of our reportabla e segments include net revenues, gross profit
and income froff m operations. Income froff m operations for each segment includes all geographic revenues, related cost of net
revenues and operating expenses directly attributable to the reportabla e segment. Certain operating expenses are not directly
attributable to a reportabla e segment and must be allocated. Each allocation is measured differently based on the nature of the
cost being allocated. Certain other operating expense are not specifically allocated to segment income froff m operations and
generally include various corporate expenses such as stock-based compensation and costs related to IT, faciff lities, human
resources, accounting and finance, legal and regulatory,rr other separately managed general and administrative costs outside the
reportabla e segments and restructurt ing costs. We group our operations into two reportabla e segments: Clear Aligner segment and
Imaging Systems and CAD/CAM services (“Systems and Services”) segment.

Summarized financial inforff mation by segment is as folff lows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net revenues
Clear Aligner $ 3,199,329 $ 3,072,585 $ 3,247,080
Systems and Services 662,931 662,050 705,504
Total net revenues $ 3,862,260 $ 3,734,635 $ 3,952,584

Gross profitff
Clear Aligner $ 2,288,038 $ 2,228,170 $ 2,474,373
Systems and Services 418,825 405,605 460,982
Total gross profitff $ 2,706,863 $ 2,633,775 $ 2,935,355

Income from operations
Clear Aligner $ 1,182,257 $ 1,134,420 $ 1,325,866
Systems and Services 191,355 179,765 259,127
Unallocated corporate expenses (730,274) (671,590) (608,593)
Total income froff m operations $ 643,338 $ 642,595 $ 976,400

Stock-based compensation
Clear Aligner $ 13,963 $ 14,816 $ 10,648
Systems and Services 1,293 994 705
Unallocated corporate expenses 138,770 117,557 102,983
Total stock-based compensation $ 154,026 $ 133,367 $ 114,336

Depreciation and amortization
Clear Aligner $ 64,781 $ 57,888 $ 50,723
Systems and Services 31,518 28,300 21,581
Unallocated corporate expenses 46,102 39,605 36,425
Total depreciation and amortization $ 142,401 $ 125,793 $ 108,729

The folff lowing tabla e reconciles total segment income from operations in the table above to net income beforff e provision for
(benefitff from) income taxes (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Total segment income from operations $ 1,373,612 $ 1,314,185 $ 1,584,993
Unallocated corporate expenses (730,274) (671,590) (608,593)
Total income froff m operations 643,338 642,595 976,400

Interest income 17,258 5,367 3,103
Other income (expense), net (19,392) (48,905) 32,920
Net income beforff e provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes $ 641,204 $ 599,057 $ 1,012,423

Our Chief Operating Decision Maker does not regularly review total assets at the reportabla e segment level; however, we
have provided geographical information related to our long-lived assets below.

Geographical Infon rmatiott n
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Net revenues are presented below by geographic area (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Net revenues 1:
U.S. $ 1,665,925 $ 1,660,045 $ 1,724,296
Switzerland 1,168,320 1,216,094 1,353,229
Other International 1,028,015 858,496 875,059

Total net revenues $ 3,862,260 $ 3,734,635 $ 3,952,584
1 Net revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of where revenues are recognized by our legal entities.

Long-lived assets, which includes Property, plant and equipment, net, and Operating lease right-of-use assets, net, are
presented below by geographic area (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022

Long-lived assets 1:
Switzerland $ 575,432 $ 532,921
U.S. 210,275 214,804
Other International 623,155 603,010

Total long-lived assets $ 1,408,862 $ 1,350,735
1 Long-lived assets are attributed to countries based on the location of our entity that owns or leases the assets.

Note 16. Restructuring and Other Charges

Restrut cturing Activities

During the fourff th quarter of 2023, we initiated a restructurt ing plan to increase efficiencies across the organization which
is expected to be completed in the first half of 2024. We incurred appra oximately $14.0 million in restrucr turing expenses, of
which $0.7 million was recorded in Cost of net revenues and $13.3 million was recorded in Restrucrr turing and other charges.

Activity related to the restructurt ing liabia lities associated with our restructurt ing initiatives consist of the following (in
thousands):

Severance and related
costs Impairment Charges Total

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ — $ — $ —
Restructurt ing charges 8,723 1,453 $ 10,176
Cash payments (4,807) — $ (4,807)
Non-cash charges — (1,453) $ (1,453)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 1 3,916 — 3,916
Restructurt ing charges 13,989 — 13,989
Cash payments (12,606) — (12,606)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 1 $ 5,299 $ — $ 5,299
1 Included in “Accruerr d liabia lities” within our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note 17. Subsequent Events

Cubicure GmbH Acquisiii tion

The Company had a pre-existing ownership interest of appra oximately nine percent in privately-held Cubicure GmbH
(“Cubiu cure”), a pioneer in direct 3D printing solutions for polymer additive manufactff urt ing that develops, produces, and
distributes innovative materials, equipment, and processes for novel 3D printing solutions. On January 2, 2024, we acquired the
remaining ninety-one percent of Cubicure’s outstanding equity interest for appra oximately $87 million subju ect to final closing
adjud stments and adjud stments forff Align’s existing ownership of capital stock of Cubiu cure. The purchase price was fundeff d with
cash on hand. The acquisition of Cubiu cure will supporu t and scale our strategic innovation roadmap and strengthen the Align
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Digital Platforff m. Cubiu cure will also extend and scale Align’s printing, materials, and manufactff urt ing capabilities forff our 3D
printed product portfolff io.

We are currently evaluating the purchase price allocation. It is not practicable to disclose the preliminary prr urchase price
allocation, given the short period of time between the acquisition date and the issuance of these consolidated financial
statements.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of do isdd closll ure controls all nd procedures.

Under the supeu rvision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effeff ctiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in RulRR es 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officff er
and our Chief Financial Offiff cer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedurd es are effective as of December 31,
2023 to provide reasonabla e assurance that inforff mation required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submu it under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer, as appra opriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and that such inforff mation is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
forms.

Managea ment's annual report on intii ertt nal control over finaii ncial reporting.

See “Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in iii ntii ertt nal control over finaii ncial reporting.

There have been no changes in our internal control over finff ancial reporting durd ing the quarter ended December 31, 2023
that have materially affeff cted, or are reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

During the fisff cal quarter ended December 31, 2023, no director or offiff cer, as definff ed in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange
Act, adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” each as defined
in Regulation S-K Item 408.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None.

PART III

Certain inforff mation required by Part III is omitted froff m this Form 10-K because we intend to file a definff itive Proxy
Statement forff our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) not later than 120 days afteff r the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and certain information to be included therein is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The inforff mation required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K concerning our directors is incorporrr ated by reference to the
Proxy Statement under the section captioned “Directors.” The information required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K concerning
our executive officers is set forth in Item 1— “Business” of this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. The information required by
Item 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” contained in
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the Proxy Statement. The inforff mation required by Item 407(c)(3), 407(d)(4) and 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K is incorporated by
reference to the Proxy Statement under the section entitled “Corporr ate Governance”.

Code of Ethitt cs

We have a code of ethics (which we call our Global Code of Conduct) that applies to all of our employees, including our
principal executive officer, principal finff ancial offiff cer and controller. Our Global Code of Conduct is posted on the investor
relations portion of our website at http://i// nvestor.aligntgg ech.comp g within the section captioned “Corporate Governance”.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from,
a provision of this code of ethics by posting such inforff mation on our website, at the address and location specified above, or as
otherwise required by the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The inforff mation required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the
section captioned “Executive Compensation - Compensation Discussion and Analysis.” The information required by
Items 407(e)(4) and (e)(5) is incorporrr ated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the section captioned “Corporate
Governance - Committee Responsibilities and Oversight - Compensation and Human Capital Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation” and “Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Board Report,” respectively.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The inforff mation required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the
sections captioned “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management”.

Equityii Compensation Planll Infon rmatiott n

The folff lowing tabla e provides inforff mation as of December 31, 2023 about our common stock that may be issued upon the
awards granted to employees, consultants or members of our Board of Directors under all existing equity compensation plans,
including the 2005 Incentive Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), each as amended, and certain individual
arrangements (Refer to Note 9 "St" ockholdel rs’ Equity” of to hett Notes to ConsCC olidatdd ed Financial StaS tementstt for a description of
our equity compensation plans).

an Category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options and
restricted stock units (a)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding
options (b)

Number of securities remaining
available forff future issuance under
equity compensation plans (excluding
securities refleff cted in column (a))

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 898,838 1 $ — 7,241,323 2, 3

Equity compensation plans not
apa proved by security holders — — —
Total 898,838 $ — 7,241,323

1 Includes 741,185 RSUs and 157,653 MSUs at 100% of target
2 Includes 1,995,453 shares availabla e forff issuance under our ESPP. We are unabla e to ascertain with specificity the number of

securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding rights or the weighted average exercise price of outstanding rights under the
ESPP.

3 Includes additional 449,311 of potentially issuable MSUs above target if performance targets are achieved at maximum payout of
250% (in addition to the reserve forff one and nine-tenths (1 9/10) shares forff every or ne (1) issuable share against the authorized share
reserve)

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The inforff mation required by Item 404 and Item 407 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the Proxy
Statement under the sections capta ioned “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Corporr ate Governance—
Board Strucr ture and Independence,” respectively.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
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The inforff mation required by Item 9(e) of Scheduld e 14A of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, is incorporated by
reference to the Proxy Statement under the section captioned “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Publu ic
Accountants.”
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Financial Statements

1. Consolidated financial statements

The folff lowing documents are fileff d as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Report of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm 55
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 57
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income forff the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 58
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 59
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 60
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows forff the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 61
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 62

2. The folff lowing financial statement schedule is filff ed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts and Reserves for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

All other schedules have been omitted as they are not required, not applicable, or the required inforff mation is otherwise
included.

SCHEDULE II: VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Additions
(Reductions)
to Costs and
Expenses

Write
Offsff

Balance at
End of Period

(in thousands)

Allowance forff doubtful accounts:
Year Ended December 31, 2021 $ 10,239 $ 2,814 $ (3,808) $ 9,245
Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 9,245 $ 4,102 $ (3,004) $ 10,343
Year Ended December 31, 2023 $ 10,343 $ 8,002 $ (3,452) $ 14,893

Valuation allowance forff deferred tax assets:
Year Ended December 31, 2021 $ 1,325 $ 11,613 $ — $ 12,938
Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 12,938 $ 10,348 $ — $ 23,286
Year Ended December 31, 2023 $ 23,286 $ (8,295) $ — $ 14,991
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(b) The following Exhibits are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of registrant S-1, as amended
(File

No. 333-49932)

12/28/2000 3.1

3.1A Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation

8-K 5/20/2016 3.01

3.1B Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation

10-Q 8/4/2023 3.1B

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of registrant 8-K 1/17/2024 3.1
4.1 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-1, as amended

(File
No. 333-49932)

1/17/2001 4.1

4.2 Description of the Capital Stock of registrant 10-K 2/28/2020 4.2
10.1A† Registrant’s 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended

and restated as of May 19, 2021)
8-K 5/20/2021 10.1

10.2† Registrant's 2005 Incentive Plan (as amended and restated May
2023)

8-K 5/18/2023 10.1

10.3† Form of RSU agreement under Registrant's 2005 Incentive Plan
(Officer Form for officers appointed after September 2016)

10-K 2/28/2020 10.3

10.3A† Form of RSU agreement under Registrant's 2005 Incentive Plan
(Officer Form for officers appointed prior to September 2016)

10-K 2/28/2020 10.3A

10.4† Form of RSU agreement (CEO) 10-K 2/28/2020 10.4
10.5† Form of RSU agreement under Registrant's 2005 Incentive Plan

(Non-employee Director Form)
10-K 2/28/2020 10.5

10.6† Align 2019 Global RSU Agreement 10-K 2/28/2019 10.6
10.7† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's

2005 Incentive Plan (CEO Form)
10-Q 5/5/2023 10.1

10.8† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's
2005 Incentive Plan (Executive Officer Form for officers
appointed after September 2016)

Q 5/5/2023 10.2

10.9† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's
2005 Incentive Plan (Executive Officer Form for officers
appointed prior to September 2016)

10-Q 5/5/2023 10.3

10.10† Form of option award agreement under registrant’s 2005
Incentive Plan

10-Q 8/4/2005 10.4

10.11† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005
Incentive Plan (Officer Form for MSU awards granted in 2019,
2020 and 2022 to officers appointed after September 2016)

10-K 2/28/2020 10.8

10.11A† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005
Incentive Plan (Officer Form for MSU awards granted in 2019,
2020 and 2022 to officers appointed prior to September 2016)

10-K 2/28/2020 10.8A

10.12† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005
Incentive Plan (Officer Form for MSU awards granted in 2021 to
officers appointed after September 2016)

10-K 2/26/2021 10.9

10.12A† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005
Incentive Plan (Officer Form for MSU awards granted in 2021 to
officers appointed prior to September 2016)

10-K 2/26/2021 10.9A

10.13† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement for CEO (Focal grants) 10-K 2/28/2020 10.9
10.14† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005

Incentive Plan (CEO Form)
10-Q 5/5/2023 10.4

10.15† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005
Incentive Plan (Executive Officer Form for officers appointed
after September 2016)

10-Q 5/5/2023 10.5

10.16† Form of Market Stock Unit Agreement under Registrant's 2005
Incentive Plan (Executive Officer Form for officers appointed
prior to September 2016)

10-Q 5/5/2023 10.6

Exhibit
Number Description Form Date

Exhibit
Number

Incorporated
by Reference
herein

Filed
herewith
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10.17† Form of Employment Agreement entered into by and between
registrant and each executive officer (other than CEO for
executives appointed prior to September 2016)

10-Q 5/8/2008 10.3

10.18† Form of Employment Agreement entered into by and between
registrant and each executive officer (other than CEO for
executives appointed after September 2016)

10-K 2/28/2017 10.8

10.19† Amended and Restated Chief Executive Officer Employment
Agreement between Align Technology, Inc. and Joseph Hogan

10-Q 5/1/2015 10.30

10.20† Employment Agreement between registrant and John F. Morici
(Chief Financial Officer)

10-Q 11/8/2016 10.2

10.21† Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between registrant
and its Board of Directors and its executive officers

S-1 as amended
(File

No. 333-49932)

1/17/2001 10.15

10.22 Sale and Purchase Agreement between CETP III Ivory S.a.r.l.,
and Align Technology, Inc. and its indirect wholly owned
German subsidiary, mertus 602.GmbH, dated March 3, 2020

10-Q 5/5/2020 10.1

10.23 Credit Agreement between Align Technology, Inc. and the
lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as
administrative agent, dated July 21, 2020

10-Q 10/30/2020 10.1

10.24 First Amendment, dated April 21, 2022, to Credit Agreement
between Align Technology, Inc. and the lenders party thereto
from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent,
dated July 21, 2020

10-K 2/27/2023 10.18

10.25 Second Amendment, dated December 23, 2022, to Credit
Agreement between Align Technology, Inc. and the lenders party
thereto from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative
agent, dated July 21, 2020

10-K 2/27/2023 10.19

10.26 Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Transaction between
Citibank, N.A and Align Technology, Inc. dated October 26,
2023

*

10.27 Subscription Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2023 between
Align Technology, Inc. and Heartland Dental Holding
Corporation

10-Q 8/4/23 10.1

10.28 Stockholders' Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2023 by and
among Heartland Dental Holding Corporation, Heartland Dental
Topco, LLC, KKR Core Holding Company LLC, KKR Partners
IV L.P., any Sponsor Group Permitted Transferee as defined in
the Agreement and Align Technology, Inc.

10-Q 8/4/23 10.2

10.29 Side Letter, dated as of April 24, 2023 by and among Heartland
Dental Holding Corporation, Heartland Dental Topco, LLC,
KKR Core Holding Company LLC, KKR Partners IV L.P., any
Sponsor Group Permitted Transferee as defined in the
Stockholders' Agreement and Align Technology, Inc.

10-Q 8/4/23 10.3

10.30 Share Purchase Agreement, dated September 1, 2023, between
Align Holdings GMBH, Align Technology Switzerland GMBH
and the Sellers provided therein

Q 11/3/23 10.1

21.1 Subsidiaries of Align Technology, Inc. *
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm
*

31.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003

*

31.2 Certifications of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003

*

32t Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003

*

97.1 Clawback Policy *

Exhibit
Number Description Form Date

Exhibit
Number

Incorporated
by Reference
herein

Filed
herewith
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101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does
not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

*

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document *
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

Document
*

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

*

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase Document *
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Document
*

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)

*

Exhibit
Number Description Form Date

Exhibit
Number

Incorporated
by Reference
herein

Filed
herewith

__________________________________

** Portions of the exhibit, marked by brackets and asterisks [***], have been omitted because the omitted inforff mation is not material
and (i) would likely cause competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed or (ii) is information that the registrant treats as
private or confidff ential.

† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement filed as an Exhibit to this forff m pursuant to Items 14(a) and 14(c) of
Form 10-K.

t Furnished herewith

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

Not appla icable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duld y authorized.

ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /S/ JOSEPH M. HOGAN
Joseph M. Hogan

Presidendd t and Chief Ee xeEE cutive OffiO cer

Date: February 28, 2024

Each person whose signature appears below constitutt es and appoia nts Joseph M. Hogan or John F. Morici, his or her
attorney-in-fact, with the power of subsu titution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report
on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifyiff ng and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or
subsu titutes, may do or cause to be done by virtuet hereof.ff

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the folff lowing
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatureg Title Date

/S/ JOSEPH M. HOGAN President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Februarr ry 28, 2024

Joseph M. Hogan

/S/ JOHN F. MORICI Chief Financial Offiff cer and Executive Vice
President, Global Finance (Principal Financial
Offiff cer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Februarr ry 28, 2024

John F. Morici

/S/ KEVIN T. CONROY Director Februarr ry 28, 2024
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